
























SFN 54260 (09-2004) 

PLEASE READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT FORM. 
PLEASE SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL. 

Field 
Dickinson 
Operator 
ConocoPhilli 
Address 

P.O. Box 51810 

YEAR 2012 PRODUCTION /INJECTION 
Oil Produced (Bbls) Gas Produced (MCF) Water Produced (Bbls) 

67,985 38,801 451,965 

YEAR 2012 WELL COUNT 
Producing Wells Injection Wells Shut-In Wells 

2 2 0 

City 

Midland 

GOR (SCF/Bbl) 

617 

Injection Volume 

0 Bbls 
790,825 MCF 

I 
For Year 

. 2012 

Cumulative Oil Production 

7,094,871 Bbls 
Telephone Number 
432-688-6943 
State 
Tx 

Zip Code 

79710 

Make-Up Water 
Produced (Bbls) 

338,860 

Temporarily Abandoned Wells SWD Wells Water Supply Wells 

0 0 1 

YEAR 2012 RESERVOIR PRESSURE DATA (Report 3 most representative bottom hole pressures from more than one well, if possible. ) 
Datum (Feet Below S.L.) Date Of Test Well Name and Number Well File Number Extrapolated Reservoir Pressure (PSI G) 

7,271 7/15/1996 DLU 83 13598 3648 
6/16/2003 DLU 79 13447 3992 
11/11/1999 DLU 75 13519 3890 

YEAR 2012 OPERATIONS 
Producers Drilled Injectors Drilled Injectors Converted 

0 0 0 

YEAR 2013 PROPOSED OPERATIONS 
Producing Wells 

To Be Drilled 

0 

Injection Wells 
To Be Drilled 

0 

Injection Wells 
To Be Converted 

0 

Wells Shut-in WellsTA 

0 

Wells To Be 
Plugged 

0 

0 

Wells To Be 
TA 

0 

SWDWells Water Supply Wells 
Drilled Converted Drilled Converted 

0 0 0 0 

SWD Wells To Be Water Suppl Wells To Be 

Drilled Converted Drilled Converted 

0 0 0 0 

YEAR 2012 MAJOR WORKOVERS OR ARTIFICIAL LIFT CHANGES PERFORMED (Attach additional pages if necessary.) 
Well Name and Number Well File Number Brief Description 

YEAR 2013 MAJOR WORKOVERS OR ARTIFICIAL LIFT CHANGES PROPOSED (Attach additional pages if necessary.) 
Well Name and Number Well File Number Brief Description 

Comments 

Some make up water is supplied by produced water from Encore HR 1-4 

Printed Name Date 

Donna Williams Advisor March 19, 2013 



INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF NORTH DAKOTA 
OIL AND GAS DIVISION 
600 EAST BOULEVARD DEPT 405 
BISMARCK, ND 58505-0840 
SFN 54260 (09-2004) 

PLEASE READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT FORM. 

PLEASE SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL. 

Field 

Dickinson 
Operator 

ConocoPhilli 
Address 

P.O. Box 51810 

YEAR 2011 PRODUCTION /INJECTION 

City 

Midland 

Injection Volume 

I 
For Year 

. 2011 

Cumulative Oil Production 

7,032,094 Bbls 
Telephone Number 

432-688-6943 
State 

Tx 
Zip Code 

79710 

Make-Up Water 
I Oil Produced (Bbls) J Gas Produced (MCF) I Water Produced (Bbls) I GOR (SCF/Bbl) 495,080 Bbls Produced (Bbls) 

I 57,539 I 36,242 I 328,231 I 630 0 MCF 166,849 

YEAR 2011 WELL COUNT 
Producing Wells Injection Wells Shut-In Wells Temporarily Abandoned Wells SWD Wells Water Supply Wells 

2 2 0 0 0 1 

YEAR 2011 RESERVOIR PRESSURE DATA (Report 3 most representative bottom hole pressures from more than one well if possible ) 
' I Datum (Feet Below S.L.) Date Of Test Well Name and Number Well File Number Extrapolated Reservoir Pressure (PSIG) 

I 7,271 7/15/1996 DLU 83 13598 3648 
6/16/2003 DLU 79 13447 3992 
11/11/1999 DLU75 13519 3890 

YEAR 2011 OPERATIONS SWDWells Water Supply Wells 

I Producers Drilled I Injectors Drilled I Injectors Converted I Wells Shut-in I WellsTA Drilled I Converted Drilled I Converted 

I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 0 I 0 0 I 0 

YEAR 2012 PROPOSED OPERA liONS 
Producing Wells Injection Wells Injection Wells Wells To Be Wells To Be SWD Wells To Be Water Supply Wells To Be 

To Be Drilled To Be Drilled To Be Converted Plugged TA Drilled I Converted Drilled I Converted 

0 0 0 0 0 0 I 0 0 I 0 

YEAR 2011 MAJOR WORKOVERS OR ARTIFICIAL LIFT CHANGES PERFORMED (Attach additional pages if necessary) 

Well Name and Number Well File Number Brief Description 

YEAR 2012 MAJOR WORKOVERS OR ARTIFICIAL LIFT CHANGES PROPOSED (Attach additional pages if necessary) 

Well Name and Number Well File Number Brief Description 

Comments 

Some m~ater is supplied by produced water from Encore HR 1-4 

Sign ture 

~ 
Printed Name Title Date 

lr--~ -· Donna Williams Sr. Regulatory Advisor February 22, 2012 

~-
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PLEASE READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE FILLING OUT FORM. 

PLEASE SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL 

Field 

Dickinson 
Operator 

ConocoPhilli 
Address 

P;O. Box 51810 

YEAR 2010 PRODUCTION /INJECTION 
Oil Produced (Bbls) I Gas Produced (MCF) I Water Produced (Bbls) 

72,418 I 45,061 I 460,571 

YEAR 2010 WELL COUNT 

City 

Midland 

I GOR (SCF/Bbl) 

I 621 

Injection Volume 

655,155 Bbls 
0 MCF 

I 
For Year 

' 2010 

Cumulative Oil Production 

6,990,540 Bbls 
Telephone Number 

432-688-6943 
State 

Tx 
Zip Code 

79710 

Make-Up Water 

Produced (Bbls) 

194,584 

Producing Wells Injection Wells Shut-In Wells Temporarily Abandoned Wells SWD Wells Water Supply Wells 

2 2 0 0 0 1 

YEAR 2010 RESERVOIR PRESSURE DATA (Report 3 most representative bottom hole pressures from more than one well if possible ) 

I Datum (Feet Below S.L) Date Of Test Well Name and Number Well File Number Extrapolated Reservoir Pressure (PSIG) 

I 

I 
I 

7,271 7/15/1996 DLU 83 13598 3648 
6/16/2003 DLU 79 13447 3992 
11/11/1999 DLU75 13519 3890 

YEAR 2010 OPERATIONS SWDWells Water Supply Wells 

Producers Drilled I Injectors Drilled I Injectors Converted I Wells Shut-in I WellsTA Drilled I Converted Drilled I Converted 

0 I 0 I 0 

YEAR 2011 PROPOSED OPERATIONS 
Producing Wells 

To Be Drilled 

0 

Injection Wells 

To Be Drilled 

0 

Injection Wells 

To Be Converted 

0 

I 0 

Wells To Be 

Plugged 

0 

I 0 

Wells To Be 

TA 

0 

0 I 

SWD Wells To Be 

Drilled Converted 

0 0 

0 0 I 0 

Water Supply Wells To Be 

Drilled Converted 

0 0 

YEAR 2010 MAJOR WORKOVERS OR ARTIFICIAL LIFT CHANGES PERFORMED (Attach additional pages if necessary) 

Well Name and Number Well File Number Brief Description 

YEAR 2011 MAJOR WORK OVERS OR ARTIFICIAL LIFT CHANGES PROPOSED (Attach additional pages if necessary.) 

Well Name and Number Well File Number Brief Description 

Comments 

Some make-up water is supplied by produced water from Encore HR 1-4 

(\ 

Sig ratu~ Printed Name Title Date 

\ _.lA A ~ Donna Williams Sr. Regulatory Advisor May 16,2011 

"---























                       BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

                         OF THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

                                                    CASE NO.   5933
                                                    ORDER NO.  6893

IN THE MATTER OF A HEARING CALLED ON A
MOTION OF THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER THE
PETITION OF CONOCO INC. FOR AN ORDER
PROVIDING FOR THE UNITIZED MANAGEMENT,
OPERATION, AND FURTHER DEVELOPMENT OF
THE DICKINSON-LODGEPOLE UNIT AREA,
CONSISTING OF LANDS WITHIN THE DICKINSON
FIELD IN STARK COUNTY, NORTH DAKOTA; FOR
APPROVAL OF THE UNIT AGREEMENT AND UNIT
OPERATING AGREEMENT CONSTITUTING THE
PLAN OF UNITIZATION FOR THE DICKINSON-
LODGEPOLE UNIT AREA; FOR APPROVAL OF THE
PLAN OF OPERATION; VACATING THE
APPLICABLE SPACING ORDERS; AND FOR SUCH
FURTHER AND ADDITIONAL RELIEF AS THE
COMMISSION DEEMS APPROPRIATE.

                            ORDER OF THE COMMISSION

       On June 16, 1994, the Industrial Commission issued Order No. 6861 in
this case.  Two interested parties have asked the Commission to reconsider
its decision.  Placid Oil Company and the Andrea Singer Pollack Revokable
Trust (hereafter "the Trust") have filed petitions for reconsideration.  On
July 18, 1994, Conoco Inc. filed a response to the petitions.  On July 21st
the Trust filed a reply to Conoco.  Accompanying the Trust's reply are a
number of journal articles discussing the use of 3D seismic data.  

       In their submissions, Placid and the Trust set forth the reasons why
they believe the Commission erred in granting Conoco's request to unitize
the Dickinson-Lodgepole Unit Area.  The Commission has studied each of
Placid's and the Trust's arguments and reviewed the record of the case. 
The Commission believes that its decision in Order No. 6861 is the fairest
interpretation of the evidence.  It declines, therefore, to withdraw or stay
Order No. 6861, or to reopen the record to take additional evidence.  The
petitions are denied.  Our reasoning follows.

       The Trust argues that Findings 14 and 16 in Order No. 6861 are wrong
because the Trust used not only seismic interpretation to delineate the
productive boundaries of the reservoir but also well data, and that Finding
17 is wrong because seismic interpretation can identify a reservoir's
productive boundaries.  Findings 14 and 16 refer to the specific location
of the productive reservoir, and the Commission reaffirms that the Trust
interpreted, and testified that it interpreted, only seismic data to
specifically identify the location of the boundaries of the productive
reservoir.  The Commission was persuaded by Conoco's witness that seismic
data is an unreliable method to locate the Dickinson-Lodgepole reservoir
boundary primarily because there is little velocity contrast between the
productive and nonproductive Lodgepole.  Furthermore, seismic data
requires interpretation before it can be applied and Placid and the Trust
merely submitted maps based on their seismic interpretations and did not
submit the raw seismic data.  The interpretative nature and unreliability of
seismic data to delineate the boundaries of the productive reservoir is



shown by the dissimilarity in the maps Placid and the Trust prepared using
the same seismic data.  

       Placid, like the Trust, argues that Findings 16 and 17 are erroneous. 
It believes Finding 16 is wrong, asserting that Placid did introduce seismic
information to identify the productive reservoir.  Perhaps Finding 16 should
have been written more clearly, for Placid (and the Trust) seems to
misunderstand it.  Finding 16 states that the Commission did not receive
evidence sufficient to prove that seismic data can successfully identify the
productive reservoir.  The evidence accepted by the Commission was just
the opposite, as expressed in Finding 17.  Placid believes that Finding 17
is inconsistent with the basis upon which Conoco proposed the unit. 
Placid's argument misinterprets the word "mound" to be synonymous with
"reservoir."  The Commission, however, uses the word "mound" to include
not only the reservoir quality rock, but also any associated deposition
found around the perimeter of the reservoir quality rock.  

       Placid challenges Finding 24 and its conclusion that the allocation of
the unit is fair.  Placid did not propose what it believes would be a fair
allocation.  More importantly, the allocation is based on Conoco's
interpretation of the geology and it is that interpretation that the
Commission has found to be more reliable than Placid and the Trust's.  

       The Trust argues in Paragraph 7 of its petition as well as in its reply
to Conoco, that the Commission erred in relying on characteristics of the
Fryburg Interval to locate the boundaries of the Lodgepole Pool reservoir. 
In particular, the Trust states that the Fryburg map is based on only two
additional wells and that it has nothing to locate its western edge.  The
map has three additional wells and the Frenzel 79 and Walton 84 wells
provide data points to help identify the western edge.  The Trust states
that use of the Fryburg map is inappropriate because the Fryburg thickens
to the northeast.  No evidence was presented to show this.  The Trust
claims Conoco's Fryburg map is unreliable because had it been prepared in
another way it would have a different result.  The Trust could have
prepared a Fryburg map using the method it believes appropriate.  It
didn't, and to state as a fact what that method would have produced is
speculative.

       The Trust argues that Findings 19 and 20 "are totally without basis." 
Placid also challenges Findings 19 and 20, as well as Finding 18.  Conoco
adequately explained the relationship between the Fryburg Interval and the
Lodgepole Pool and how data from the Filipi No. 76 can aid in locating the
eastern boundary of the productive reservoir.  We will not repeat Conoco's
arguments, which we found persuasive.

       The Trust argues that Finding 22 "is essentially irrelevant" and Placid
says Finding 22 is unsupported.  While a volumetric calculation is not
definitive in locating a reservoir, it can confirm geologic interpretations
and the volumetric calculation here confirms Conoco's interpretation.  Its
use in this way was supported by testimony from Conoco.

       The Trust asks that Conoco's 3D seismic data be produced and made
part of the record.  This is a red herring.  Since seismic data cannot
identify the productive reservoir there is no purpose in requiring Conoco to
produce it for consideration in this case.  The Trust, in its reply brief,
states that the Wyoming Conservation Commission used only seismic data to
delineate the edge of a reservoir in the Little Missouri Field.  The Trust
does not support this assertion with a copy of the Wyoming order or the
case record, nor does it explain whether the characteristics of Wyoming's
Little Missouri Field are similar with those of the Dickinson-Lodgepole
Field or even the Williston Basin.  The Trust also refers to a use of



seismic in Saskatchewan but again fails to supply documentation to support
its assertion.

       The Trust submitted with its reply brief copies of a number of journal
articles concerning the use of 3D seismic.  There is no evidence that the
areas discussed in the articles bear any similarity to the characteristics
of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool.  Without such evidence the articles are
unhelpful, if not irrelevant.  Furthermore, there is no reason why these
articles could not have been submitted into evidence at the hearing.  The
Commission declines to reopen the case to make these part of the record.  

       Placid argues that the Commission erred by failing to set forth
equitable terms for development outside the unit.  Existing spacing outside
the unit remains in effect and any adjustments to that spacing were not
properly before the Commission in this case.  

       Dated this 3rd day of August, 1994.

                                INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION
                                STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

                                /s/  Edward T. Schafer, Governor

                                /s/  Heidi Heitkamp, Attorney General

                                /s/  Sarah Vogel, Commissioner of Agriculture

























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

CASE NOS. 5933 AND 5935

_________________________________________________________
ON A MOTION OF THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER )
THE PETITION OF CONOCO INC. FOR AN ORDER )
PROVIDING FOR THE UNITIZED MANAGEMENT, )
OPERATION, AND FURTHER DEVELOPMENT OF THE )
DICKINSON-LODGEPOLE UNIT AREA, CONSISTING OF ) TRANSCRIPT
LANDS WITHIN THE DICKINSON FIELD IN STARK )
COUNTY, NORTH DAKOTA; FOR APPROVAL OF THE )
UNIT AGREEMENT AND UNIT OPERATING AGREEMENT ) CASE NO. 5933
CONSTITUTING THE PLAN OF UNITIZATION FOR THE )
DICKINSON-LODGEPOLE UNIT AREA; FOR APPROVAL )
OF THE PLAN OF OPERATION; VACATING THE )
APPLICABLE SPACING ORDERS; AND FOR )
SUCH FURTHER AND ADDITIONAL RELIEF AS THE )
COMMISSION DEEMS APPROPRIATE. )
_________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________
ON A MOTION OF THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER )
THE APPLICATION OF CONOCO INC. FOR AN ORDER )
DETERMINING THAT THE PLAN OF UNITIZATION )
FOR THE DICKINSON-LODGEPOLE UNIT AREA, )
STARK COUNTY, NORTH DAKOTA, HAS BEEN SIGNED, ) CASE NO. 5935
RATIFIED OR APPROVED BY OWNERS OF INTEREST )
OWNING THAT PERCENTAGE OF THE WORKING )
INTEREST AND ROYALTY INTEREST WITHIN SAID )
UNIT AS IS REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE STATUTES )
AND RULES OF THE COMMISSION. )
_________________________________________________________

Brynhild Haugland Room
State Capitol Building
Bismarck, North Dakota
June 8, 1994
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Met pursuant to notice at 9:00 a.m.

BEFORE THE NORTH DAKOTA STATE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

Governor Edward T. Schafer, Chairman, North Dakota Industrial
Commission.

Charles Carvell, Assistant Attorney General and Attorney for the
Commission, conducted hearing.

APPEARANCES:

Wesley Norton, Director, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Oil and
Gas Division.

Bruce Hicks, Manager of Horizontal Drilling, North Dakota Industrial
Commission, Oil and Gas Division.

Lawrence Bender, Attorney representing Conoco, Inc.

John Morrison, Attorney representing Placid Oil Company.

Robert Wefald, Attorney representing Andrea Singer Pollack Revocable
Trust.

Jim Turner, Landman, Conoco Inc., Casper, Wyoming.

Jerry Hyrkas, Geologist, Conoco Inc., Casper, Wyoming.

Kevin Zorn, Reservoir Engineer, Conoco Inc., Casper, Wyoming.

Greg Mohl, Senior Geophysicist, Conoco Inc., Casper, Wyoming.

Stephen Bressler, Senior Geologist, Placid Oil Company, Dallas,
Texas. 

Robert Johnson, Consultant, Harris, Brown and Klemer, Inc., on
behalf of The Wiser Oil Company.

Arthur C. Bauer, Consultant, on behalf of Lewis W. Hill, Jr.

Ernest Gomez, Geologist,

Kevin Preston, Petroleum Engineer, Aviva Inc.
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MR. CARVELL:  Come to order.  My name is Charles Carvell, I'm an Assistant Attorney General.

 I'll be today's hearing officer.  Up on the table to my right there are forms that you may fill out if

you wish to receive a copy of any decisions that the Commission will be making in the cases heard

today.  You can just fill that form out and give it to anyone here at the table and we'll be sure to

send you a copy of the Commission's order.  With that we'll take up the first case on the docket,

which is Case 5933, this is a petition of Conoco for an order providing for the unitized

management, operation, and further development of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Unit Area,

consisting of lands within the Dickinson Field in Stark County, for approval of the unit agreement

and unit operating agreement constituting the plan of unitization for the Dickinson-Lodgepole

Unit Area; for approval of the plan of operation; vacating applicable spacing orders; and for such

further and additional relief as the Commission deems appropriate.  All parties wishing to be heard

in this case please come forward and make your appearance.

MR. BENDER:  Governor and Mr. Examiner my name is Lawrence Bender, P.O. Box 400,

Bismarck, North Dakota appearing in this matter on behalf of the applicant, Conoco Inc.

MR. MORRISON:  Mr. Examiner and Governor Schafer my name is John Morrison.  Fleck,

Mather and Strutz, P.O. Box 2798, Bismarck.  And I'm appearing in this matter today on behalf of

Placid Oil Company. 

MR. WEFALD:  Governor, Examiner, my name is Bob Wefald, P.O. Box 1, Bismarck.  I'm

appearing on behalf of the Andrea Singer Pollack Revocable Trust. 



Page 4

MR. CARVELL:  The witnesses that will be testifying today, I'd like all of you to raise your right

hand.  Do all of you promise to tell the truth in this hearing?

ALL:  I do.

MR. CARVELL:  Thank you.  Mr. Bender, any opening comments?

MR. BENDER:  Mr. Examiner, first of all I'd like to request that Case No. 5933 and 5935 be

combined and consolidated for the purposes of hearing. 

MR. CARVELL:  Case 5935 is an application of Conoco for an order determining that the plan of

unitization for the Dickinson-Lodgepole Unit Area, Stark County, has been signed, ratified or

approved by owners of interest owning that percentage of the working interest and royalty interest

within said unit as is required by the applicable statutes and rules of the Commission.  Does

anyone object to combining Case 5935 for the purposes of hearing with Case 5933?

MR. MORRISON:  No objection. 

MR. WEFALD:  We, no objection. 

MR. CARVELL:  Okay, we'll do that.  The witnesses that were sworn earlier will also be sworn

for Case 5935.  Mr. Bender?
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MR. BENDER:  Governor and Mr. Examiner, this matter is before the Commission on the

application of Conoco Inc. requesting authorization for unitized management and operation of the

Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool, which is located just northwest of the city of Dickinson.  If Conoco's

application is granted, Conoco will inject water into the Dickinson-Lodgepole Reservoir which

will result in the recovery of an additional 2½ million barrels of oil.  The Dickinson-Lodgepole

Field was discovered by Conoco in February of 1993.  And Conoco is the only company that

operates a well in the field.  And Conoco is the only company that has ever drilled any Lodgepole

wells in the field.  More importantly Conoco is the only company or working interest owner in the

field that has an interest in nine of the tracts that are to be included in the unit.  So, Conoco, unlike

any of the other working interest owners that are here today, or who participated in the meetings

has an obligation to each one of the royalty owners that has an interest in those tracts.  At this

hearing today you are going to hear from three Conoco witnesses.  Mr. Jim Turner, a landman, is

the team leader for Conoco's Lodgepole project.  He's going to discuss the painstaking efforts that

Conoco took to secure support for this plan of unitization.  Jim is also going to discuss that

Conoco has received support from more than 85% of the royalty owners in and under the

Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool who support Conoco's application.  You're also going to hear from

Conoco's geologic witness, Mr. Jerry Hyrkas, and Jerry will testify that his map of the reservoir

boundary was prepared on the best information available to Conoco and all the other working

interest owners.  And that's well data.  And he's also going to testify that his map was the only map

that was approved by the working interest owners.  You're also going to hear from Conoco's

engineering witness, Kevin Zorn, who's going to discuss the parameters that lead to the equity

formula for unitization.  Kevin is going to discuss the fact that the equity formula protects the
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correlative rights of all those owners who have wells on their property as well as those, of course,

who do not have wells on their property.  Kevin's also going to discuss the unique features of the

reservoir and why this field has to be unitized immediately.  In addition, Kevin is going to spend

some time discussing the production of the field currently.  The field is currently restricted to 200

barrels a day, excuse me, 600 barrels a day.  It was at 200 and it's just been increased to 600.  And

after unitization Kevin's going to talk about how production is going to be increased to more than

2000 barrels a day.  Finally, Kevin is going to testify that the ultimate recovery from the

Dickinson-Lodgepole Field will be approximately 7.9 million barrels of oil which is 2½ million

barrels of oil more than will be recovered from the field if it's not unitized.  And this incremental

recovery of 2½ million barrels of oil is going to result in approximately $9,000,000 in revenue to

working interest owners and more than $2,000,000 of revenue to royalty owners.  If Conoco's

application for unitization in this Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool is denied there is absolutely no

guarantee that the working interest owners will be able to go back and get agreement again and

come to this Commission and, and seek another application.  And even if the working interest

owners, if this application is denied, were able to reach agreement down the road there is

absolutely no guarantee that the royalty owners will once again approve the unitization project at

the level that we have right now, which is 70%.  If Conoco's application for unitization is denied

for the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool we believe we might very well end up with a situation which

happened approximately 11 years ago when the Little Knife Field Unitization failed.  When Little

Knife Unitization failed the mineral owners lost, the working interest owners lost and the state of

North Dakota lost by tax revenue.  If, if Conoco's application for unitization of Little Knife,

excuse me, of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Field is denied, we believe that those same parties will

lose.  Working interest owners will lose, mineral owners will lose and so will the state of North
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Dakota.  With that in mind I'd be ready to call my first witness.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, do you have any opening comments?

MR. MORRISON:  Just a very few comments.  Let me make it perfectly clear at the outset that

Placid is not here today opposing unitization.  Placid supports unitization of the Dickinson-

Lodgepole Reservoir.  However, Placid feels it's essential that such unitization be accomplished

on terms that are fair and reasonable to all parties and Placid does oppose and object to Conoco's

depiction of the reservoir.  In other words Conoco's maps that show the areal extent of the

reservoir.  As you'll see through Conoco's presentation this is a very important issue in this unit

because the only variable that goes into Conoco's proposed Phase II formula for sharing unit

production is the mapping of the reservoir.  Conoco will tell you they assumed common reservoir

characteristics throughout the field and therefore the only thing that changes the participation of

the various tracts in Phase II formula is the map of the net pay or the map of the pay.  So it's very

important that map be accurate.  We think that Conoco's depiction is not accurate and we think the

evidence will confirm that.  Another comment I think is appropriate, Mr. Bender, in his opening

remarks made analogies to Little Knife.  And I think those analogies are totally unfounded and

unsupportable.  I think some of the staff that was present during Little Knife will recall that there

was unalterable opposition to unitization in Little Knife.  The Little Knife Royalty Owners

opposed the concept of unitization and opposed the concept of waterflooding.  That's not the

situation in this case.  At least to our knowledge it's not.  Placid is here supporting unitization but

supporting unitization only on grounds that are fair and reasonable to Placid, to all the other

working interest owners and to all the royalty owners in the field.  And so the fact that the
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Commission may reject and should reject Conoco's proposal certainly does not mean that

unitization will not be achieved.  What it will do is tell Conoco to go back and deal, in a fair

manner, with the other working interest owners and with the royalty owners in the field and come

up with a proposal that adequately protects all the interest owners.  So I urge the Commission not

to be swayed by groundless threats the state's going to lose oil if they don't approve this and do it

exactly the way Conoco wants it.  It does not have to be approved on Conoco's terms.  It can still

be unitized and the state can still benefit from the additional recovery. 

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  Thank you.  Our position is much the same as John Morrison's on this issue. 

The real question is, under the law the Commission is required to come up with a plan of

unitization that is fair, equitable and reasonable to all the unit owners.  The fact that Conoco in

itself has over 70% and therefore can steer this matter right to this Commission is not the, not the

deciding factor.  The fact that 70% of the interest that Conoco controls says this is where we want

it, is  not the decisive factor.  What is the decisive factor is a plan of unitization that is fair,

equitable and reasonable.  We will present a net pay map based on geology and that we believe

more accurately represents the reserves, and the oil to be produced out of this particular formation.

 And so we are interested to hear what you have to say, but keep in mind that the fact that they

have 70% is not at all the deciding factor.  Fair, equitable and reasonable.

MR. CARVELL:  Thank you.  You may call your first witness Mr. Bender.
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MR. BENDER:  Jim would you state your name for the record please?

MR. TURNER:  My name is P as in Paul, J as in James Turner.  I am employed with Conoco Inc.

MR. BENDER:  Could you spell your last name please?

MR. TURNER:  T-U-R-N-E-R.

MR. BENDER:  And Jim, have you had an opportunity to testify before the North Dakota

Industrial Commission on previous occasions? 

MR. TURNER:  No, I have not.

MR. BENDER:  Would you then briefly highlight for the Governor and the examiner your

educational background and work experience?

MR. TURNER:  I have a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration from the University of

Southwestern Louisiana.  During my 26 year career with Conoco I've held various landman

positions, including that of land director of the Lafayette Gulf Coast Division.  During the past two

years I've been at Casper, Wyoming where part of my responsibility was to provide land guidance

and expertise to our management and lesser experienced landmen.  In addition to that, during the

last year I, I have been the Lodgepole Project Team Leader.
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MR. BENDER:  Jim, as the Lodgepole Team Leader, are you familiar with Conoco's application

for unitization of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I am.

MR. BENDER:  And are you also familiar with the various working interest owner meetings that

were held prior to Conoco making application for unitization of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I am.

MR. BENDER:  Describe for us briefly, Jim, the process that Conoco followed to secure support

from the various working interest owners before it made application for unitization. 

MR. TURNER:  Well, as team leader I was responsible for directing the effort to evaluate a plan

of unitization for the Lodgepole Field.  Part of that responsibility included coordinating the

working interest owner meetings.  I was involved, excuse me, I was involved in the planning and

conducting of four working interest owner meetings which resulted in the approval of the

proposed plan of unitization.

MR. BENDER:  Jim, when was this first meeting that you had, the working interest owner

meeting?

MR. TURNER:  The first meeting was held on November 10, 1993.  All working interest owners
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were represented at that meeting.  The focus of the first meeting was basically the exchange of

data and preparations for plans to pursue unitization.  At that meeting a voting procedure was

approved by working interest owners.  Conoco's original proposal for the voting procedure was to

adopt the procedure included in the NDIC statutes.

MR. BENDER:  What do you understand the voting procedure to be under the North Dakota

statutes?

MR. TURNER:  Two or more working interest owners having a combined voting interest of 70%,

of at least 70%.

MR. BENDER:  And what was the voting procedure that was ultimately adopted by unanimous

consent of the working interest owners?

MR. TURNER:  Phillips proposed a procedure which included three or more working interest

owners with a combined interest of 70%.  And that was adopted. 

MR. BENDER:  And was Placid at that meeting when that more stringent voting requirement was

adopted?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, they were.

MR. BENDER:  And were representatives of Aviva also present when that more stringent voting
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requirement were adopted?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, they were. 

MR. CARVELL:  What was the requirement?

MR. TURNER:  Beg your pardon?

MR. CARVELL:  What was that more stringent requirement? 

MR. TURNER:  Three or more with 70%.

MR. BENDER:  Jim, what happened at the next meeting?

MR. TURNER:  The second meeting was held on January 6th.  Again all owners were

represented.  In addition to the exchange of new data, the primary focus of the meeting was a

technical discussion of the reservoir modeling study and the approval of the input data for the

study.

MR. BENDER:  What happened at the third meeting, I guess?

MR. TURNER:  All owners were again represented at the February 16th meeting, either in person,

by absentee ballot or by proxy.  The main purpose of that meeting was the approval of a structure
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map.  Each owner had an opportunity to present its interpretation of a structure map.  Four

interpretations were presented.  Placid presented its map and received the vote of three owners

with a combined interest of 11%.  Placid, Hunt and Huntington supported Placid's interpretation. 

Andrea Singer Trust presented an interpretation and it cast the only vote for its map.  Phillips

submitted a structure map by mail and by absentee ballot it cast the only vote for its map.  Conoco

presented its interpretation and discussed its structure map, and, which was approved by three

owners with a combined interest of 75%.  Conoco, Wiser and Lewis Hill, by proxy, voted for this

interpretation.  Since the vote exceeded the established voting procedure, the Conoco structure

map was adopted.

MR. BENDER:  Okay then Jim, what happened at the final meeting?

MR. TURNER:  The fourth and final meeting was held on March 30th.  Over 95% of the working

interest ownership was represented, either in person, by absentee vote, or by proxy.  At this

meeting the proposed unit outline and the various equity parameters were approved by a vote of

four owners with a combined interest of over 75%.  Conoco, Wiser, Lewis Hill and Phillips voted

for this proposal.  Since again, since this vote exceeded the established voting procedure the plan

of unitization we are presenting today was approved by working interest owners.

MR. BENDER:  So, to briefly summarize then, Jim, all the maps that were approved by the

working interest owners were approved under this more stringent voting procedure that was

unanimously adopted at the first meeting.  Is that correct?
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MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Jim, are you also familiar with the procedure that Conoco followed in securing

the ratifications for the unit agreement and unit operating agreement?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I am.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  What percentage of the royalty owners have ratified the unit operating

agreement?

MR. TURNER:  As of this . . .

MR. BENDER:  Excuse me, the unit agreement.

MR. TURNER:  As of this date we've received 86.5% of royalty ownership approval for Phase I,

and 86% for Phase II.

MR. BENDER:  And it's true, is it not, that you have ratifications from royalty owners in every

tract?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And what percentage of the working interest owners have ratified the unit
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agreement and unit operating agreement?

MR. TURNER:  76.8% of the working interest owners have executed the, the agreement. 

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Jim I'm going to show you what I'd like to have marked as Exhibit A in

Case No. 5935.  Can you tell us what that is? 

MR. TURNER:  Yes.  This booklet reports the royalty owner approval of the unit agreement and

the working interest owner approval of the unit and the unit operating agreement.

MR. BENDER:  And it's broken up into sections, is it not?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And the first section is tabbed royalty owners.  Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And that contains all the ratifications of the royalty owners that Conoco has

secured to date.  Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  It contains all of the original copies we have secured as of yesterday.  We did

receive a ratification by mail in our Casper office yesterday.  I have a faxed copy of that approved
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ratification. 

MR. BENDER:  Mr. Examiner, we'll include this in the packet of Exhibit A if that's okay.

MR. CARVELL:  Sure.

MR. BENDER:  Jim the next tab is labeled working interest owner.  What's, what's under that tab?

MR. TURNER:  Those are the original, that contains the original copies of the ratification

agreements executed by working interest owners ratifying the unit agreement and unit operating

agreement. 

MR. BENDER:  And the next tab is entitled Royalty Owner Summary, what's that?

MR. TURNER:  That is a listing of individual royalty owner, owners listed alphabetically who

have executed the ratification agreement.  The last page of that exhibit indicates the total royalty

owner approval as of yesterday, that figure is 82.34321 for Phase I.  82.06324% for Phase II. 

Adding the copy of the ratification received yesterday brings that total to 86.48866% for Phase I

and 86.03647% for Phase II.

MR. BENDER:  And let's go on, back to the, the last tab, entitled Working Interest Owner

Summary.  What's that?
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MR. TURNER:  That is a listing of working interest owners who have executed a ratification

agreement.

MR. BENDER:  And once again the total is?

MR. TURNER:  The total is 76.78677% Phase I, 76.81894% for Phase II.

MR. BENDER:  We'd offer Exhibit A. 

MR. MORRISON:  I don't have any objection to the exhibit itself, but I would ask if you have

copies available for us of the summary pages?

MR. TURNER:  We don't, we can have copies made. 

MR. CARVELL:  We can get them made. 

MR. MORRISON:  All right. 

MR. CARVELL:  Do you want them during the hearing or do you want them . . .

MR. MORRISON:  I think so, just the summary sheets, four pages, three page, four pages at the

end.  I don't care about copies of the ratification themselves, just summary sheets
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MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  Do you have any objection Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes, there's no doubt that there's owner's approval, we would object on the

grounds of foundation.

MR. CARVELL:  Your objection is overruled, Exhibit A is received.  Karlene will make copies

for you Mr. Morrison and Mr. Wefald.

MR. BENDER:  Do you, John, do you have any objections if we proceed while the copies are

being made?

MR. MORRISON:  No, none at all.

MR. BENDER:  Jim, in preparation for today's hearing have you also prepared or had prepared

under your control and supervision certain exhibits that you intend to sponsor?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I have.

MR. BENDER:  Have you satisfied yourself as to the accuracy of those exhibits?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I have.

MR. BENDER:  Jim, I'm going to have you turn to the packet of exhibits and go first to Exhibit
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No. 1.  Can you identify that exhibit and then briefly highlight what's contained upon it? 

MR. TURNER:  Exhibit No. 1 is a locator map showing the Williston Basin, shaded area.  It also

indicates, by star, the approximate location of the Dickinson Field in Stark County, North Dakota.

MR. NORTON:  One question on that, that exhibit.  Did your legal counsel spell Bismarck for

you?

(LAUGHTER)

MR. TURNER:  I'm afraid our drafting department did.

MR. BENDER:  That's the German way of spelling it.  Let's go on to the next exhibit Jim, Exhibit

No. 2.

MR. TURNER:  Exhibit No. 2 is a plat reporting the Dickinson-Lodgepole Field in Stark County.

 It shows the outline of the Dickinson-Lodgepole proposed unit within the field boundary of the

Dickinson-Lodgepole Field.

MR. BENDER:  Exhibit 3.

MR. TURNER:  Number 3 is the plat showing the Dickinson-Lodgepole Unit outline and the
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separate nine tracts within the proposed unit.  In the left-hand bottom corner of the plat is a listing

of the tracts and the acreage figures which total to a unit acreage figure of 1436.45 acres. 

MR. BENDER:  Exhibit 4.

MR. TURNER:  Exhibit 4 is the written legal description of the proposed Dickinson-Lodgepole

Unit located in Townships 139 and 140 North, Range 96 West in Stark County, North Dakota.

MR. BENDER:  And Exhibit 4 is nothing more than a legal description of the tracts that were

contained on Exhibit 3. Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Let's go on to the next exhibit then, Exhibit 5.

MR. TURNER:  Exhibit No. 5 is a copy of the unit agreement for the development and operation

of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Unit.  The agreement outlines the plan of unitization and is basically

the contract between the royalty interest owners and the working interest owners which creates the

unit.  The agreement defines the unit area and the unitized formation.  It contains provisions for

enlargement of the unit area, it designates Conoco as the unit operator and provides a mechanism

for selection of a successor operator.  Article 5 of the agreement provides for the allocation of unit

production based on a two phase equity formula.  The agreement stipulates that the effective date

of the agreement is in accordance with the order issued by the NDIC.  The agreement contains two
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or has two exhibits attached.  Exhibit A is a tract by tract listing and tabulation of the ownership

and tract participation for each individual tract in the proposed unit and Exhibit B is a tract map

showing the individual tracts within the proposed unit outline.

MR. BENDER:  And this is the agreement that more than 85% of the royalty owners have ratified.

 Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct. 

MR. BENDER:  Let's go on to the next exhibit then, Exhibit 6.

MR. TURNER:  Exhibit 6 is the unit operating agreement which is the contract between working

interest owners covering the operations of the unit.  The agreement names Conoco as the unit

operator and generally sets forth the responsibilities and duties of the operator on behalf of all the

working interest owners.  The agreement provides a mechanism for calling working interest owner

meetings.  It establishes a voting procedure.  It provides audit rights for the nonoperator owners.  It

establishes expenditure approval guidelines and it contains provisions for the final dissolution and

abandonment of operations.  There are several attachments to the unit operating agreement.  The

first two attachments are the same, Exhibit A and B as included in the unit agreement.  Exhibit

No. C is a working interest summary which includes a summary of the ownership of each tract in

the proposed unit.  Exhibit D is the accounting schedule which governs the financial aspects of the

operations of the unit.  Exhibit E is a listing of the wells to be taken over by the unit operator. 

Exhibit F is a certificate of compliance with the EEOC statutes.  Exhibit G provides insurance
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provisions and Exhibit H is the gas balancing agreement. 

MR. BENDER:  Once again Jim, what percentage of the working interest owners approved the

unit operating agreement as well as the unit agreement?

MR. TURNER:  76.8% of the working interest owners approved.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have for this witness at this time.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, do you have any questions?

MR. MORRISON:  Karlene's not back, is she?

MR. CARVELL:  Pardon me?

MR. MORRISON:  Karlene's not back?  I've got a . . .

MR. CARVELL:  Well we can reserve some time . . .

MR. MORRISON:  I've got a few questions, but I may want to wait until Karlene's back to finish

up.  I have a few questions I can cover anyway until I get the summary sheets. 

MR. CARVELL:  All right.
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MR. MORRISON:  Mr. Turner, would you turn to Exhibit 3.  Can you tell me what the basis is for

the determination of tract size?

MR. TURNER:  Our goal was to protect the correlative rights of all owners within the area

underlain by reservoir, including the areas which did not have producing wellbores.  We,

additionally, attempted to minimize nonproductive acreage.  Our, our plan, or our, we attempted to

do this by including the acreage with no wellbores in ten-acre increments. 

MR. MORRISON:  Look at your Tract 4.  Now, I know you are not a geologist and you haven't

testified as to geology, but you're generally familiar with the contour figures for your net pay for

the reservoir.  Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, sir.

MR. MORRISON:  Can you explain to me, why in Tract 4 you've included the entire 320-acre

N/2 of Section 5 and only a small portion of that is underlain by reservoir in your geologic

exhibits?

MR. TURNER:  Tract 4 was drilled under an approved spacing order.  It contained a producing

wellbore.  It's our understanding that, historically, the NDIC includes all of the acreage in an

approved spacing order in, within the unit outline. 
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MR. MORRISON:  And then the reason for including Tracts 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 in ten-acre tracts is

simply there was no existing spacing unit or a producing well at the time this was proposed?

MR. TURNER:  The reason was to protect the rights of those parties where reservoir was

underlain and no producing well was included.  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Would the leases in the N/2 of Section 5 be held by production if not included

within the unit boundary?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, they would. 

MR. MORRISON:  Is it held by shallow production?

MR. TURNER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  You also testified with respect to the working interest owners meeting that all

owners were present at the first two meetings, November 10, 1993 and January 6, 1994?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Were Lewis Hill, Mobil and Wiser Oil Company present at those meetings? 

MR. TURNER:  At that point in time, before the unit boundaries were agreed to, Mobil was not a
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party.  Only parties who, with an interest in the producing tracts were included.  And yes they were

all represented.

MR. MORRISON:  Were they present?

MR. TURNER:  They were present either in person or by proxy.

MR. MORRISON:  Was Wiser present at the first two meetings?

MR. TURNER:  Wiser, I don't, I'd, I'd have to check my notes, I may be mistaken, maybe Wiser

was not there. 

MR. MORRISON:  And Mobil certainly wasn't.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  Mobil was not a party at that time.  I was incorrect, Wiser was not present.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  Now let's go on to the February 16th meeting.  You testified that the

structure map was approved by three owners with 75%.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And, and it's also correct that Lewis Hill was not present at that meeting but

was represented by proxy?
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MR. TURNER:  By proxy, that is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And, of course, Conoco exercised that proxy.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  How many working interest owners are there in this proposed unit area?

MR. TURNER:  At the present in the proposed unit there are, there are 14.

MR. MORRISON:  And so this has been ratified by six?

MR. TURNER:  Six of the 14.

MR. MORRISON:  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And there, in addition, to Conoco, I mean with the exception of Conoco none

of the other working interest owners who have ratified have even 1% of the unit.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  That's correct.
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MR. MORRISON:  Now Jim I'm going to show you what we are going to ask be marked Placid

Exhibit 1, and ask if you've seen that document before. 

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I have.

MR. MORRISON:  And, is that a listing of the working interest owners and their percentages

under both Phase I and Phase II under your proposal?

MR. TURNER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay and that's something that was prepared by Conoco.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  I would offer Placid Exhibit 1. 

MR. BENDER:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  Let me just see them, I don't think I have any objections.  We have no objection.
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MR. CARVELL:  Placid Exhibit 1 is received.

MR. MORRISON:  I only have one copy but, _____.  Mr. Turner, with respect to the royalty

interests how may royalty interests owners are in the field?

MR. TURNER:  102.

MR. MORRISON:  And how many have ratified?

MR. TURNER:  48.

MR. MORRISON:  I assume that you will agree with this document we'll ask be marked as Placid

Exhibit 2 is a listing prepared by Conoco of all the royalty owners and their respective interests in

the field.  Is that right?

MR. NORTON:  Now these are Placid Exhibits?

MR. MORRISON:  They are Placid Exhibits, but they are documents that were prepared by

Conoco.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.

MR. TURNER:  Yes, that is correct.
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MR. MORRISON:  All right, we would offer Placid Exhibit 2.

MR. BENDER:  No objection.

MR. WEFALD:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Placid Exhibit 2 is received.  Are these the photocopies from Conoco Exhibit

A, the binder?

MR. MORRISON:  No, no they are not.  They are another presentation of Conoco.  Just to clarify,

the portions of the binder, that are entitled the Mineral Interest Owners Ratification Summary,

Working Interest Owners Ratification Summary.  You've only shown on those summaries the

owners that have ratified.  Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And you haven't identified the owners that have not ratified? 

MR. TURNER:  I have not.

MR. MORRISON:  And none of the exhibits in your exhibit booklet identify those owners, except

insofar as you can go through on a tract by tract basis on your Exhibit B to the Unit Agreement.
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MR. TURNER:  That's correct.

MR. NORTON:  John, when you present your case are you going to go through the differences

between your exhibits and their percentages?

MR. MORRISON:  No, no.  There are no differences in percentages.  The only purpose of the

exhibits that we've offered is to show that while Conoco's made a great deal on the percentages of

owners that have ratified, the exhibits that we've offered are important to show that its a small

number of the owners and with respect to the working interest owners in fact, it's Conoco and

three or four very small other working interest owners.  The other larger working interest owners

in the area have not ratified.  But we don't have any reason to dispute the, the numbers that they've

given you or the fact that they are 86.5% or 76.8% have ratified, we're not disputing that, that

point.  But, clarification on that point, Jim.  I think in your testimony you indicated 76.8% of the

working interest owners had ratified.  Is that under Phase I or Phase II?

MR. TURNER:  76.78677 for Phase I, 76.81894 for Phase II.

MR. MORRISON:  So, substantially the same?

MR. TURNER:  Right.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  I don't have any further questions of this witness.  Thank you.
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MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald.

MR. WEFALD:  Thank you.  What is the percent of interest that Conoco has in this hearing?

MR. TURNER:  Conoco's interest is 75.13624 Phase I, 74.88075% for Phase II.

MR. WEFALD:  So when you noted that the 75% of the working interest owners voted for it, in

fact, the percentages of the other two that go to Wiser, Lewis Hill must be relatively small?

MR. TURNER:  No, sir.  When I, when I calculated the voting percentages that we were operating

under a different ownership, that was prior to the approval of a structure map and a unit outline. 

At that point in time the working interest ownership was different. 

MR. WEFALD:  What was the working interest ownership of Conoco at the time of these votes?

MR. TURNER:  Let's see, I have that information, Conoco's interest was, as I recall, 73%,

MR. WEFALD:  Approximately 73%?

MR. TURNER:  Approximately 73%.

MR. WEFALD:  You indicated that at these four meetings was an exchange of data among the
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various working interest owners.  When did Conoco ever exchange with the other working interest

owners the 3D seismic data that it had for the maps based on that 3D seismic data?

MR. TURNER:  That's outside of my testimony, but I, We did not, we did not exchange 3D

seismic data.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.  Do you know if you had 3D seismic data?

MR. TURNER:  At that point in time we did not have interpreted 3D seismic, nor do we now.

MR. WEFALD:  There's another witness though that would know more about that?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, sir.  We are going to have a geologic witness who will address the seismic

issues.

MR. WEFALD:  Thank you.  During the course of these negotiations at these meetings, did

Conoco ever accept any data from any of the other working interest owners that would have

affected or would have changed Conoco's position or anything?

MR. TURNER:  Accept any data?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes.
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MR. TURNER:  There was an exchange of technical interpretations and on many occasions there

were agreements reached on matters of interpretive nature and as a matter of fact, yes, I think . . .

MR. WEFALD:  Did Conoco, as a result of these discussions ever, in any one of these meetings

back off or change the maps that it has presented at these meetings?

MR. BENDER:  Bob, I think that, you know, we are going to have a geologic witness and an

engineering witness, who might be better.

MR. WEFALD:  That's fine, that's fine.  We'll reserve that for that.  That's fine.  I have no further

questions. 

MR. CARVELL:  Any questions from the staff?

MR. NORTON:  I have a few.  You referred early on in your testimony to parameters discussed at

the initial meeting.

MR. TURNER:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.

MR. NORTON:  You referred to parameters early on in your . . .

MR. TURNER:  Yes, sir.
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MR. NORTON:  At a unit meeting.

MR. TURNER:  Right.

MR. NORTON:  Were those parameters unanimous as to porosity cutoff, software to be used for

calculating reserves, etc.?

MR. TURNER:  I can't answer that but I'm sure our engineering and geological people can.

MR. NORTON:  And, just to correct the record, the limits you refer to of an order of the

Commission, you were referring to pool limits and not field boundaries.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, yes.  That is correct.

MR. NORTON:  And you also refer to a dissolution procedure in the unit that would only be the

unit committee procedure for a dissolving the unit and not the Commission's jurisdiction.

MR. TURNER: No, that is correct, that is correct.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.  Would you have, on these, a point was made on these fractional tracts

that were not complete spacing units, such as Section, or Tract No. 6 in Section 30, would you

have any objection if the owners of, let's say the E/2 of 30 come to the Commission and request an

exception location providing it was a certain distance from the unit boundary?  To protect their
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interests if they should think that they have reservoir under that tract? 

MR. TURNER:  We would more than likely oppose an exception location.  We would not oppose

a legal location in that area.  I understand . . .

MR. NORTON:  When I say exception to the Commission order I mean that it isn't a full 320-acre

spacing unit. 

MR. TURNER:  Conoco has an interest in, a majority interest, in most of Section 30.  We have

100% interest in the NE/4, 50% in the SE/4 and a third in the . . .

MR. NORTON:  I'll rephrase the question.

MR. TURNER:  west quarter. 

MR. NORTON:  I'll rephrase the question.  If someone came in the W/2 of Section 29 they would

not have a complete 320-acre unit.  Would you object as an exception to the statutes?

MR. TURNER:  I understand.  No, we would not.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.

MR. TURNER:  We would not.
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MR. NORTON:  I believe that's all my questions at the present time.

MR. HICKS:  Jim, I was trying to find out where you have the creation of the unit operating

committee.  Is it, where in your agreement does it have that?

MR. TURNER:  It references, where is my, the technical committees are referenced in 3.211.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, and how are they assigned?  It states there that you can have the appointment

of committees.

MR. TURNER:  Yes.

MR. HICKS:  And what procedure do you use to select the committee?

MR. TURNER:  Well, that procedure would have to be agreed to by the working interest owners,

as to the makeup of the committee and we have not done that yet.

MR. HICKS:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CARVELL:  Any redirect Mr. Bender?

MR. BENDER:  Yes, just a question or two.  Jim, under cross-examination by Mr. Morrison, you
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indicated that Wiser probably did not participate in the first working interest owner meeting.  Is

that correct.

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Did Wiser ratify the unit agreement, unit operating agreement?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, they did.  As a qualifier they, that was the, they did participate in other

working interest owners also.

MR. BENDER:  But they ratified?

MR. TURNER:  And they did ratify.

MR. BENDER:  And, Jim, is Conoco a royalty owner in this proposed Dickinson-Lodgepole

Unit?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, we are.

MR. BENDER:  And what percentage royalty interest does Conoco hold?

MR. TURNER:  Conoco has 3.79156% in Phase I and 3.81948% in Phase II.
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MR. BENDER:  So the remaining 83 and odd percentage ratifications that Conoco that has

received are from entities that are not Conoco related.  Is that correct?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have.

MR. CARVELL:  Any recross Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes, I have a couple follow-up questions.  Mr. Turner in response to a

question from Mr. Norton, you indicated that Conoco probably would oppose an exception

location in the SE/4 of Section 30, but would not oppose a legal location.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  What, in your opinion, would be a legal location in the SE/4 of Section 30?

MR. TURNER:  660 from the unit boundary.

MR. MORRISON: From the unit boundary?

MR. TURNER:  Yes.
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MR. MORRISON:  1320 from the south and east section lines then.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I don't have the scale, but that probably be correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And you're aware that Placid has attempted to permit a well in the SE/4 of

Section 30 aren't you?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, I guess.

MR. MORRISON:  And you're aware that Conoco blocked that attempt by permitting their own

well.  Isn't that right?

MR. TURNER:  Conoco permitted a well.  I am aware that Placid filed objection to that location

and later withdrew their opposition.

MR. MORRISON:  And Conoco retains that permit today, don't they?

MR. TURNER:  It is still in effect, yes.  It expires on July 3rd.

MR. MORRISON:  And by including what your geologic exhibit will later show to be about 2½

acres of reservoir in the SE/4 of Section 30 your, effectively, then will try to push any well that

Placid may later desire to drill in the SE/4 of Section 30, back 1320 feet from the SE/4.  Is that

right?
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MR. TURNER:  Whatever, whatever that location is.

MR. MORRISON:  Your interpretation and then what you're asking for from the Commission

would require a well drilled in the SE/4 of Section 30, to the Dickinson-Lodgepole, or to the

Lodgepole Formation to be 660 feet away from your unit boundary.  Is that right?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, it is.

MR. MORRISON:  Would you object to a provision in the unit order that would allow anybody to

drill a well in the SE/4 of Section 30, at a distance no farther than 100 feet from the unit

boundary?

MR. TURNER:  I'll, I'll have to refer that to our technical people.

MR. MORRISON:  When you worked on the unit agreement, did you give any consideration to

inclusion of an expansion provision in the unit agreement?

MR. TURNER:  As I recall there are provisions in, included in the agreement which allows

expansion of the unit agreement.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  Would Conoco, if a well was later drilled and proven to be productive

in the SE/4 of Section 30, oppose any expansion?
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MR. TURNER:  Well, we, we would be obligated to abide by statutes and agreements.

MR. MORRISON:  Which requires ratification.  Isn't that right?

MR. TURNER:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And which Conoco would be able to block.  Isn't that right?

MR. TURNER:  Whatever agreement provisions there are.

MR. MORRISON:  Well with 75% Conoco would be able to block it.  Right?

MR. TURNER:  Logically, yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  No further questions.

MR. WEFALD:  No further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  Next witness.

MR. NORTON:  I have one follow-up.
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MR. CARVELL:  Excuse me.

MR. NORTON:  What does the unit agreement provide for, for location of the wells within the

unit as far as distance to the unit boundary?

MR. TURNER:  Gosh, I don't know. 

MR. BENDER:  Maybe I can answer that.  I, I don't think the unit agreement addresses that at all. 

I think it would be governed by the Commission's order which would indicate that wells couldn't

be drilled any closer to the unit boundary.  There are no specific provisions in the unit agreement

with respect to well location.

MR. NORTON:  What, what are you going to recommend for minimum distance to the unit

boundary?

MR. TURNER:  660.

MR. NORTON:  660?

MR. TURNER:  Yes, sir.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.  Thank you. 
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MR. BENDER:  That's prompts one follow-up question. 

MR. CARVELL:  Okay, go ahead.

MR. BENDER:  Jim are there plans for drilling additional wells in the unit?

MR. TURNER:  There are no plans.

MR. CARVELL:  Do you have anything further Mr. Bender?

MR. BENDER:  Yes, one follow-up question.  Jim, under questions from Mr. Morrison, you

indicated that Conoco held an application for permit to drill in the SE/4 of Section 30.  Has Placid

ever approached Conoco about drilling that well?

MR. TURNER:  At a, I think the February 16th working interest owner meeting Placid indicated

that it may, it might propose a well in that location.  As I've stated Conoco owns 50% interest in

the SE/4 of 30 and 100% in the NE/4 of 30.  In essence we would have 75% of the stand-up unit

there.  I advised the Placid representative at the time that if they submitted an AFE for the drilling

of that well we would evaluate it.  That was in February and we haven't heard anything since. 

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have. 

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, anything further?
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MR. MORRISON:  Nothing further.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  No, nothing further.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  Next witness.

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, would you state your name for the record, please.

MR. HYRKAS:  My name is Jerry Hyrkas.

MR. BENDER:  Spell your last name please.

MR. HYRKAS:  It's H-Y-R-K-A-S.

MR. BENDER:  By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm employed by Conoco as a staff geologist in the Casper Division.

MR. BENDER:  And in that capacity have you had an opportunity on previous occasions to testify

before the North Dakota Industrial Commission, have your qualifications accepted as that of an
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expert?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, I have.

MR. BENDER:  In preparation for today's hearing have you been involved in the preparation of all

the geologic exhibits that will be presented here today. 

MR. HYRKAS:  I have.

MR. BENDER:  Have you satisfied yourself as to the accuracy of those exhibits?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  I offer the further testimony of this witness as that of an expert.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, any objections?

MR. MORRISON:  I have no objection to the qualification as an expert.  I wonder if I might ask

or inquire as to the degree of his involvement in the preparation of the exhibits?

MR. CARVELL:  Sure.

MR. MORRISON:  Since that was intended to lay foundation for the exhibits.  Jerry could you
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just tell me what your involvement has been in the preparation of Exhibits 7 through 14?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  I'm the senior geoscientist on the Lodgepole Team.  Conoco works in the

team effort for different plays and I have prepared, if you'd like I could go through all the various

exhibits.  I have prepared certain exhibits and I have peer reviewed and helped prepare the

remainder of these exhibits. 

MR. MORRISON:  So all the exhibits have either been prepared by you or with direct

involvement from you.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  With, yes, with varying involvement, yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, that's all the questions I have.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald do you object to the motion?

MR. WEFALD:  No.

MR. CARVELL:  Motion granted.

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, I'm going to have you turn first to what has been marked at Exhibit No. 7. 

Can you identify that exhibit and briefly highlight for the examiner the more pertinent aspects of

it?
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MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit 7 is an electric log from the Conoco State "A" 83, located in Section 5 of

Township 139 North, 96 West.  It is a gamma ray and dual induction log showing the gamma ray

on the left hand curves and the dual induction on the right-hand side of the electric log.  The State

"A" 83 is the type log I chose for the Dickinson-Lodgepole Field showing the stratigraphic interval

which encompasses the Mississippi and Lodgepole Mound or bioherm buildup typified in this

field.  Shown at 9802 is the top of the clean Lodgepole limestone, a clean mound.  Which is

typified by, generally, less than 10 API gamma ray units in the left-hand column.  This is the left-

hand curve on the log showing the scale for gamma ray at the bottom, zero to 100 units.  So, the

clean mound is typical to less than 10 API gamma ray units and this mound has a base at 9952.  In

the 83 then there is 150 feet of mound or bioherm buildup.  Beneath the clean limestone then there

is 37 feet of limey shale which is a transitional facies of Carrington shale and lower Lodgepole

limestone going to the top of the upper Bakken shale at 9989.

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, what's the significance of the clean limestone buildup in this particular log?

MR. HYRKAS:  The clean limestone facies found in the Lodgepole here is of particular

significance.  Not only because it is porous and very productive in the Dickinson area, but that

represents a rock facies of change in environment not seen anywhere in this area of the Basin.  It is

a very rare geologic occurrence that has no productive analog in the Williston Basin of North

Dakota or Montana.  This facies has been interpreted as a Waulsortian type mound or buildup. 

Typified by rock sections in Belgium where we find the type rock intervals and found in numerous

U.S. basins in the same stratigraphic intervals.  When I say buildup I'm talking about a
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development of fossils which form a mound or reef-like structure that, because of its positive

nature is a higher energy environment.  And at its nucleation point and because it is a positive

feature it can continue to grow and spread itself in various directions.  The Waulsortian mound

idea for the occurrence found at Dickinson appears, is from an interpretation fostered by the fact

that the mound appears to have grown on a slope break, or at the base of a slope.  Typical of these

mounds.  And at the age of the mound 330-360 million years in age, or Mississippian Lodgepole

time, is the time interval at which these type mounds tend to be found. 

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, is the, is the State 83, the well that you used for this particular exhibit, is

that well productive of oil and gas?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, it is.  The 83 is productive and perforated from the interval 9800 to 9807

which is, which I will be showing on the next exhibit.  I also would like to note that on many of

my exhibits I'm going to be talking about a clean mound thickness which will be different than the

thickness of pay because the mound does contain a water contact.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  Jerry, let's go to the next exhibit.  Can you identify that exhibit?

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit 8 is a structural cross-section going basically north-south across the field,

from on the left the Frenzel vertical well and its sidetracking through the sidetrack arm to that

well, through the State 74 which was the discovery well for the field.  Then through the Dickinson

State 83 which I've mentioned previously and on to the Walton 84.  This is basically a dip-section

going across the field.  South being updip or on your right and north being downdip on your left. 
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All the logs on the cross-section are gamma ray and resistivity logs.  Once again gamma ray to the

left, resistivity tools on the right-hand curve.  The mound is shown by the stippled area and also

shown, by well, are the perforations and IP's of the wells which encountered the mound facies. 

The mound has a maximum thickness of 290 feet at the 74 location.  I do have three wells in the

cross-section which are productive.  The Frenzel Sidetrack, the Dickinson 74 and the 83.  The only

well not depicted on the cross-section is the Kadrmas which was a, a, basically, a look-a-like log

to the 74.  And for illustration purposes I chose not to use it on the cross-section.  The mound has

deeply dipping sides.  You can see from the 74 going through to the 83 we go quickly to 150 feet

from 290 and then on both sides of the mound, to the right-hand sided cross-section, the Walton

with no mound and the Frenzel with no mound on the left-hand side of the cross-section.  Now

the, in the Frenzel straight hole, which is the well on the left-hand side of the cross-section you

could possibly interpret mound from 9970 to 9990 and we first thought that that might be part of

the porous productive mound and in fact we found that it was not.  The Frenzel 79 was

sidetracked . . .

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, Jerry, for those of us who don't know geology as well as you do, you're

going awfully fast.  Can you slow down a little bit?

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay, okay, thank you.  The Frenzel 79 was sidetracked and approximately 700

feet in a southeast direction because we thought we were close to the mound feature in the Frenzel

79 straight hole, the left-hand log on the cross-section.  We did encounter, in that sidetrack the

porous mound facies and it is shown to be productive on that sidetrack log with the perforations

shown in measured depth, from 10,050 to 10,107. 
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MR. BENDER:  So, Jerry, part of what you said here is, in the Frenzel No. 79, when you drilled

that well, the straight hole portion of that, you didn't encounter any mound.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  But through your sidetracking operation you were able to sidetrack and did

penetrate some mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Now, is your cross-section, with respect to the sidetrack, is that drawn to scale?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, the distances across the top of the page are shown from well to well.  There

is a footage distance across the top of the page and this cross-section is shown in plain view, I

forgot to mention, in the right-hand corner of the diagram, of this exhibit.  The sidetrack could not

be drawn to scale because of the size of the exhibit we presented today.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Jerry, and once again you were going relatively quickly, but you described

this mound as a Waulsortian mound.  Could you describe for us some of the attributes of a

Waulsortian mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, and I'll try to speak a little slower.  Some of the attributes we see in the
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Dickinson area are that the mound we have found in the area has very steeply dipping sides. 

Anywhere from 4 to 15 to 45° of dip has been recorded on the imaging logs that we ran in the

Kadrmas 75, the State 83 and the Frenzel 79 Sidetrack.  The core analysis indicated the main

bioherm buildup is a carbonate wax zone with fossils making up the, the bioherm including

crinoids, ostracods, brachiopods, bryozoans and corals, with some gastropods and sponge spicules.

 The porosity is mainly vugular and channel.  Vugs range from anywhere from pinpoint in size to

holes that are diameters in inches.  Open stylolites and crystalline, intercrystalline porosity with

some fracture porosity make up the other porosity types.  The mound has an average neutron

density porosity of 5.37%.  As I mentioned there is a water leg and an oil column associated with

the mound.  Lastly, I'd like to mention that the clean, white-gray limestones associated with the

mound facies in, in the stippled area do not compact as well as the surrounding Lodgepole

argillaceous lines as shown in the Frenzel 79 on the left-hand side of the cross-section and the

Walton 84 on the right.  This differential compaction of the mound expresses itself as a positive

feature.  You can see the middle Lodgepole marker as shown as one of the lines across the top of

the cross section, actually shows a quite large structure over the mound and because, this is

because of the differential compaction effect.  And this differential compaction effect goes all the

way up to the Mississippian Fryburg Formation, roughly 900 to 1000 feet above the top of the

mound.  The compaction process has also sealed the mound both laterally and vertically. 

Completely encasing this mound with an impermeable rock. 

MR. BENDER:  So, Jerry, as I understand your testimony you have a, a clean limestone mound

surrounded by this impermeable barrier.  Is that correct?
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MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  So, is this, is this mound ideal for water injection?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Why is that?

MR. HYRKAS:  Any water that would be injected into the mound would not be able to escape

into the surrounding impermeable rock.

MR. BENDER:  So it's an ideal candidate for secondary recovery as well?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, it is.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Jerry, let's go on to the next exhibit, Exhibit No. 9. 

MR. HYRKAS:  You may have to turn your booklet sideways to get a good view of this Exhibit

No. 9.  Exhibit No. 9 is a schematic cross-section B-B' which shows the relationship between the

Mississippian and Fryburg Formation, which I've mentioned, and the top of the Lodgepole mound.

 And the cross-section is shown in map view on the right-hand corner of the, of the exhibit if you

were to turn it sideways, showing B-B' going from the Frenzel straight hole, Frenzel 79 straight

hole, through the Sidetrack well, on to the State 74 and through the State 83. 
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MR. BENDER:  Now, Jerry, you just showed us a structural cross-section as Exhibit No. 8. 

What's the significance of this particular schematic cross-section which you have labeled as

Exhibit No. 9?

MR. HYRKAS:  Because there are nine Fryburg penetrations in and around the mound and only

four actual clean mound penetrations, the relationship of the Fryburg structure to the mound

provides critical data for the boundaries of the mound feature.  The cross-section shows the top of

the Mound at the 74 is also the crest of the Fryburg structure overlying it.  And as this steeply

dipping sides of the mound go to zero, just to the south of the 83 and at the 79 straight hole on the

left-hand side of the cross-section, there is this draping effect with differential compaction of the

Fryburg structure over the top of the mound. 

MR. BENDER:  What's the significance of the draping effect?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, it proves that there is a relationship between the Fryburg structure and the

Lodgepole mound thickness.

MR. BENDER:  Tell us what that relationship is.

MR. HYRKAS:  The isopach thickness from Fryburg to the top of the clean mound facies in

relationship to the thickness of clean mound gives evidence to mound proximity and the thickness

of the mound using the Fryburg well control.
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MR. BENDER:  So, if I understand, what you're saying is, where you have a Fryburg high you are

going to have a thick Lodgepole mound.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And where you have a low in the Fryburg you would anticipate a thinning in the

mound or no mound at all?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.  By using the Fryburg structure you can more adequately define

the mound and its edges.

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, do you have an exhibit that explains that relationship between the Fryburg

and the Lodgepole mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, and that is Exhibit No. 10.

MR. BENDER:  We'll go to that Exhibit then and briefly discuss it.

MR. HYRKAS:  If you'll keep your books turned sideways there and I'll go along and give you

some input on this.  The relationship of, this exhibit shows the relationship of mound thickness to

the Fryburg structure.  On the X axis is the thickness of clean mound or less than 10 API gamma

ray units.  And on the Y axis is the isopach thickness from the top of the Fryburg to the top of the
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clean mound.  The starred data points which depict this relationship are the actual well points that

you can see on the right-hand side.  The 74, the State 74 discovery well and the Kadrmas 75 both

have about 280 to 290 feet of clean mound and their isopach thickness from Fryburg to top of

clean mound is roughly 840 to 850 feet.  And then on the left-hand side of the graph you'll see the

76 which is the Filipi well in Section 32 and the 79 which is the Frenzel straight hole in Section

31.  They indicate there is no mound at this location.  Now, there is a star for the 79 Sidetrack

location, which is a projected thickness of the mound.  Because that well encountered drilling

problems and was a deviated hole, we were never able to go all the way through the clean

limestone section to give an exact thickness.  So that is simply a projection.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Jerry, let's go on to the next exhibit then, Exhibit No. 11. 

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit No. 11 is, is a structure map on the top of the Fryburg Zone, in the

Dickinson area.  The contour interval is ten feet and there are nine well control points on the map

for the Fryburg.  These points going from Section 29 indicate the DHSU 20 had a subsea depth of

6462.  There are three well points in Section 31.  The Frenzel straight hole which is at the end of

the arrow coming off the Frenzel oil symbol at 6452, that's where the straight hole is located.  The

Kadrmas 75 showing a subsea depth of 6383, the DHSU 37, formerly known as the JJ Kadrmas

well before unitization, is at 6399.  Three wells in Section 32, the State 74, which was the

discovery well in the W/2, the DHSU 33 immediately to the north of it and the Filipi 76 in the E/2

of that Section 32.  Then to the south, the State "A" 83 and in Section 6 the Walton 84, in Section

6.  So there, using these nine Fryburg data control points a structure map on the Fryburg has been

constructed indicating approximately 80 feet of structural closure on the Fryburg with two separate
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tops of the structure at the Kadrmas 75 and the State 74, 75 in Section 31, and the 74 in Section

32, with a low at the DHSU 37 between them.  The significance of this closure is that it will

conform to the occurrence in the underlying Lodgepole mound and, in fact, the relationship of

thick mound to Fryburg highs provides a form line for some internal attributes of the Lodgepole

mound.  And Fryburg lows provide evidence for the Lodgepole zero edge boundaries.

MR. NORTON:  Did the well in 29 penetrate the lower Lodgepole?

MR. HYRKAS:  The well in 29 simply penetrated the Fryburg.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Jerry, let's go onto the next exhibit, Exhibit No. 12.

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit 12 is a structure map on top of the Lodgepole, the clean Lodgepole

mound.  The contour interval is ten feet and there is 290 feet of structure over the mound going

from subsea 7500 to the top contour around the State 74 in Section 32 of 7210.  There are seven

Lodgepole penetrations on the map, four of which are clean mound penetrations and structural

points.  Those are the Frenzel 79 Sidetrack in Section 31, the Kadrmas 75 in the S/2 of Section 31,

the State 74 in the W/2, W/2 of Section 32 and to the south the State "A" 83 in Section 5.  Once

again there are nine Fryburg penetrations in this mapping area.  I'd like you to note that there is,

the mound itself has very deep sides.  If you look at the contour from 7400 to 7500 that is subsea

7400 to 7500, you'll see that, that 10-foot contour interval is almost a black line, indicating very



Page 57
steep dips on the edge of the mound.  Note also that there appears to be two growth centers for the

mound.  One at the 75 and one at the 74 creating this saddle between them. 

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, on your Exhibit 11 you indicated there was a saddle on the Fryburg

structure between the State 74 and the Kadrmas 75, and now on your Exhibit 12 you are also

exhibiting a saddle between the State 74 and the Kadrmas 75, is there any other evidence other

than the relationship between Fryburg structure and Lodgepole mound to indicate that this saddle

exists?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  We ran a dipmeter in the Kadrmas 75 and it showed northeast dip going

toward the DHSU 37, indicating and further corroborating that there is a saddle or a dip in the

mound structure, between the 75 and the 74.

MR. BENDER:  So, in other words there is two pieces of independent evidence that demonstrate

that there is a saddle.  The dipmeter data and your Fryburg structure?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, what other attributes define the boundaries of this mound? 

MR. HYRKAS:  We also ran a dipmeter data in the State "A" 83 showing south dips in that well. 

We also have dip information from the Frenzel 79 in Section 31 showing north dips.  Now, we

know these mound edges are extremely steep.  If you look to the east, the Filipi 76, we encounter
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no clean mound, but we felt we were relatively close to actual mound, possibly not reservoir, but

we were close to the mound edge there.  So that defines the control to the east, the Frenzel defines

the control to the west.  To the southwest we drilled the Walton 84 which was a dry hole with no

mound and to the south the State "A" 83 encountered 150 feet of mound versus 280 in the

Kadrmas and 290 in the State 74 indicating that this mound section was going to zero quite

thickly, or quite quickly and that we also saw south dips in that well indicating we were very close

to the mound edge.  Honoring all the data and recognizing that there is very, a very steep nature

about this structure and that the structure is generally concentric, this map indicates the boundaries

of the reservoir.

MR. BENDER:  Jerry, Exhibit No. 12, is that a map that was approved by the working interest

owners, by a vote that was a procedure that was initially established at the first working interest

owner meeting?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  The working interest owners approved this using the approved voting

procedure set aside for approval that this map was accurate for the boundaries of the Lodgepole

Reservoir. 

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's go on to the next exhibit then, Exhibit 13.

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit 13 indicates the thickness of Lodgepole pay for the reservoir.  The

contour interval is, once again, ten feet and the maximum thickness contour is 160 feet just to the

south of the State 74.  The pay was defined in the various wells as the State 74, 158 feet of pay;
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the Kadrmas 75, 136 feet of pay; the Frenzel 79, 76 feet of pay; and the State 83 with 26 feet of

pay.

MR. BENDER:  And Jerry if you, if you look at Exhibit 12 and you look at Exhibit 13, Exhibit

12, I guess, was your, your structure map and Exhibit 13 is your isopach.  They seem to be very

similar, why is that?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well paging back from one to the other, Exhibit 12 shows the structural top of

the mound.  Exhibit 13 chops off all of the mound that is in the water column or the lower portion

of the mound, leaving an isopach of pay, which basically mimics the mound structure shown in

Exhibit 12.

MR. BENDER:  So, in other words your, in other words what you are saying is Exhibit No. 13 is

the, is the area, it constitutes the oil column in the area that would be productive.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, and that productive area is 753 acres.

MR. BENDER:  And as in the case of your Exhibit No. 12 was Exhibit No. 13 also a map that

was approved by the working interest owners?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  The pay thickness was derived from the oil-water contact which was

unanimously approved at the working interest owners meeting, February 16, 1994. 
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MR. BENDER:  Let's go on to the final exhibit then, Jerry, Exhibit No. 14.

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit 14 is a histogram plot of all occurrences of density neutron cross plot

porosity from the four producing wells in the clean mound.  The X axis is the cross plot porosity

and the Y axis is the number of occurrences.  And simply reading from the graph is a total number

of occurrences of porosity taken at one-foot intervals, 885 occurrences.  With an average porosity

of 5.37%, a minimum porosity of 1.7 and a maximum porosity of 14.9%.  The average porosity of

5.37% was used for the volumetric calculations in the equity formula and was unanimously

approved by the working interest owners. 

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have for this witness at this time.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  Thank you.  Jerry, since we're on it, Exhibit 14 really shows that this reservoir

is not a homogeneous reservoir, isn't it?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  But in your equity parameters, Conoco has treated it as a homogeneous

reservoir.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  The working interest owners are treating it as that.
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MR. MORRISON:  And Conoco is presenting that recommendation to the Commission today?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And, in fact, there are substantial differences in porosity throughout the

reservoir, aren't there?

MR. HYRKAS:  It is not a mappable phenomenon that, if there are substantial differences, it is,

the working interest owners all agreed that it was not a mappable phenomenon.

MR. MORRISON:  Right.  But they still exist, don't they?

MR. HYRKAS:  There is the existence of differences in porosity, even shown by the histogram. 

But the average porosity is 5.37%.

MR. MORRISON:  And whether you're using oil in place, recoverable oil or any of those factors,

what you've done by assuming a homogeneous reservoir is place a lot of importance on your pay

map.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  What the working interest owners did was place a lot of importance on the pay

map, yes.
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MR. MORRISON:  The equity parameters are only as good as those pay maps are, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That, that is the assumption.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  You didn't use any seismic information in any of your maps did you?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, we did not.

MR. MORRISON:  Conoco has both 2D and 3D seismic in the area, don't you?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And it wasn't used in your interpretations?

MR. HYRKAS:  It was not.

MR. MORRISON:  Do you agree that seismic information is a valuable tool when developing this

type of a reservoir, a Lodgepole mound, mound feature?

MR. HYRKAS:  Conoco believes that seismic is a valuable tool, as an exploratory tool, but not a

good tool at all for defining reservoir boundaries.

MR. MORRISON:  Does it help at all?
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MR. HYRKAS:  Does it help in what sense?

MR. MORRISON:  Defining reservoir boundaries?

MR. HYRKAS:  Only to the limits of the tools.

MR. MORRISON:  Do you assume to be in oil-water contact in the reservoir?

MR. HYRKAS:  We have engineering testimony which will go over the oil-water contacts.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, but in preparing your map, Exhibit No. 13, you use an oil-water contact

in order to determine the thickness of the pay, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  We use the oil-water contact from the working interest owners who had

unanimously approved all contacts.

MR. MORRISON:  And what is the oil-water contact that you used?

MR. HYRKAS:  For individual wells?

MR. MORRISON:  Is it uniform throughout the reservoir, or throughout the unit or does it differ

for wells?
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MR. HYRKAS:  We didn't, the working interest owners agreed that it was not uniform throughout

the field and each well that had a water contact we used the approved contact by well.

MR. MORRISON:  And what was that contact?

MR. HYRKAS:  For which well?

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, let's start with the State "A" 83.

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm sorry, I missed it.

MR. MORRISON:  The State "A" 83.

MR. HYRKAS:  The State "A" 83, the approved contact was a depth of 9827.5 measured depth

with a TVD of subsea 7360.5.

MR. NORTON:  Which one was that again?

MR. HYRKAS:  The State "A" 83 in Section 5 of 139 North, 96 West.

MR. MORRISON:  Why don't you turn back to your Exhibit No. 7, which is a type log of the

State "A" 83.  Is that right? 
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MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And, again, what was your oil-water contact on that?

MR. HYRKAS:  At 9827.5.

MR. MORRISON:  And looking at that log do you agree that that's a depiction of the oil-water

contact as shown on the log?

MR. HYRKAS:  Looking at a single log does not give you an individual oil-water contact.  You

have to look at a suite of logs. 

MR. MORRISON:  Okay. 

MR. HYRKAS:  Of porosity, resistivity . . .

MR. MORRISON:  You can't identify what you would call the oil-water contact in this particular

log on the State "A" 83?

MR. BENDER:  Well, he's already answered the question, that he needs a suite of logs.

MR. MORRISON:  What suite of logs do you need?
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MR. HYRKAS:  A suite of, you're asking to define a water saturation calculation, I believe, is that,

is that what you're asking?

MR. MORRISON:  Whatever you are using for an oil-water contact.  I don't know what you are

using for your water saturation cutoff either.

MR. HYRKAS:  You need a porosity tool log to help you with resistivity and in that combination,

that's generally, a generally accepted practice to use a porosity log and a resistivity log.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  And you're not showing a resistivity log on Exhibit No. 7?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, I am.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  And a porosity log?

MR. HYRKAS:  There is no porosity log associated with any of the logs in this suite or Exhibit 7,

Exhibit 8.

MR. MORRISON:  You do have a porosity log with on the State "A" 83?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.
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MR. MORRISON:  And you're, again it's 9827?

MR. HYRKAS:  That was the working interest owner unanimous approval of, which Placid

agreed to, all, all the working interest owners approved that depth. 

MR. MORRISON:  Let's change the question a little bit, Jerry.  What's, what's your opinion?  Let's

forget about working interest owners and what working interest owners approved.  What's your

opinion as to the oil-water contact in the State "A" 83?

MR. HYRKAS:  I, I don't think that that's a proper question because opinion is not factual.

MR. MORRISON:  Well, I think you qualified yourself as an expert and you've testified as to how

net pay was calculated.  Now I'm asking, what is your opinion as to the oil-water contact in the

State "A" 83?

MR. HYRKAS:  We will provide testimony for that.

MR. MORRISON:  The engineer will answer that.

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And you agree that, on your Exhibit No. 13, what you're showing as pay for

the State "A" 83 is dependent upon the measurement of a number of feet between the top of the
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clean limestone and the oil-water contact in that well.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And you have no opinion as to what that oil-water contact actually is for the

well?

MR. HYRKAS:  We have testimony which will tell you what that is.

MR. MORRISON:  No, no, no, Jerry, I said, you, you personally, have no opinion as to what that

oil-water contact is?

MR. HYRKAS:  Without looking at the exact log suite in front of me, I, I can't answer that

particular question.

MR. MORRISON:  Reading logs is, is part of the functions, duties and responsibilities of a

geologist, isn't it?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Do you have the porosity log with? 

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, I do.
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MR. MORRISON:  Could you pull it out and look at it?

MR. HYRKAS:  Sure.

MR. MORRISON:  Ready?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, I'm ready. 

MR. MORRISON:  Okay. 

MR. HYRKAS:  All right, the . . .

MR. MORRISON:  The question is, whether or not you have an opinion as to what the oil-water

contact is in the State "A" 83?

MR. HYRKAS:  The actual oil-water contact that Conoco provided was at 9818, but

understanding that there was a transition zone and the bulk volume, or the, there was no transition

to 100% water.  That is to say, there was a transition zone in most of the wells and that this

transition zone could go from 100% oil production to a water cut of varying productions to an

exact, well to a 100% water.

MR. MORRISON:  Conoco provided the 9818 oil-water contact.
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MR. HYRKAS:  At the working interest owner meeting there were varying water contacts that

were presented by, for each well, and what we provided and what was actually approved

unanimously were two different things.

MR. MORRISON:  And it was a matter of compromise to come to what was agreed to

unanimously.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  It was unanimous, so I don't think this was a compromise.

MR. MORRISON:  Well, okay, so then 9818, you were just wrong when you went and said 9818

was the oil-water contact in the State "A" 83?

MR. HYRKAS:  The oil-water contact is a, is a relative thing because of the transition zone in all

of the wells.

MR. MORRISON:  Uh huh.

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay, so what do you mean, do you mean 100% water, 100% oil, 40% water,

60% oil, what exactly do you mean by your water, what would you define as the water contact?

MR. MORRISON:  Well, let me ask you, what are you using as the cut off to determine the

bottom of the pay?



Page 71

MR. HYRKAS:  The bottom of the pay, of 100% oil on the map was 7360.5 subsea.  9827.5

measured depth.

MR. MORRISON:  And is that 100% oil, 100% water, 50% of each?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's where it goes to 100% water.

MR. HICKS:  I'm sorry Jerry, I didn't, oil did you say?

MR. HYRKAS:  At 90, subsea 7360.5 and below for the purposes of the unit were 100% water.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. MORRISON:  Conoco's original indication that this oil-water contact was 9818, the

difference between 9818 and 9802 your top of the clean line is 16.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Can you? 

MR. MORRISON:  16 feet, from 9802 to 9818.

MR. HYRKAS:  Math seems correct.
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MR. MORRISON:  Even lawyers can do that much.  And if you look on your Exhibit No. 13, you

said that the well was 26 feet.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And the effect of increasing the pay in the State "A" 83 from 16 to 26 is to

pull all the pay down to the south towards the State "A" 83 well.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Only at that point because there were varying contacts.

MR. MORRISON:  But, throughout all of the N/2 of Section 5 it pulled all the contours down,

doesn't it?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, for the small area of reservoir associated with the well in Section 5, the

State "A" 83 and that was approved by the working interest owners as the contact, you pull it

down in that direction.

MR. MORRISON:  And Conoco owns 100% in the N/2 of 5, don't they?

MR. HYRKAS:  It was unanimously approved that that would be . . .

MR. MORRISON:  No, no, no.  The question was, Conoco owns 100% of the working interest in

the N/2 of Section 5?
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MR. HYRKAS:  I would defer that to the witness who would know better.  That would be our

land man . . .

MR. MORRISON:  Do you know?

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm not qualified to answer that particular question. 

MR. MORRISON:  Yes, I think you are qualified, if you know.  If you don't know, you simply

don't know.

MR. HYRKAS:  We had 100% working interest in the well.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  Let's go on to your Exhibit No. 8 a minute.  This is a cross-section,

right? 

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Now first you indicated this included all of the wells, except the Kadrmas.  Is

that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  I said at first it had all the producing wells except the Kadrmas.
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MR. MORRISON:  Okay, it doesn't have the Filipi well either, does it?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is not a productive well.

MR. MORRISON:  Right.  On your Frenzel straight hole with the log to the very left of the

exhibit . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  If I recall your testimony it was that initially you thought there was some

mound and then later you found out there wasn't.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  We thought there was clean, porous mound and found out later it was not

porous.

MR. MORRISON:  How did you find that out later?

MR. HYRKAS:  We ran a porosity log in the straight hole of the Frenzel.

MR. MORRISON:  When was that done, while you were drilling the straight hole, before you did

this . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  At the point of TD of the straight hole, it's customary to run a log suite and we
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did that and we found that what we thought was porous, clean mound was not.  It was actually

nonporous mound.

MR. MORRISON:  But still mound.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, we interpret it as mound. 

MR. MORRISON:  And, in fact, I think you said your interpretation of mound was a scale of 10

on the gamma ray.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  With porosity.

MR. MORRISON:  No, okay.  And you'll agree that the little section down, just above the 10,000

foot mark on the gamma ray log on the Frenzel is, is, while not clear on this log, in fact if you look

at a log with all the scales on it is at that ten?

MR. HYRKAS:  9975 to 9990 is a clean gamma ray of nonporous interval which was originally

interpreted to be mound.

MR. MORRISON:  In fact, Conoco used that interpretation of that portion as mound to justify the

sidetrack.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, and we are very lucky in getting the mound on the sidetrack.
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MR. MORRISON:  And because you drilled the straight hole and because you found what you

thought was mound in the logging and on the straight hole you went ahead and did the extra

expense to drill the sidetrack, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And so you knew you were close, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  We assumed we were close.

MR. MORRISON:  Now you didn't find any mound in the logs on the Filipi well.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Let's go to your Exhibit 12 a minute.  Now, if I'm looking at this Exhibit right

you're showing the, the outer contour, the 7500 foot contour, which is your reservoir limit, so to

speak.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Correct, yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And you're showing that closer to the Filipi well, in which there was no

evidence of any mound, than it is to the straight hole Frenzel well in which there was some
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evidence of mound, but not porosity.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Why?

MR. HYRKAS:  Because at, if you'll note that the structure on the Fryburg from Exhibit 11

indicates the subsea Fryburg top of 6444 and the straight hole Frenzel was 6452.  Using the

relationship of the Fryburg this well needed to be closer to the mound.

MR. MORRISON:  What are you showing on your Fryburg map for the Walton 84 well?

MR. HYRKAS:  The Walton 84 was 6445.

MR. MORRISON:  Pretty much the equivalent of the Filipi.  Isn't that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Not exactly.  If you assume that there is a regional dip about the beds and that,

that as you move deeper into the Basin your structure is going to show that the Filipi and Frenzel

were closer to mound than the Walton, which is updip to the south and so the Walton was actually

further away from the mound. 

MR. MORRISON:  What's the orientation of the dip?
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MR. HYRKAS:  In which well?

MR. MORRISON:  In the regional orientation throughout the field, is there a, towards the Basin?

MR. HYRKAS:  Generally to the south, north to the Basin.  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Wait, generally to the south, north to the Basin?

MR. HYRKAS:  North into the Basin.

MR. MORRISON:  North into the Basin.

MR. HYRKAS:  North into the Basin.

MR. MORRISON:  But the Walton well is to the southwest of the Filipi well?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And it still is regional dip?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, it's that the Filipi is closer to mound and the differential compaction

associated with that top gives you closer to mound because, it's, it should, if the, if the Walton well

is at 6445 and that is approximately what the Fryburg should be less the mound, then if the Filipi
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is higher at 6444 it must be closer or approximal to mound.  Because if you, should be at a point,

somewhat deeper, the Filipi should be deeper because you're going Basinward.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay and that's why you think you're closer to the mound when you didn't

find any in either well.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  In which wells?

MR. MORRISON:  In the Filipi and the Walton, for now.

MR. HYRKAS:  No.

MR. MORRISON:  And you really have, again, this is based on well control.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Which exhibit are you on?

MR. MORRISON:  Take your pick, Exhibit 11, Exhibit 12, Exhibit 13.

MR. HYRKAS:  Correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And you have no control whatsoever between the State 74 and the Filipi 76

for the location of your zero line?
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MR. HYRKAS:  No, only the Fryburg relationship.

MR. MORRISON:  And even on the Fryburg you've got no control points between the State 74

and the Filipi 76, do you?

MR. HYRKAS:  They serve as control points.

MR. MORRISON:  But there are none in between them, is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  No.

MR. MORRISON:  Now if, in fact, your 7500 foot contour or your zero line is too far to the east

and should properly be located farther to the west, you have artificially pulled out the reservoir

again to the east.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Could you . . .

MR. MORRISON:  That was probably an inarticulate question.

MR. HYRKAS:  Can you repeat that question?

MR. MORRISON:  All right, let's go, it will probably take a couple questions to equal that one. 

While I'm not asking you to agree with this will you just assume that, in fact, the 7500 foot
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contour is closer to the State 74 well and not as close to the Filipi, say running through the

midpoint of Section 32.

MR. HYRKAS:  Wait, that's not . . .

MR. MORRISON:  Assumption.

MR. HYRKAS:  Could you repeat that again?  You said the 7500 foot contour runs through the

74?

MR. MORRISON:  No, no.  On Exhibit 12 assume that the 7500 foot contour really runs right

through the middle of Section 32.

MR. HYRKAS:  Of 32.

MR. MORRISON:  And that you've pulled it out too far towards the Filipi, okay, just make that

assumption.  That's all I'm asking at this point in time.

MR. BENDER:  You're not asking him to agree with that?

MR. MORRISON:  Right.

MR. BENDER:  Just to make the assumption for the purpose of your question. 
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MR. HYRKAS:  I'll agree with the assumption.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  The effect of pulling the 7500 foot contour to the east is to allocate

substantially more reservoir, not only to the E/2 of Section 32, but also to the W/2 of Section 32. 

Would you agree with that, if you agree with the first assumption?

MR. HYRKAS:  If you agree with the first assumption and if I were to agree with what you just

said, then that would be the effect.

MR. MORRISON:  Because of the way the contour is oriented and the steep dips as you pull the

edges out, you are spreading the top or the thicker part of the mound out.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  I think I need you to repeat that too. 

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  Because of the steep dip on the mound, as you pull the edges of the

mound out, you also pull the upper contours, which are not quite as close together, and therefore

pull the thicker part of the mound down.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm not sure I'm following your concept.  If what you're saying in general is that

the dips will become less near the top that assumption could be put to what you've just said.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  I'm kind of curious.  I'm not sure I understood the purpose of your
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Exhibit No. 10.  Could you explain to me what that is again?

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit No. 10 is to show the observed relationship between Fryburg Structure

and Lodgepole Reservoir.  That is that a thickened section of mound corresponds to a thinned

interval between the Fryburg and the top of the mound.  ______________, the structure of the

Fryburg is high, the mound is thick, or high and where the Fryburg is low, the mound is low or

thin.

MR. MORRISON:  And what's the measurement you're using on your vertical axis?

MR. HYRKAS:  The vertical axis is the isopach value from the Fryburg porosity zone within the

Dickinson area to the top of the clean mound.

MR. MORRISON:  But I thought you didn't have any clean mound in the 79 well, for example?

MR. HYRKAS:  There is zero points.  If you look at the thickness of clean mound on the X axis

you will see those are zero points. 

MR. MORRISON:  Well, how'd you find the top of the clean mound if there's no mound to give it

1100 foot value on the Y axis?

MR. HYRKAS:  You, X, it's, there is, this is part of a series of equations, which defines the, the,

the relationship is not linear.
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MR. MORRISON:  Uh huh.

MR. HYRKAS:  The Y axis is the thickness from the Fryburg to the top of the clean mound, but

in the equations, which we, if you like, we can go through, X is the flat, the plane of the Bakken. 

So you need to define a zero thickness for the interval from Fryburg to clean mound.  And so you

do that by, on the zero wells assuming the Bakken is plane.

MR MORRISON:  Assuming the Bakken is plane?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, assuming it's directly below the, you know, if you are drilling a well, you

would go through to the Fryburg top and then you anticipate a clean mound top.  If you do not hit

it you'll go down to the Bakken or your next available marker horizon.  So, to define a zero edge

of the mound and assume a thickness of Fryburg to clean mound you have to define a deeper plane

for the, for the end value. 

MR. MORRISON:  So what have you defined as your top of the clean line, where you don't have

any clean lines, is it the top of the Bakken?

MR. HYRKAS:  1095 feet from top of the Fryburg to the exact zero or one-foot point of mound.

MR. MORRISON:  So your 1095 are just values that are projected values.  Is that correct? 
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MR. HYRKAS:  That would be a projected value on the far left-hand side of the equation,

knowing that those wells did penetrate the Bakken giving two control points to validate the

interpretation of the 1095.

MR. MORRISON:  But the 1095 is not the value from the top of the Fryburg to the top of the

Bakken, is it?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, it is not. 

MR. MORRISON:  It's the value from the top of the Fryburg to some point above the Bakken that

you've used.

MR. HYRKAS:  That you would assume would be the one-foot point.

MR. MORRISON:  And you've used an equation to back into that.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  The relationship is not linear but does provide a good solution using the

Fryburg structure.  And it is not an exact correlation.  It is, what I feel is the best solution. 

MR. MORRISON:  And so really what you've done, is you've taken some known values, your

known values were, what's shown here as 83, 79, 75, 74?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.
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MR. MORRISON:  And you've projected backwards to come up with the value for 76 and 79.  Is

that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Knowing that they had no mound.  That that would, that that's the science that

you go through.

MR. MORRISON:  Zero put them on the X axis, but you are projecting backwards where they fall

on the Y axis.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That would be, say that again, zero on the X axis.

MR. MORRISON:  Your assumption they have no mound . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Gives them a value of zero on the X axis?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Their location on the Y axis is simply an assumption that you made?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, but you know within a range where it has to be and then you assume, from
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the two points that went down from Fryburg to top of Bakken that there is a plane directly below

and that the beds are not steeply dipping.  There is, there is assumption to this, but you can

validate it.

MR. MORRISON:  But, again, 76 the, the value, the Y value for 76 and 79 are mathematically

derived values?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MORRISON:  If you look at 79 and if you assume that there is 15 feet of mound, in other

words the same assumption that Conoco made when you drilled the initial straight hole . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And justified the sidetrack, where would the value for 79 lie . . . feet of

mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  Interestingly enough I plotted that point and it falls right on the graph.  It's very,

very good fit.

MR. MORRISON:  What's the value for the vertical axis? 

MR. HYRKAS:  The vertical axis is one thousand and . . .
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MR. CARVELL:  What was that number again?

MR. HYRKAS:  1095 feet from Fryburg top to clean mound. 

MR. MORRISON:  What value are you using right now?

MR. HYRKAS:  1095.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, so that is the value that is shown on your Exhibit 10, is 1095?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  The stars could not be superimposed.  They overlay each other.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay on the, the Frenzel 79 straight hole log on Exhibit No. 8, where that

1095 point would be on the log.  You don't have the the top of the Fryburg on this . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  I said it was, yes, I said it was calculated because we did not think there was

clean mound in there.  I guess I could pull a Fryburg top and tell you where it is.  But I can tell you

it's a calculated value.

MR. MORRISON:  Why don't you tell me where the top of the Fryburg is . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  The top of the Fryburg?
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MR. MORRISON:  . . . ________ log Frenzel straight well?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.  Top of the Fryburg porosity, the top marker was 8964. 

MR. MORRISON:  8964?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And 1095, am I doing this right?  You add those two together?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  10,059.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  That's what, somewhere around the upper Bakken shale, isn't it?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is . . .

MR. MORRISON:  If you look . . .
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MR. HYRKAS:  Yes and that leaves the interpretation that this is not mound facies.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  But you've already agreed that the, I forgot your footages and I didn't

jot them down, but that the area of clean gamma ray up above the 10,000 foot marker, that, that is

mound, although not porous.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  It is clean limestone, but probably not mound.

MR. MORRISON:  Clean limestone?

MR. HYRKAS:  Of 10 API gamma ray ___________ it is not porous. 

MR. MORRISON:  And if you use the top of that feature which is what, 9970, give or take?

MR. HYRKAS:  9975.

MR. MORRISON:  9975?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And if you plot that, that point on your Exhibit 10 which would be, what

around 1100 give or take, or excuse me, slightly over a thousand, 1011?.
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MR. HYRKAS:  Uh huh.

MR. MORRISON:  It doesn't confirm very well with what your projections are, does it?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's why it's, it's not mound.  It's a possible debris slope off the mound, it is

nonporous.  If you agree that the mound is porous, then this is not porous mound.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  The mathematical calculations tells you that what shows on the log as

limestone is not mound.  Is that what you say?

MR. HYRKAS:  Could, could you repeat this, the mathematical calculation?

MR. MORRISON:  The mathematical calculation that you did to derive your points for 76 and

79 . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  Assume that this was not mound, not part of the mound.  It was a clean

limestone, not associated with the mound.

MR. MORRISON:  So, that's, that's why it's not mound, because it's an assumed value?

MR. HYRKAS:  Value.  It was not porous, it was not in the oil or water column, it was not

associated.
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MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  Let's look at your Exhibit 12 for a minute.  And, and while you're

doing it you may also want to have Exhibit 11 handy, because we kind of talk about the same, it

may affect both maps.  Would you agree with me that you have very limited control for the north

end of the feature?

MR. HYRKAS:  Define limited.

MR. MORRISON:  What data do you have to show your contours, any place after they leave

Sections 31, 32 and head to the north?

MR. HYRKAS:  The concentric nature of the mound that we've seen on three boundaries indicates

with the Filipi 76 well control point in Section 32 and the Frenzel straight hole in Section 31 that

this is the appropriate boundary. 

MR. MORRISON:  The only control you're using for the northern edge of the reservoir are the

Filipi, the Frenzel and then just the general shape for the rest of the contours?

MR. HYRKAS:  Along with the, the Fryburg structure map in Section 29, showing the DHSU 20

at 6462 subsea being distant from the mound.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay and no similar control on the, on the northwest side of the feature.  Is

that right?
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MR. HYRKAS:  I would consider control on northwest being the Frenzel.

MR. MORRISON:  Is this the same type of interpretation that led Conoco to drill three dry holes?

MR. HYRKAS:  I am not understanding your question.  We, you don't drill dry holes for the heck

of it.

MR. MORRISON:  Well is this the same interpretation that told you there would be productive

mound at the Filipi 76 location?

MR. BENDER:  What interpretation are you talking about?

MR. MORRISON:  The general regional contours and what limited well control you had before

drilling the Filipi well.

MR. HYRKAS:  The Filipi gave us a control point which we did not have before.

MR. MORRISON:  And before drilling that you assumed that that would be productive limestone

mound.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Tough price to pay, huh?

MR. MORRISON:  And you were wrong, right?
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MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And you were wrong at the Frenzel straight hole location?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.  This, this is what defines the mound boundaries.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  And you were wrong at the Walton? 

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  You haven't drilled one to the north where you've been wrong yet, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  There's no reason to drill anymore to the north.

MR. MORRISON:  Do you concede that it's possible that your contouring on the north end of the

feature is incorrect?

MR. HYRKAS:  Everything is subject to interpretation, but this I believe is the best and most

accurate interpretation and if that is the case, and I believe that, there is no reason to drill there.

MR. MORRISON:  Is it confirmed by your seismic?
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MR. HYRKAS:  What is confirmed by our seismic?

MR. MORRISON:  Your structural interpretation or your interpretation. 

MR. HYRKAS:  We used no seismic in the interpretation of the mound.

MR. MORRISON:  No, I asked if it was confirmed by seismic that you now have.

MR. HYRKAS:  I, we don't use seismic for the interpretation of the mound boundaries. 

MR. MORRISON:  You have 3D seismic covering Sections 29, 30, 31, 32, 5 and 6, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  We use seis, we use 3D seismic as an exploratory tool.  Exploratory wise we feel

that we can probably see the tops of the mounds, but by no stretch of the imagination can we see

the reservoir limits on the sides. 

MR. MORRISON:  Is there anything in the 3D seismic coverage that you have over the area that

contradicts your interpretation that you're presenting to the Commission today?

MR. HYRKAS:  The 3D seismic has not even been interpreted yet.

MR. MORRISON:  When was that 3D seismic shot?
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MR. HYRKAS:  3D seismic was shot from December of 1993 through March of 1994.  We had a

series of problems with the 3D.  As you know in North Dakota we had some severe weather this

winter.  We lost survey notes, we had to find and put them back into their correct spots.  We had a

very hard time with the 3D along with the, this is a, an extremely large 3D.  I'm not sure if I know

anybody that's shot 24 square miles of 3D.  This entire, this 3D entails a tremendous work effort to

get it all interpreted. 

MR. MORRISON:  So you haven't even looked at the 3D yet, is that what you're telling me?

MR. HYRKAS:  We are in the process of interpreting it.

MR. MORRISON:  Has it been processed?

MR. HYRKAS:  It's only, there's portions that have been processed.

MR. MORRISON:  Have portions on Sections 29 and 30 been processed?

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm not sure of that.  I'm not part of the interpretation.  I do not interpret the 3D

seismic over this.

MR. MORRISON:  Why don't you explain the difference between processing seismic and

interpreting seismic?
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MR. HYRKAS:  I'm not qualified to answer that.

MR. MORRISON:  Do you know if anyone in Conoco has looked at the 3D seismic data on

Sections 29, 30, 31 and 32 with relation to the matters being presented to the Commission today?

MR. HYRKAS:  I cannot qualify, I cannot qualitatively say that anyone has looked at the seismic

on the 3D in those particular sections. 

MR. MORRISON:  So is it your interpretation or the interpretation you presented today, is the best

available interpretation?

MR. HYRKAS:  I'd say it's, I believe it's the most accurate.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, based upon the data that's available?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. MORRISON:  If you're wrong how are the correlative rights of the owners in, let's pick

Section 30 for example, going to be protected by approving this unit?

MR. HYRKAS:  If I'm wrong?

MR. MORRISON:  Right.
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MR. HYRKAS:  We have a certain portion of Section 30 already in the unit.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.

MR. HYRKAS:  You're assuming that wells be drilled outside the unit to define whether I'm

wrong or not?

MR. MORRISON:  You're assuming a well is going to be drilled outside the unit?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, how, how else would you define it as wrong?

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  And in your opinion is there substantially more risk in drilling a well

outside the unit in Section 30, at a 1320, 1320 location than there would be at a 660, 660 location?

MR. HYRKAS:  According to the interpretation that would be correct. 

MR. MORRISON:  And yet Conoco today is asking the Commission to require that any well

drilled in the SE/4 of Section 30 be 660 away from the unit outline.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  From the unit outline, yes. 

MR. MORRISON:  Then do you agree that Conoco would probably oppose any request for an
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exception location that would allow a well to be drilled in the SE/4 of Section 30 closer than 660

to the unit boundary?

MR. HYRKAS:  Do I agree that Conoco would probably oppose it?

MR. MORRISON:  Uh huh.

MR. HYRKAS:  I can't speak for management on this.  I, I'm not sure.  I will guess we probably

would, but that's, I can't make that decision.

MR. MORRISON:  I don't have any further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  Thank you.  Just so I'm clear about this, your interpretation is based principally

on the well logs, the data from the well logs?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct. 

MR. WEFALD:  And from that data you have picked out information about the Fryburg area and

the Lodgepole.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.
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MR. WEFALD:  And your maps then, the exhibits that you've presented here that you've testified

to, basically are strictly an interpretation of the data from the well log.

MR. HYRKAS:  That is any geologic map, is an interpretation.  That is correct.

MR. WEFALD:  As I look at your exhibits, I believe if you take a look at Exhibit 11 and compare

that to Exhibit 12, 11's the Fryburg, is it not?  And 12 is the Lodgepole?

MR. HYRKAS:  Correct.

MR. WEFALD:  It looks to me like what you're basically suggesting here, this is almost a, there's

almost a one-to-one relationship from top to bottom.

MR. HYRKAS:  No, that is not what I'm suggesting.  There is no one-to-one relationship.  It is a,

the graph in Exhibit 10 shows it to be a relationship, but it is not linear.  But there is a relationship.

 But it is not linear.  It is defined by the graph.

MR. WEFALD:  But is it also true that as each of these wells have been drilled the interpretation,

the maps I should say, interpreting this area that Conoco has, those maps have changed with each

hole that's been drilled.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct, that's the nature of, of the work.
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MR. WEFALD:  And is it safe to assume that if there were another hole drilled, anywhere, that, in

this area, that would probably result in another change to the map?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's most logical.

MR. WEFALD:  On that Exhibit No. 10 where was the Walton 84 set on that?

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit No. 10, it would be at the zero thickness, Y axis in the neighborhood of

1100 feet.

MR. WEFALD:  With the 76 and the 79?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  I think, what was the reason that the 84 was the, let me see, yes, the Walton 84

was the only well that was left off here?

MR. HYRKAS:  Because we already had overlapping data points, 76 and 79 which was already

pointed out that I couldn't superimpose the two on each other.  There was no reason to

superimpose an additional data point on that.

MR. WEFALD:  Just so I'm clear, the 79, although there is, I think it's 15 feet of mound, you
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nevertheless show zero feet of mound.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is subject to interpretation.  I do not interpret that as mound.  It's clean

limestone, but not associated with the mound. 

MR. WEFALD:  It's different structure then you're saying?

MR. HYRKAS:  Excuse me?

MR. WEFALD:  A different structure, that 15 feet is different from the mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  The 15 feet of clean limestone is different from the porous mound facies, that is

true.

MR. WEFALD:  Is that, is that clean lime, that limestone seen anywhere else in that Fryburg area?

MR. HYRKAS:  In that, if you could qualify that as just any well in the stratigraphical interval,

I'm not sure if I follow the exact question.  There's been clean lime seen in other wells in the

Williston Basin.  But, are you, if you're asking me is that clean lime been seen around the

Dickinson-Lodgepole Area.  Is that your question?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes.
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MR. HYRKAS:  That clean lime has not been seen in anything that has been associated with

mound. 

MR. WEFALD:  There's been some discussion about a dipmeter, a dipmeter data.  And, frankly,

what does a dipmeter do?

MR. HYRKAS:  A dipmeter measures the orientation of bedding planes, within a rock.  This is

general, I'm not going to, that's that's what the tool is used for, is to see what the dip of beds is.

MR. WEFALD:  Is there, what kind of, what kind of dips then can be expected in each of these

wells, the dry ones, even the ones that are producing. 

MR. HYRKAS:  What exhibit are you on sir?

MR. WEFALD:  Oh I guess that you can look at No. 11, I guess that would be the one we looked

at.

MR. HYRKAS:  Well Exhibit No., we don't have any dipmeter data over the Fryburg.

MR. WEFALD:  Well let's check No. 12 then.

MR. HYRKAS:  Exhibit 12?  Okay, go ahead and repeat your question, if you would please.
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MR. WEFALD:  What type of dips can be expected near or at the margins of this property?

MR. HYRKAS:  Steep dips

MR. WEFALD:  Steep dips?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes. 

MR. WEFALD:  What's the dipmeter in the Frenzel 79 straight hole show?

MR. HYRKAS:  We have no dipmeter there.  It's an imaging log.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.

MR. HYRKAS:  In the sidetrack. 

MR. WEFALD:  Is the imaging log, is that essentially the same thing as a dipmeter?

MR. HYRKAS:  I think we're confusing, are we talking about the Frenzel straight hole?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes, right now we are.

MR. HYRKAS:  There isn't an imaging log, I don't believe, in the straight hole.
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MR. WEFALD:  No imaging log, no dipmeter in the straight hole?

MR. HYRKAS:  No.

MR. WEFALD:  What, what about the core data, does that show anything?

MR. HYRKAS:  The core data shows there are dips, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Which way?

MR. HYRKAS:  It was unoriented core.

MR. WEFALD:  But they were steep, I take it?

MR. HYRKAS:  Steep is, define steep?  I, I have my own definition for steep, but . . .

MR. WEFALD:  I suppose we'd measure steep in terms of degrees of dip.  What would you say it

was?

MR. HYRKAS:  I think the degree of dip from the unoriented core were roughly 15 to 20 degrees,

slightly higher, slightly lower.  There's bedding planes in there.  If you're talking about an

interpretation of a bedding plane as a dip now and not actual dipmeter data.



Page 106

MR. WEFALD:  Comparing the Filipi 76, what is the dipmeter and the data show there?

MR. HYRKAS:  We have no dipmeter at the 76.

MR. WEFALD:  Do you have any core data that would show you a dip there?

MR. HYRKAS:  I don't believe we have any core data in the 76.

MR. WEFALD:  You have nothing in 76 to show you any dip at all?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.  Were you present at each of these four meetings of the working interest

owners?

MR. HYRKAS:  I was present at the meetings from January 1st.

MR. WEFALD:  Were you present at the meeting . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  I, except, there was one meeting which only Kevin Preston showed, from Aviva,

which, I, I went into the meeting and everything was discussed and my name was left off of that

particular, on the minutes, but I did attend that meeting.  Everything since the first of January I
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have attended.

MR. WEFALD:  There was, at one of these meetings, an agreement on the oil-water contact level,

was there not?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, there was.

MR. WEFALD:  At the outset of that meeting, did various working interest owners come in with

different data as to where the oil-water contact was?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  In fact, what you referred to as unanimous agreement, was the result of

compromise among all of the working interest owners, was it not?

MR. HYRKAS:  If you were to qualify, yes, this probably . . .

MR. WEFALD:  They had to agree on something, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  We had to agree, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay, so that number was . . .
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MR. HYRKAS:   . . . call it compromise or call it everyone getting together and deciding it was

correct.  I'm not sure what you term in phraseology, but it was decided upon unanimously.

MR. WEFALD:  In fact the same thing is true about this notion of porosity, is it not?  Everybody

said, look we might as well agree that we're going to have uniform porosity throughout this

formation because that's the easiest way to do it, isn't it?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, I'm not going to characterize it as the easiest way to do it, but it was the

best solution to the problem. 

MR. WEFALD:  I mean, it's certainly easier than to have different levels of porosity at different

parts of the formation when you have to make different calculations.

MR. HYRKAS:  I, I think that's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  And again that was a matter of compromise, was it not?

MR. HYRKAS:  Understandably that everyone agreed yes.

MR. WEFALD:  And everybody had different data?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct.
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MR. WEFALD:  And everybody had, in these meetings everybody had different maps showing

the net pay, isn't that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  ____ net, I'm not sure if everyone had a different map, but there were different,

alternate solutions provided.  Not everyone, but there was differences.

MR. WEFALD:  And the map that was put into this unit plan here is the one that was agreed upon

by, you said, 75% of the people at that vote.  75% interest of the vote.

MR. HYRKAS:  Could, could you restate that, it was unanimous, I don't know if you want to

say . . .

MR. WEFALD:  Just a minute.

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay.

MR. WEFALD:  I believe this unit plan, the testimony in this case has been that, that the maps in

here were agreed upon by 75% interest owners.

MR. HYRKAS:  The maps?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes.
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MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, but the contact was not a . . .

MR. WEFALD:  I'm talking about a different thing now.

MR. HYRKAS:  Sure, fine.

MR. WEFALD:  We know the water contact and the porosity were matters of compromise in

agreement among all the working interest owners. 

MR. HYRKAS:  Correct. 

MR. WEFALD:  And what my point is, that the maps that are submitted here are not the result of

compromise, but are in fact the maps dictated by the people who had the 75% interest.

MR. BENDER:  Which maps are you referring to, Bob?

MR. WEFALD:  I would think anyone of these that shows the net pay.  The net pay map is the

most important one.

MR. CARVELL:  Which exhibit?

MR. WEFALD:  I'm going to find out.  __________________.
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MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, there were various maps presented at each meeting and the only map that

passed was the one I'm presenting.

MR. WEFALD:  And that was the one that was ___ Conoco map?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Without any compromise, that this is the map, this is the one we're going to go

with.

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, but we did not have the votes to, to pass our oil-water contacts which were

higher in the 83.  We did not have the votes.  We had to compromise on that.

MR. WEFALD:  And we compromised on porosity?

MR. HYRKAS:  We, consensus on porosity, there was no compromise among the groups,

everyone agreed, so, I, I don't know how you compromise on total agreement.

MR. WEFALD:  I guess you don't compromise on total agreement.  I guess that's a good point. 

I'm curious as to why, why you think the relationship between the Fryburg and the mound is so

critical.

MR. HYRKAS:  Because it incorporates more well data than the actual mound points.
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MR. WEFALD:  But, in fact, it incorporates at a different level.  We're talking about thousands of

feet apart here, at least hundreds and hundreds of feet apart.

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, and that's why I went to great pains to express the reason that relationship

exists.

MR. WEFALD:  Let's see Exhibit 11 a minute.  All right, Mr. Morrison asked you about this, I'm

not certain I understood your response to it.  This is a, 11 is the Fryburg Zone.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  Fryburg porosity zone in the Dickinson area, correct.

MR. WEFALD:  If I look at at the Filipi 76 and the Walton 84 you would concede that we've got a

one-foot difference, isn't it?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, and that, that was a question that Mr. Morrison brought up.

MR. WEFALD:  And, tell me again, why then on 12 is the, is the 7500 foot mark basically right

on top of the Filipi 76, whereas it's offset from the Walton 74, in fact we're trying to use data to

interpret.

MR. HYRKAS:  That's fine, yes.  Going through it again, there is an assumption that the 76 is

closer to mound than the 84.  And that's what the map shows.
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MR. WEFALD:  And what is the, what's the basis of that?

MR. HYRKAS:  The basis of this is that if there is a dipping slope into the Basin, going from

south, at the Walton 84 to north, through the Frenzel and going off north into the Basin, there is a

plane dipping into that Basin.  If the Walton 84 is the same top as the Filipi then the Filipi has to

be closer, or approximal to the mound because it should have a point that is lower, given any

normal circumstance, okay?  So, assuming that the tops are the same, which they are one foot

different, in favor of the Filipi, the actual Filipi point could, could have been as low as 6452

because it's almost adjacent to, on a east-west plane with the Frenzel.  So, using the relationship

that there is a dipping plane beneath, in the Bakken and the base of the mound, that the Filipi has

to be closer to mound.

MR. WEFALD:  And the Frenzel, excuse me, in the Walton 84 I think then you must of had a

dipmeter data or some type of data that indicated dip?

MR. HYRKAS:  Indicating dip?  No, no we did not.

MR. WEFALD:  So, in the Walton 84 and the Filipi 76, from dipmeters to core logs you didn't

have any indication of dip at all?

MR. HYRKAS:  No.
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MR. WEFALD:  Then how are you coming up with an indication of dip, an assumption of dip, for

the Walton 84?

MR. HYRKAS:  Just what I explained.  You have to assume that the Filipi is closer to mound

because there is dip into the Basin.  And the dip into the Basin on all beds is going north into the

Basin.  Therefore, a point, lets say on the south portion of the map is going to be structurally

higher just because of its position than a well on the north end of the map because there is a plane

dipping into the Basin.  Therefore, if you have two equal points which are different because one is

Basinward, it must be closer to the edge of the mound.

MR. WEFALD:  Well the dip in this particular case, you say it's 2 north, 0° north?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, it's, I could characterize it within 15 or 20 degrees, you know, within 10° of

north to east and 10° northwest, but what it does, is it gives you a plane into the Basin.  Now, I'm

not going to fudge a .4° or .2°, it's, if, it's a phenomenon that is mappable that the Basin is north

and it's dip is into the Basin.

MR. WEFALD:  Do you have any data or any maps showing a regional dip?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, I do not have a map with me that would show that regional.

MR. WEFALD:  Does Conoco have any such maps at all?  Whether you have them with you or

not?
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MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, I would be able to show maps that show that phenomena.  That particular

phenomena is very, very common, common knowledge.

MR. WEFALD:  And if there was seismic data available, is it your testimony as an expert if the

seismic data is not at all as reliable as your projection about what the mound looks like, based on

what the Fryburg looks like?

MR. HYRKAS:  What I said was that the, the seismic is an exploratory tool and it can be used for

the exploration to find new mounds, but you're going beyond the limits of the tools to try to use it

for the boundaries of the mound.

MR. WEFALD:  Let me ask you this.  There were some questions Mr. Morrison asked about 3D

seismic.  Do you have any, you have 2D seismic on these four, these six tracts of land? 

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, we do.

MR. WEFALD:  And did you make a map of the 2D seismic?

MR. HYRKAS:  Did I make, no I did not.

MR. WEFALD:  There is no map that Conoco has showing us 2D seismic?



Page 116
MR. HYRKAS:  No, there is no map.  Well, from what I've gone through there is no map.  There

could be, I'm trying to think if there is.

MR. BENDER:  If you know.

MR. HYRKAS:  I can't think of any map that we've done. 

MR. WEFALD:  And the 3D seismic that was shot, completed in March, still isn't mapped?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. WEFALD:  I mean, is it you normal practice, is it Conoco's normal practice not to make

maps based on seismic?

MR. HYRKAS:  It is Conoco's normal practice to, in terms of exploratory or in terms of

development?

MR. WEFALD:  Well, let's talk about exploratory.

MR. HYRKAS:  Exploratory, yes, maps are made.  But risk is involved with those maps.  You

have to apply a certain degree of risk to any mapping that you do and that comes out of the way

you drill wells, economics, etc.  So any interpretation that involves seismic also has to involve a

significant amount of risk. 
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MR. WEFALD:  And, so what you're telling me is that, in fact, Conoco does have seismic

exploratory maps of this area?

MR. HYRKAS:  The 3D is not interpreted.

MR. WEFALD:  2D?

MR. HYRKAS:  We have some 2D exploratory.  And that was how the well really got drilled, the

original 74 well was on a seismic anomaly we thought was deeper.

MR. WEFALD:  The seismic data was good enough to find a producing hole?

MR. HYRKAS:  The seismic data was good enough to find the top of structure.  But was not good

enough to find the edges. 

MR. WEFALD:  Exhibit No. 13 I, I just want to make sure that I understood this . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm sorry I missed, what exhibit?

MR. WEFALD:  Exhibit No. 13.

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay. 
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MR. WEFALD:  That of course is based on the Fryburg again, is it not?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, this is based off Exhibit No. 12 and the oil-water contact.

MR. WEFALD:  And, when you say it's based on the oil-water contact that's based on the

compromise agreement among all the working interest owners where they agreed it's what the oil-

water contact was?

MR. HYRKAS:  No, there was no compromise on the oil-water contact.  That was unanimously

approved.

MR. WEFALD:  Yes, but, I mean, I thought you told me, you were at the meeting, that everybody

came in with a different oil-water contact?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, there is a voting procedure, that when the vote came through for the oil-

water contact everyone voted for it.  Now irrespective of whether we all bring maps when we vote

on something that's, that's what I'm talking about.  Because . . .

MR. WEFALD:  Just so, just so I'm clear, I'm not trying to make, I'm not trying to make this, this

too painful, but are you telling me there was absolutely no discussion about the oil-water contact,

everybody got a vote and it turned out that everybody walked away from their points, and they

wound up with the unanimous oil-water contact? 
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MR. HYRKAS:  There was significant discussion on the oil-water contact, but when it came time

to vote, everyone voted for the oil-water contact that were established by well.

MR. WEFALD:  And there was someone in that group who said let's vote to make it at such and

such a location?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. WEFALD:  And that was based on all the discussion?

MR. HYRKAS:  That's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  Yeah, okay, sounds like a compromise to me.

MR. HYRKAS:  Unanimous.

MR. WEFALD:  A unanimous compromise?  Everyone agrees.

MR. HYRKAS:  Unanimous.  It was unanimous, yes, sir.

MR. WEFALD:  On the, on the Filipi 76 well, or I guess on any of the wells on the edge, the

projected top of the Fryburg to the top of the mound, at that Filipi 76 location . . .
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MR. HYRKAS:  Mr. Wefald, and the exhibit would be?

MR. WEFALD:  Well, let's try No. 13.

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay . . .

MR. CARVELL:  We are ready to restart.  Mr. Wefald, your question.

MR. WEFALD:  ______ Fryburg 76 on Exhibit 12.

MR. HYRKAS:  You said Filipi 76?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes, Filipi, I'm sorry, yes.  If we're talking about the top of the Fryburg, we're

talking about the top of the mound, is the, is the distance that uses the 1095 number, one thousand

ninety five?

MR. HYRKAS:  Is the distance I used the 1095 number to top of mound?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes.

MR. HYRKAS:  Correct.  Well, that would be the, the way the equation would work, yes. 
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MR. WEFALD:  Why is that, I'm just curious as to why that places it, could it be, could it be a

couple hundred feet to the west?

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay, now I'm losing you.

MR. WEFALD:  The edge.

MR. HYRKAS:  Could the edge be a couple hundred feet to the west of the Filipi?

MR. WEFALD:  Yes.

MR. HYRKAS:  There is no, yes, it's very close.  This, this map is, it's probably a hundred now,

could be a couple hundred by your interpretation.  That's where the edge is, yes. 

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.  Another question, _____.  Let's assume that the State 74 wasn't there and

we could drill anywhere in the section, how many, how many feet west would you want to put the

Filipi 76 before it gets pay in the Lodgepole?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, first of course, I'd like to drill the State 74 if there was no well there. 

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.

MR. HYRKAS:  Okay, because I, now I'm drilling the second well?
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MR. WEFALD:  Yes.  How many feet, how many feet west does the Filipi 76 have to go before it

gets into the pay?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, let's check the map.  Exhibit 13? 

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.

MR. HYRKAS:  I don't have the exact ruler, but you can see the Filipi is, I can't give you the exact

number, feet west, I wish I could, but the zero boundary versus the Filipi looks to be about 400

feet, 500 feet.

MR. WEFALD:  One final question about 3D then I'm all done.  This 3D was taken, shot, after the

wells were in and you had some indication where the producers were and where the dry holes

were, is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  I'm trying to think if all the wells were . . .

MR. WEFALD:  From December 19th to March 94. 

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, we drilled the Walton well, I can't recall, but we had predominant well

control, is what you're asking.
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MR. WEFALD:  Why, why would Conoco spend the money for a 3D if they don't think it does

them any good for locating boundaries?

MR. HYRKAS:  Well, because 3D is, as 2D is, really only works best with analogs.  We know

that we can see large mounds, the tops of structures, the tops of the mounds.  Seismic can tell you

that, but it cannot tell you these very fine wave form boundaries that are associated with the

mounds because of the, the resolution of the tool.  So using it as an exploratory tool and using the

analog of the Lodgepole Field we intend to use the 3D as an exploratory tool.

MR. WEFALD:  I have no further questions. 

MR. NORTON:  I can see Mr. Wefald you did listen when you were on this side of the table. 

(Laughter)  I just have a couple questions, I think most of the ground has been covered already. 

Now, the oil-water contact is relatively flat, what is the, the maximum difference in elevation

between the highest, highest well with an oil-water contact versus the lowest?  You can talk in

relative terms, it doesn't have to be exact, shall we talk about 10 foot, 20 foot?

MR. HYRKAS:  The one that was approved by the working interest owners has a highest of

7360.5 at the 83 and a lowest, this is subsea depth 7369 at the Frenzel sidetrack.

MR. NORTON:  So we're talking about 9-foot?

MR. HYRKAS:  9-foot.
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MR. NORTON:  Okay. Now, when you determine volumes of this reservoir per tract, was it only

the geologic interpretation that was taken into account or was there engineering data such as a

material balance, etc?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, there was a lot of engineering data.

MR. NORTON:  So that will come later with the engineering witness?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. NORTON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. HICKS:  On Exhibit 14, Jerry, based on the, was it based upon the reservoir above the oil-

water contact or just the perforated intervals in the well?

MR. HYRKAS:  This was based on the reservoir above the oil-water contact.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, as approved by everybody in . . .

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes.

MR. HICKS:  And you indicated that the Frenzel, when you drilled, when you ran your porosity
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logs in that to find out if that was mound or not, that 15 feet of clean limestone, you said that it did

not have any porosity development in it.

MR. HYRKAS:  That was from a sonic log. 

MR. HICKS:  Okay.  And what was the calculated porosity?

MR. HYRKAS:  The calculated porosity appeared to be 0 to 1%.

MR. HICKS:  Okay.  You also indicated that the other wells in the, the mound that you penetrated

did not have this limestone, clean limestone associated with the mound.  Did it have any clean

limestone of this type, such as the Frenzel well?

MR. HYRKAS:  The . . .

MR. HICKS:  Below the mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  The, the wells which do not define the mound, Filipi, Walton, they did not have

any of this API 10 Unit gamma ray that was seen in the Frenzel.

MR. HICKS:  Okay.  Any, any wells that were drilled that have been found productive, did they

encounter any clean limestone that was tight?  In the approximate . . .
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MR. HYRKAS:  In the approximate interval?  I can't, I can't think of any.  The minimum porosity

we saw was 1.7%, and I'm, I'm not sure if I'm following your questioning exactly, correctly.

MR. HICKS:  No, I was just curious if this was a mappable feature across any portion of the

mound?

MR. HYRKAS:  Oh, as a type _________ that goes across the mound, let's say, no that is not the

case.  It is not a mappable feature.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. CARVELL:  Lawrence?

MR. BENDER:  I have just a couple follow-up questions.  Jerry, there was some mention about

some 2D seismic that Conoco had in its possession, that was shot in the 1990's.  Do you recall

those questions?

MR. HYRKAS:  There was questions about 2D seismic and we did shoot two lines in 1991, I

believe. 

MR. BENDER:  What do you know about the quality of that seismic?  Is it good seismic?

MR. HYRKAS:  All I, I do know that the quality was 60-fold data.
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MR. BENDER:  And based on that seismic you drilled the State 74 well.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And you drilled that well as a Silurian well.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  It actually went down to Winnipeg, I believe, but one of our primary objectives

was the Silurian, yes.

MR. BENDER:  And what did Conoco find at the Silurian?

MR. HYRKAS:  We found that the zones were wet. 

MR. BENDER:  So it was a nonproducer.  Is that correct?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have.

MR. CARVELL:  Any recross?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes, just a very few follow-up.  Jerry, you agree that in some of the wells that
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are productive you do have tight space.  Is that right?  Little or no porosity?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, that's correct.  1.7% is the lowest we recorded.

MR. MORRISON:  And nevertheless the limestone in that well that has low porosity is still

considered to be part of the mound.  Is that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  That is correct. 

MR. MORRISON:  And the Frenzel portion of clean limestone is then excluded because it didn't

have porosity, right?

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.  Also, in connection with a question from Wes, I think you said that

there was some, a lot of engineering data that went into the allocation factors or the parameters.

MR. HYRKAS:  Yes. 

MR. MORRISON:  And I think Wes used as an example, material balance, in fact there is no

material balance that went into those factors, is there?

MR. HYRKAS:  I would defer that question to our expert witness in reservoir modeling.
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MR. MORRISON:  Well, you know that the recoverable oil factors were based solely on

volumetric calculations which assume constant reservoir conditions and so the only variable that

went into the volumetrics was the thickness of pay, isn't that right?

MR. HYRKAS:  The only variable that went into the volumetrics was the thickness of pay.

MR. MORRISON:  No further questions.

MR. WEFALD:  None.

MR. CARVELL:  Anything further?

MR. BENDER:  Nothing further.

MR. CARVELL:  Any questions up here?  What time is it?  Well, I think we'll break and

reconvene at 12:30.  Okay?  Good afternoon, we'll reconvene the hearing.  Mr. Bender you may

call your next witness. 

MR. BENDER:  Our next witness is Mr. Kevin Zorn.  Kevin, would you state your name for the

record please?

MR. ZORN:  Kevin W. Zorn.
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MR. BENDER:  By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

MR. ZORN:  I'm employed by Conoco Incorporated as a Senior Staff or as a Staff Reservoir

Engineer. 

MR. BENDER:  And in that capacity have you ever had an opportunity to testify before the North

Dakota Industrial Commission on previous occasions and had your qualifications accepted as that

of an expert?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, I have.

MR. BENDER:  Are you familiar with Conoco's application for unitization of the Lodgepole Pool

for the Dickinson Field?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, I am.

MR. BENDER:  And what's been your involvement in that unitization process?

MR. ZORN:  I've been the reservoir engineer working on Conoco's development of the Lodgepole

Reservoir since the first well was spud in November of 1992. 

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, since you've been involved with this field since the first well was spud
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and drilled, can you give us a brief summary of the history of the field starting with the drilling of

that first well?

MR. ZORN:  Conoco completed the Dickinson State No. 74 in the W/2 of Section 32 in the

Lodgepole in February of 1993 with 129 feet of perforations in the Lodgepole.  After several days

of testing, the choke was increased to a 24-64th inch and was produced at a rate of over 2000

barrels of oil per day and about one million cubic feet of associated gas.  Conoco then curtailed

production on the well to 600 barrels a day while we constructed a nine-mile gas pipeline and this

was done in order to limit the amount of gas which had to be flared during the pipeline

construction.  When the pipeline was connected in late May of 1993 Conoco once again opened

the choke on the State 74 to a 24-64th inch and the well once again produced at an initial rate of

approximately 2000 barrels of oil per day.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Kevin, after the Kadrmas, or excuse me after the State 74 well, what was

the next well that Conoco drilled in the field? 

MR. ZORN:  Conoco then moved the rig and we drilled a well about two miles to the southwest,

an exploratory well, which is not within the unit boundary.  We then came up and drilled the

Kadrmas No. 75, which is located in the S/2 of Section 31, this well was drilled in September of

1993.  It was initially completed in a lower interval of the Lodgepole which proved to be wet on a

production test.  We then perforated 102 feet of Lodgepole comparable to the State No. 74 on a

24-64th inch choke the Kadrmas No. 75 produced around 1600 barrels of oil per day.
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MR. BENDER:  You then moved to the north, did you not?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, the Frenzel No. 79 was spud at the end of August and the initial well did not

encounter a productive Lodgepole zone.  Conoco then sidetracked the Frenzel southeast and

intersected the pay zone at approximately a 45 to a 48° angle.  Initially, this well was also put on a

24/64th inch choke, like the first two wells, but within a very short period of time it began to

produce water.  After several days of testing we found that water production stopped if we

decreased the choke size to 12/64th inch, where the well produced approximately 350 barrels of

oil per day.

MR. BENDER:  Where did Conoco drill its next well?

MR. ZORN:  Conoco's next drilled the Filipi No. 76 in the E/2 of Section 32 and this well was a

dry hole. 

MR. BENDER:  Why didn't Conoco sidetrack the Filipi well like it did the Frenzel well?

MR. ZORN:  Well we felt very strongly that the productive pay zone was going to be located west

of the Filipi straight hole location.  Since the location of the Filipi was so close to the lease line, it

was approximately 700 feet from the east mid-section line of the stand-up 320 unit, it was not

possible to sidetrack this well and make an economic completion at a legal location.  So the well

was plugged and abandoned.  Conoco had partners in this well, and all their partners agree with

our recommendation to plug the well.
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MR. BENDER:  What happened next then Kevin?

MR. ZORN:  Conoco then drilled the State "A" No. 83 in the NE/4 of Section 5.  As previously

testified to, this well just clipped the edge of the productive mound.  We only perforated seven feet

because of our fear of water coning as we had previously seen on the Frenzel No. 79.  The State

"A" No. 83 was completed in late November of 1993 and it produced about 300 barrels of oil per

day on a 16/64th choke.  Since this well was producing at a much lower flowing tubing pressure

than the other wells we suspected it was also going to start producing water, so we made no

attempt to bump the choke any higher. 

MR. BENDER:  Okay, after you drilled the State 83 did you then move to the west into Section 6?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, the Walton No. 84 was drilled in January of 1994.  And it was a dry hole.

MR. BENDER:  Did Conoco give any consideration to sidetracking the Walton well?

MR. ZORN:  We evaluated sidetracking the Walton No. 84 at the time we logged the dry hole. 

Based on our interpretation we felt the chances of making a successful completion on the sidetrack

were extremely low.  Since we had encountered a very thin pay section in the State 83 located to

the west, we felt that if we were lucky enough to hit the Lodgepole mound it would probably be

wet.  Therefore, we did not feel a potential economic benefit of sidetracking was great enough to

offset the risks of this drilling operation.  We also had a 25% working interest partner in the well
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and Conoco made a recommendation to the partner to plug and abandon the well which they

approved. 

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, as Conoco's reservoir engineer on this project, what kind of work have

you done in preparation for today's hearing?

MR. ZORN:  Well, as I mentioned earlier, I've been involved with the development of this field

since before the first discovery well was drilled, up through the drilling of all these wells.  Since

I've been working on the project full-time for almost two years, I'm very familiar with the drilling,

completion and production history of all the wells.  During the drilling of these wells I've

participated in the gathering of reservoir fluid and rock property data which has been used to

conduct a reservoir study of the Lodgepole at Dickinson.  The purpose of this study was to

document the history of the field, make projections on the expected primary production from the

field and to outline a plan for maximizing the future value of the field through secondary recovery.

 I worked on the study with the geoscientist and another reservoir engineer from our Houston

office.

MR. BENDER:  Now you say that Conoco acquired a lot of information about the reservoir and

the Lodgepole Pool, just what did you acquire?

MR. ZORN:  Well, since the State No. 74 discovery well was completed in the Lodgepole in

February of 1993 Conoco has gathered a large amount of reservoir data in addition to the geologic

information which has been previously discussed.  We have conducted several core analysis
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studies on cores from the Kadrmas No. 75.  We've conducted black oil studies from crude oil

samples from both the Kadrmas No. 74 and the Dickinson State, I'm sorry the Kadrmas 75 and the

Dickinson State 74.  We have also conducted an extensive pressure-transient analysis study of the

four producing wells in this field including interwell interference tests.  This information was used

to conduct a comprehensive reservoir study of the Lodgepole and make recommendations to the

working interest owners on how to best maximize the value of the field. 

MR. BENDER:  Now has all that reservoir information and your involvement in the development

of the field gone into your preparation for today's hearing?

MR. ZORN:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  And you've prepared certain exhibits that you intend to sponsor.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, I have.

MR. BENDER:  And you've satisfied yourself as to the accuracy of those exhibits?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, I have.

MR. BENDER:  Let's turn first to the engineering exhibits that are marked as Exhibit 15.  Can you

identify that exhibit and briefly explain it?
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MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 15 lists the reservoir properties of the, the reservoir and fluid properties of

the Lodgepole Reservoir in Dickinson.  The exhibit lists the reservoir property, the value that has

been measured or calculated for that property and then the data source for each one of those items.

 I'll briefly discuss each item on this page.  The initial reservoir pressure of the Lodgepole has been

measured to be 4536 psia at a subsea depth of -7271 feet, which is the midpoint of the perforated

interval in the State 74 in the W/2 of Section 32.  This value was measured from a pressure

buildup test on the State No. 74 shortly after the well was completed.  The most recently observed

pressure was measured on April the 7th, 1994 in the Kadrmas No. 75 and that pressure was 3638

psi at the same subsea depth.  This means that over the first one year and two months of

production from the field and a little over half a million barrels of oil the pressure has dropped 898

psi.  The crude oil in the Lodgepole is an undersaturated original reservoir conditions and it has a

bubble point of 1465 psia as measured by the PVT analysis on the Kadrmas No. 75.  The oil has

an initial oil formation volume factor of 1.356 reservoir barrels per stocktank barrel and Bo of

1.42 at the bubble point.  The initial solution gas-oil ratio is 468 standard cubic feet per stocktank

barrel and the oil is approximately 44° in API gravity.  The oil has a viscosity in the reservoir of

.29 centipoise and the original reservoir temperature has been measured at 224° Fahrenheit.  By

log analysis the average porosity has been measured at 5.372%.  And through special core analysis

conducted by core laboratories the connate water saturation has been calculated to be 10.6% and

the residual oil saturation to water is 50.5%.  The permeability of the Lodgepole is extremely high

for the Williston Basin.  It ranges between 100 and 2000 millidarcies.  The primary drive

mechanism is solution gas, although there are indications that an aquifer is present.  However,

Conoco believes that the aquifer is too small to provide any substantial pressure support as

evidenced by the very rapid drop in reservoir pressure during the first year.  Using the isopach map
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which has been discussed earlier, the reservoir volume in Lodgepole was calculated to be 70,693

acre feet.  This yields a volumetric oil in place of 19.14 million barrels.  And by material balance

the original oil in place has been estimated 18.25 million barrels.  This 6% difference between the

volumetric oil in place and the material balance oil in place is considered an excellent match.

MR. BENDER:  Now has, Conoco has drilled all the wells and currently operates all the wells in

the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  And, has Conoco supplied to the various working interest owners and its partners

all of the information concerning those wells regardless of whether those partners have an interest

in a particular well?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Now, with the exception of the geologic mapping, which was discussed earlier,

all the information on Exhibit No. 15 was agreed to by the various working interest owners at the

working interest owner meetings.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  Yes.  Conoco received approval from all working interest owners present at the

meetings, that with the exception of the geologic mapping there were no unresolved _______ in

the meetings concerning any of this basic reservoir data. 
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MR. BENDER:  I believe you indicated that Conoco began the study in the Lodgepole, what,

shortly after completing the State 74.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  And when did you first begin thinking about forming a unit?

MR. ZORN:  After drilling the Kadrmas No. 75 in the S/2 of Section 31 which is our second

producing well in the field, we noticed that the reservoir pressure in the S/2 of Section 31 was the

same as the reservoir pressure we were observing in the State 74 located over 3000 feet to the

west.  This indicated that these two wells were located in the same reservoir and that they were in

pressure communication.  Shortly after completing the Frenzel No. 79 in the N/2 of Section 31 in

October of 1993 it became evident that with the high productivity of these wells, the reservoir

pressure was going to quickly fall to dangerously low levels before we had a chance to install

some form of pressure maintenance. 

MR. BENDER:  What do you mean by dangerously low levels?

MR. ZORN:  Well, in an undersaturated oil reservoir the reservoir initially contains oil only in a

liquid phase.  Even though you are producing both oil and gas at the surface, the gas remains in

solution in the oil until you fall below the bubble point.  Once you fall below the bubble point, the

gas bubbles start to form and coalesce together.  As the pressure continues to fall these gas bubbles
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move together and in a highly permeable reservoir like the Lodgepole, quickly move updip to

form a secondary gas cap.  If you try to raise the reservoir pressure after this gas cap forms, the

economic viability and the future recovery of oil will be severely impaired.  In many cases it will

be economically unfeasible to initiate any form of secondary recovery once the reservoir pressure

falls too low.  Especially in a relatively small oilfield like the Lodgepole at Dickinson.  In the best

of circumstances the amount of secondary oil recovery will be greatly reduced once the reservoir

pressure is allowed to fall below the bubble point.

MR. BENDER:  What steps did Conoco take to prevent the reservoir pressure from falling too

quickly? 

MR. ZORN:  After completing the Frenzel No. 79 the three producing wells in the field were

producing at a combined rate of over 3000 barrels of oil per day.  Since we knew that there was

chance that additional successful wells would be drilled and we had additional wells planned at

that time, before the end of 1993, we were quite concerned that the pressure was going to fall too

fast to unitize the field prior to reaching the bubble point.  At a rate of 3000 barrels a day we were

losing approximately 6 psi per day of reservoir pressure.  At this rate of pressure decline and with

the potential for even higher field-wide producing rates, as new wells were brought on line, we

came to the conclusion that we had to curtail production from the field.

MR. BENDER:   So at a rate of 3000 barrels of oil per day in November of 1993, how long would

it have taken you to reach the bubble point in the reservoir?
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MR. ZORN:  Approximately one year.

MR. BENDER:  At this time had Conoco yet begun contacting partners for unitization?

MR. ZORN:  No, we had not.

MR. BENDER:  All the fields in the well, excuse me all the wells in the field hadn't even been

drilled at that point in time.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  So, you're drilling wells, you don't know yet what the limits of the field are, but

you know that the current rate of production, at the current rate of production you're going to drop

below the bubble point, what did you say, in less than a year?

MR. ZORN:  That's right. 

MR. BENDER:  So at that point Conoco decides that the most economical method to put this

thing together is a, is a secondary recovery unit?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, we had to finish the development of the field, conduct a secondary recovery

feasibility study, meet with the working interest owners, discuss Conoco's plans with the royalty

owners, we had to meet with the NDIC and get the NDIC's approval for our plan.  And we were
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very concerned that all of this work could not be done in a short period of time.  And remember, if

we added new wells in the field at that time, there was the potential that the rates could come up

even higher and that this one year time period could get shrunken even more.

MR. BENDER:  So with all those concerns what did Conoco decide to do?

MR. ZORN:  We decided that the only prudent thing to do was curtail production from this field

in order to buy more time.  Therefore, in November we cut production to a rate of 1500 barrels of

oil per day which is about half of what the three wells were capable of producing.  A month later

we further reduced the rate to a maximum of 300 barrels a day, since we wanted to preserve the

option of injecting natural gas as a secondary recovery process.  Since the minimum pressure to

maintain a miscible natural gas flood was significantly above the bubble point we decided to limit

the field production to 300 barrels of oil per day until such a time as we had determined the most

economic method of secondary recovery.  The 300 barrel a day rate also gave us time to finish our

drilling program and contact all of the working interest owners.  Once these things were done we

could get a better idea of how long it would take to get the field unitized without jeopardizing the

ultimate recovery in the field by producing the wells too quickly.  We discussed our

recommendation on the curtailment with the working interest owners and all the owners agreed

that that was the prudent thing to do. 

MR. BENDER:  And that was 300 barrels of oil per day, is that the current rate of production in

the field?
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MR. ZORN:  No.  Currently the field is producing 600 barrels a day.  We completed our reservoir

study, the middle to the late part of March 1994.  Based on the study we recommended to

waterflood the field, not to inject natural gas, and since the required startup pressure was much

lower for waterflooding than natural gas, we did not see a need to continue curtailing at that rate. 

There are still some benefits to not dropping the pressure, but we recommended to our

management, which they approved, to increase the rates in the field from 300 to 600 barrels a day.

 And that's, that's the rate that the wells been producing at since April of 1994.

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, I'm going to refer your attention back to Exhibit No. 15.  I believe you

mentioned that the information contained on this exhibit was used to conduct a reservoir study. 

Can you tell us a little bit about how Conoco with the various working interest owners went about

conducting the study.

MR. ZORN:  Well we've been collecting this basic reservoir data while drilling all the wells in the

field.  In November of 1993 we had the first meeting of the working interest owners, as been

previously discussed, and at that meeting Conoco recommended that we conduct a reservoir

modeling study of the Lodgepole in order to determine the most economic way to conduct

secondary recovery operations. 

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, why don't you briefly tell us what a modeling study is.

MR. ZORN:  Well, like most major oil companies, Conoco often uses a tool referred to as a

reservoir model, in order to make predictions on future oil, gas and water production from
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reservoirs.  The tool used by Conoco is a computer software package called Eclipse, which is

manufactured by Interra and it's a three-phase, three dimensional reservoir simulator.  The three

phases refers to oil, gas and water and the three dimensions means that the reservoir can have

multiple layers in the Z direction.  In computer simulation, such as that conducted by Conoco for

the Lodgepole, the geologic and reservoir data is incorporated into a three dimensional grid

system.  The modeling work basically boils down to three steps.  The first step is to input all of the

reservoir data into the computer.  The second step is to perform what is called a history match. 

During a history match you try to get the computer to accurately predict the performance history of

the field.  Most of the time some of the reservoir parameters must be adjusted in order to

accurately portray the past.  The process is basically a calibration step.  Once you're satisfied that

the computer is accurately representing the past, step three is to use the model to make predictions

on the future, under various different operating scenarios. 

MR. BENDER:  Now, Kevin, have you or Conoco ever used this reservoir modeling technique on

projects other than the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, as a matter of fact, as the oil industry, like most industries that become more

and more computer oriented, reservoir models have become more and more common.  Conoco's

been using Eclipse for approximately eight years and we have used it on reservoirs in all parts of

the world.

MR. BENDER:  What was the reason for using a reservoir simulator for the Lodgepole rather than

some other method of conducting a reservoir study?
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MR. ZORN:  A reservoir simulator gives you the ability to evaluate a large number of alternatives

in a very short period of time.  Other methods, without using computers are much slower, and

because of the time factor you often must limit the number of things you look at, because of the

number of calculations that are involved.

MR. BENDER:  Now, did Conoco share the results of the modeling study with the other working

interest owners?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, Conoco conducted the study, but all of the input that went into the computer

model was discussed in detail with technical representatives of the different companies.  The cost

of the work were approved as a pre-unitization expense and will be billed to all parties after the

unit is formed.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Kevin, let's turn next in the packet of exhibits to what's been marked as

Exhibit No. 16.  Can you tell us about that exhibit?

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 16 is a plot on a semi-log scale, which shows oil, gas and water production

versus time.  The oil curve is shown in green, the gas curve is shown in purple and the water curve

is shown in blue.  This curve is Conoco's forecast of future productions from the Lodgepole under

primary recovery.  This prediction is the result of the computer simulation that I talked about

earlier.
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MR. BENDER:  Okay, then let's go to Exhibit 17.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 17 is a forecast of the rate of pressure depletion in the Lodgepole, if the field

is allowed to be depleted without pressure maintenance.  As you can see, without any form of

pressure support we believe that within two years the pressure would fall below the bubble point

and that within six to seven years the reservoir pressure would fall below 500 psi. 

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, what do Exhibits 16 and 17 tell us about the future of this field without

unitization?

MR. ZORN:  Exhibits 16 and 17 show that without some form of pressure maintenance the

pressure in the Lodgepole Reservoir will fall very rapidly.  We predict that within six months of

bringing the wells off curtailment all four wells would quit flowing and need to be produced with

artificial lift.  As the pressure in the field falls below the bubble point, the gas-oil ratio will begin

to climb, resulting in gas ____ from the field approaching nine million cubic feet of gas per day. 

Since this gas is the reservoir energy which drives the oil, once all the gas has been produced, the

field will begin to decline very rapidly.  We predict in about 13 years the field will be uneconomic.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's turn to the next exhibit, Exhibit 18.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 18 is a plot of oil, gas and water production for the Lodgepole under a

waterflood.  In this simulation Conoco converted two wells to injection in the simulator, the State
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"A" No. 83 in the NE, or NW/4 of Section 5 and the Frenzel No. 79 in the S/2 of Section 31 or

N/2 of Section 31.  The State No. 74 and the Kadrmas No. 75 are the producing wells, since they

are in the middle of the reservoir and they have the thickest pay sections.  We believe the best

method to waterflood the Lodgepole is by injecting water below the oil-water contact on the edges

and then sweeping oil up and inwards towards the two best wells. 

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's go to the next exhibit, Exhibit 19.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 19 is a plot showing water injection rates for the State 83 and the Frenzel

No. 79.  We anticipate injecting water at an initial rate of approximately 4000 barrels of water per

day.  Most of the water will probably go into the State "A" No. 83 because it has a thicker water

leg in the wellbore.  Since the Frenzel No. 79 was sidetracked and is drilled at a very high angle,

we did not penetrate the entire Lodgepole mound in the 79, therefore there is less Lodgepole zone

below the oil-water contact to perforate in the Frenzel.  Over the life of the field we estimate we

will inject approximately 13 million barrels of water. 

MR. BENDER:  Then let's go on to the next exhibit then, Exhibit 20.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 20 is a plot of reservoir pressure versus time for the waterflood.  We intend

to maintain the reservoir pressure at approximately 3500 psi, by injecting water.  Since the

pressure is not going to fall and then come back up as we inject water, you will not see a

characteristic oil bank form or a spike in oil production, which is common on many waterfloods,

when the waterflood is installed late in the life.  Basically the water will basically maintain the
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decline at a, a fairly flat level. 

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's go on to the next exhibit.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 21 is just an overlay of the oil production rate on a linear scale comparing

the primary depletion case with our plan for waterflooding the field.  By injecting water now we

can maintain the oil rate in the field at a very high rate for five to six years or until we get water

breakthrough.  This will result in the recovery of an additional 2.48 million barrels of oil and

extend the field economic life from about 12.3 years to 17.3 years. 

MR. BENDER:  And the additional 2.48 million barrels of oil, that's oil that would otherwise not

be recovered, but for this unit.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  That's is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's move on to the next exhibit then, Kevin, Exhibit No. 22.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 22 just shows, in tabular form, what is represented graphically on Exhibits

16 through 21.  Without any pressure maintenance under primary depletion we predict that

approximately 5.4 million barrels of oil will be produced along with approximately 8.7 billion

cubic feet of gas.  This is an oil recovery factor of 27.7% of original oil in place.  By installing a

waterflood now, we predict the field will ultimately produce about 7.9 million barrels of oil and

3.7 billion cubic feet of gas.  This results in an oil recovery factor of 40.5% of original oil in place
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or an incremental recovery of 12.8% of original oil in place or 2.48 million barrels.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, and if I understand Exhibit 22 correctly, you will produce approximately 5

billion cubic feet of gas less under waterflooding than you will under primary depletion.  Is that

correct?

MR. ZORN:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Why does the gas production go down?

MR. ZORN:  Well, as you remember from the first exhibit, Exhibit 15 the bubble point pressure,

the Lodgepole crude oil is 1465 psia.  Since we will be maintaining the reservoir pressure at 3500

pounds, or almost 2000 pounds above the bubble point, the gas will not come out of solution in

the reservoir.  At the end of the waterflood that gas will remain in the reservoir in solution in the

oil and the water. 

MR. BENDER:  Why couldn't you produce the gas at the end of the life of the unit?

MR. ZORN:  Well theoretically you could produce some of the gas, but since the water saturation

in the reservoir will increase to very high levels as a result of the injection any gas produced would

be associated with very high volumes of water.  Conoco expects to inject over 13 million barrels

of water into the reservoir and it's very doubtful that the gas price will be high enough in the future

to justify producing such high volumes of water in order to get the gas. 
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MR. BENDER:  Now, Kevin, without formation of the unit, what will be the, in your estimation,

the cumulative oil produced from the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool?

MR. ZORN:  5.38 million barrels of oil.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, and if the Commission were to decide to deny Conoco's application for

unitization how much of that oil will be lost?

MR. ZORN:  Without a unit we, we can't inject water into the Lodgepole, therefore without a

waterflood the field pressure will drop and result in the loss of 2.48 million barrels of oil.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Kevin, let's move on to the next exhibit then, Exhibit No. 23.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 23 is a summary of the economic analysis which was conducted in the study

comparing primary depletion and waterflooding in the Lodgepole.  Using a project effective date

of June 1st 1994, Conoco estimates we will spend about $178,000 in order to consolidate the

facilities under primary depletion.  We would spend a grand total of $343,000 in order to install

the waterflood.  The economics are based on 100% working interest, 87½% net revenue interest. 

We used an initial oil price of $11.80 a barrel which is based on a $13.00 barrel West Texas

Intermediate Posting and subtracting the $1.20 per barrel price differential for the Williston Basin.

 The oil price is escalated at 5% per year in the analysis.  The initial gas price assumed in the

economics was $1.72 per MCF and its been escalated based upon Conoco's gas contract for
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Dickinson with Koch.  Conoco used a severance tax credit in North Dakota on the incremental oil

recovery over the first five years of the project and we assumed a 37% federal income tax.  The

net present values are based upon an 8% discount factor.

MR. BENDER:  Now, use, using this information, what do your economics show?

MR. ZORN:  Well, under primary recovery the working interest owners can expect to make a

combined $28,000,000 from June 1st 1994 to the end of the life.  If we waterflood the field we

will make an estimated $37,000,000 combined.  This yields an incremental $9,000,000 as a result

of the waterflood, which gives you a rate of return on the project of over 200%. 

MR. BENDER:  So, in other words, all the working interest owners will make an approximate

additional $9,000,000 if this unit is put together.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct. 

MR. BENDER:  And, you've assumed a 12½% or one-eighth royalty in your analysis?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  So the numbers that you talked about earlier, those don't, that only reflects

the working interest owners.  Is that correct?
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MR. ZORN:  That's right, only the working interest owners.

MR. BENDER:  Will the royalty owners also benefit from this unit?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, they will.  Using the one-eighth royalty figure and the predicted recoveries that

we've done, based on the modeling study, using the same price assumptions that we've used or the

initial price assumptions of $11, $11.80 a barrel, we estimate that the royalty owners will produce,

will make approximately an incremental 2.6 million dollars before taxes. 

MR. BENDER:  Let's turn now to the next exhibit, Exhibit 24.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 24 is Conoco's proposed equity formula for the secondary recovery unit.

MR. BENDER:  Can you explain how Conoco arrived at the equity formula that is depicted on

Exhibit No. 24?

MR. ZORN:  Well, Conoco's philosophy for the unitization formula basically boils down to three

things.  First of all we needed a formula which would protect the correlative rights of all parties

with an interest in the field, both royalty and working interest owners.  Secondly we felt that the

tracts containing the four producing wells should be compensated for the fact that they will drain

the entire reservoir.  And thirdly, despite the fact that Tracts 5 through 9 do not have producing

wells, by bringing these nonproducing tracts into the field they also needed to receive some

revenue from the unit since they will be contributing to the unit.  However, we felt it important
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that the nonproducing tracts not be given a very large interest because, in Conoco's opinion, with

the exception of Tracts 1 through 4 no other producing wells can be drilled at a legal location and

be capable of producing oil. 

MR. BENDER:  Exhibit 24 indicates that you are recommending a two-phase formula.  Why are

you recommending a two-phase formula?

MR. ZORN:  Well since the Lodgepole was discovered so recently in 1993 and since the field has

been artificially curtailed for the last six months, the cumulative oil production at the present time

is only a very small fraction of the ultimate primary recovery.  We anticipate that the remaining

primary reserves are over 4½ million barrels of oil and it would take at least another five years,

even under the waterflood scenario, to recover that 4½ million barrels.  Therefore, we felt a two-

phase formula was the most equitable. 

MR. BENDER:  Describe for us Conoco's recommendation for the Phase I formula.

MR. ZORN:  Conoco believes that a Phase I formula based on 50% remaining primary reserves

and 50% remaining original oil in place is the best formula for the Lodgepole.  By definition you

can't have remaining primary reserves if you don't have a producing well.  Therefore, the first 50%

of the formula compensates the four producing wells based upon the amount of remaining primary

reserves _____.

MR. BENDER:  What's Conoco's Phase II formula based upon?
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MR. ZORN:  We recommend a Phase II formula based upon 100% original oil in place.  The most

secondary barrels will be located in those areas of the field where there is the largest oil in place

target.  Therefore, a secondary formula based upon original oil in place is the most equitable to all

parties.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's move on to Exhibit No. 25.

MR. ZORN:  Exhibit 25 is merely a summary of the conclusions and recommendations of

Conoco's reservoir study.  Under the conclusions, No. 1 the Lodgepole is an undersaturated oil

with a bubble point pressure of 1465 psia.  No. 2, through the first year of production, reservoir

pressure has declined almost 900 psi and without some form of pressure maintenance the reservoir

will quickly fall below the bubble point resulting in a significant loss of oil reserves.  No. 3, the

reservoir's completely developed at this time.  No. 4, Conoco has determined that the optimum

form of pressure maintenance is waterflooding.  A waterflooding, a waterflood using two injectors

and two producers is forecasted to recover an incremental 2.48 million barrels of oil.  For an

investment of about $343,000 the waterflood will return approximately $9,000,000 in incremental

net present value to the working interest owners.  No. 5, failure to initiate a waterflood at this time

would result in prolonged curtailment and a significant loss of net present value for the working

and royalty interest owners.  No. 6 unitization will protect the correlative rights of all owners and

prevent the drilling of unnecessary wells.  Under the recommendations, No. 1, the Lodgepole

Reservoir at Dickinson should be unitized immediately for the purposes of initiating a waterflood.

 No. 2, the State "A" No. 83 in Section 5, and the Frenzel No. 79 in Section 31 should be
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converted to downdip injection wells and be recompleted below the oil-water contact.  Water

should be injected on a reservoir voidage replacement schedule to match fluid injection with oil,

gas and water withdrawals.  No. 3, on the last recommendation, since Conoco prepared these

exhibits, we've made a small change in our recommendations, and we recommend that we not

perform the remedials on the two producing wells before the waterflood is initiated.  This work

will still be done as described, however, since we do not expect to get water breakthrough for

several years there is no need to do this work in 1994.  This small change will not affect any of the

reservoir predictions and will actually improve the economics of the project slightly because some

of the $343,000 initial investment will be delayed until we get water breakthrough. 

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, in your opinion, is unitization of this Dickinson-Lodgepole Reservoir, for

the purposes of installing a waterflood, the best method of maximizing the value of this field for

the working interest owners, the royalty owners, and the State of North Dakota?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, it is.

MR. BENDER:  And Kevin, to your knowledge, are there any working interest owners who

disagree that a unit should be formed and that the best method for the unit is a secondary recovery

operation, including water injection?

MR. ZORN:  No, as a matter of fact we've heard from all of the working interest owners that they

support unitization and they agree with Conoco's technical reports.  I think their disputes center

around the mapping which has been discussed earlier.
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MR. BENDER:  Kevin, in your opinion, will Conoco's plan of unitization protect correlative

rights?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, it will.

MR. BENDER:  Will it prevent the drilling of unnecessary wells?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, it will.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have for this witness.  We would offer our Exhibits 1

through 25.

MR. CARVELL:  Any objections to receipt of the exhibits Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Bob?

MR. WEFALD:  My only concern about the exhibits is that they, they be received subject to the

understanding that the maps on their represent Conoco's point of view and that those interests

reflected in the net pay maps and the calculations of who is going to get what is what's objected to

by my client, the Andrea Singer Pollack Irrevocable Trust.
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MR. BENDER:  My, my only comment is that they don't represent Conoco's point of view, they

represent the point of view of the majority of the working interest owners as was testified to by the

landman, approximately 76%.

MR. WEFALD:  Of which Conoco has 73%.  _____________________.

MR. CARVELL:  The exhibits are received.  Mr. Morrison, cross-examination?

MR. MORRISON:  Just a few questions.  Sir, do you agree that the reserves in this particular

common source of supply can be recovered by existing wells.  Is that right?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Any additional wells would be an unnecessary well?

MR. ZORN:  That's right.

MR. MORRISON:  You testified under your opinion Conoco's proposal would protect correlative

rights, is it safe to assume that by protecting correlative rights, you mean that Conoco's proposal

will assure to all owners their fair and equitable share of the oil and gas?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.
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MR. MORRISON:  And your opinion in that regard is contingent upon the validity of the maps in

the pay.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  Well, I believe the map, so I agree with the map, so I think it will protect correlative

rights.

MR. MORRISON:  And if the map is wrong it won't protect correlative rights.  Isn't that right?

MR. ZORN:  Under that assumption, but, like I said I, I don't agree that the map's wrong.

MR. MORRISON:  But if it is, correlative rights will not be protected, is that right?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MORRISON:  And, and the map is a very important part in this particular unit because of the

way you've allocated your equity factors with the map accounting for 50% of the original, of the

Phase I, and 100% of the Phase II allocations?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  I don't have any further questions.
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MR. WEFALD:  You indicated that the pressure is getting, at least, dangerously low.  One of the

ways you can maintain pressure is to restrict production.  Is that correct?

MR. ZORN:  Well you can't maintain pressure by restricting production, you can slow down the

rate of pressure decline.

MR. WEFALD:  Insofar as this, these producing wells go, if we kept, if the Commission kept the

restriction on the production, we would then slow down the rate of decline in pressure?

MR. BENDER:  I'm going to object, it's a mischaracterization of the evidence that's in the record. 

There is no evidence that the Commission is restricting production.

MR. WEFALD:  I just said if the Commission restricts production.

MR. CARVELL:  Can you answer that question?

MR. ZORN:  I guess, it's my understanding the Commission doesn't restrict production, this is a

voluntary curtailment. 

MR. WEFALD:  It's my understanding the Commission has the authority to restrict production if

they so choose to do so.  I, I guess my question is, if, if by agreement or by the Commission order,

if production were restricted for a period of time, say a year or six months it's probable that we

would maintain enough pressure throughout that period of time that we would still be able to get
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the benefit of unitization at the end of six months or a year.

MR. ZORN:  If that were to happen yes.  If, if there were, if it were a fact that by waiting six or

eight months or a year or even two years you would result in another unit, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.

MR. ZORN:  And also depending on the rate that the wells are curtailed at.

MR. WEFALD:  Yes.  Just so it's clear, if this is unitized the extra production is going to be 2.48

million barrels on your Exhibit 21?

MR. ZORN:  Yes sir, that's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  And I believe you said on Exhibit 23 that represents roughly $9,000,000 to who

ever's got the working interest or the royalty interest.

MR. ZORN:  That incremental value, yes, that's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  And, again, for instance if Conoco was in for 75% of that they would get 75% of

that production from that?

MR. ZORN:  Well we have a 75% working interest, we do not have a 75% net revenue interest, so
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I don't have those net numbers in front of me.  The $9,000,000 was a gross number.  I think we

have roughly 64% net revenue interest.

MR. WEFALD:  I see. 

MR. ZORN:  So, you know, you'd have to work out that, that difference.  A large majority of that

obviously goes to Conoco because we have the highest interest in the field. 

MR. WEFALD:  Sure.  I have no further questions. 

MR. CARVELL:  Any questions Wes, Bruce?

MR. NORTON:  There isn't much difference in the equity formula between the, the difference is

the amount of oil that's been produced already, and there isn't much difference as far as

participation?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, that's because most of the wells besides the 74 have not produced very much

oil to date. 

MR. NORTON:  Now, you stated that you are going to inject the water near the oil-water contact,

and you're going to eventually only produce from the top perforations of the 79 and the 83, pardon

me, the 74 and 75 well, do you think you'll need to drill any additional recovery wells or injection

wells?  _________________________. 
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MR. ZORN:  Based on our, based on our modeling study at this time we don't see any need to add

any wellbores to the field.

MR. NORTON:  On your modeling studies what was the difference in recoverable, incremental

oil between injecting water at the base of the reservoir and recovering the oil from the top of the

reservoir versus injecting gas at the top of the reservoir and producing the oil from the bottom of

the oil-water contact?

MR. ZORN:  About .2% of original oil in place.

MR. NORTON:  So, you get 2% more . . .

MR. ZORN:  .2% which would be . . .

MR. NORTON:  .2%?

MR. ZORN:  I can calculate that for you.  Hang on a second.

MR. NORTON:  You take into account economics or is that?

MR. ZORN:  No, that's, that's just the oil recovery.  That was your question.  The question was the

recovery not the money you would make.  You'd recover an additional 40,000 barrels through gas
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injection.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.  And that's, that's based on no additional wells being drilled?

MR. ZORN:  That correct.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.  It's been testified in previous hearings that the, the reservoir may be

laminated or lensed or so forth, do you think that's going to have an effect on injecting at the base

and, and producing the oil from the top of the reservoir?

MR. ZORN:  Well, one of the, one of the problems that we have is defining exactly what the

porosity matrix looks like, that's one of the reasons why we've conducted the interwell,

interference test to try to get a better understanding of that.  Our model is a fairly simplistic

viewpoint of the reservoir.  Basically what happens in the reservoir model is that, if you can

picture a bathtub that has oil in it, and with a cover on it and a spout at the top and a spout at the

bottom, we're injecting water because of the assumptions we've made in the reservoir model it

assumes basically a piston-like displacement and you are just raising the water level in the bathtub

and pushing the oil out the top.  That is a, that is an oversimplification of what happens in the real

world, but once you get into the field of reservoir modeling, if you try to get a whole lot more

detailed than that, you create a monster in terms of solving the problem and we don't really have

the data to, to go to a larger level of detail than that.  So . . .

MR. NORTON:  The, the modeling you did though, assumed uniform porosity and permeability?
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MR. ZORN:  No, we didn't assume uniform porosity.  We do have eleven layers in the reservoir

simulator and we have logs from each of the four wells and so we've made an attempt to adjust the

porosity between the wells.  It's constant within a single claim in the Z direction, but as you go

laterally, it did vary slightly, but the differences are very, very small and it doesn't really have a big

impact on the recovery factors from, from the reservoir.

MR. NORTON:  And the software you used is standard oilfield software?

MR. ZORN:  Yes.

MR. NORTON:  Engineering software?

MR. ZORN:  Yes.

MR. NORTON:  I'd like to ask the geologic witness one more question if that's okay.  When you

got to the point where you determined that you were going to contour and so forth, that was

contoured with the computer?

MR. HYRKAS:  I believe that was contoured using the . . .

MR. NORTON:  The point I'm getting to is if you use standard software for the contouring and

did not use any human interpretation into it . . .
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MR. HYRKAS:  There is, there is certainly interpretation to this, but, the use of the computer was

used, but the exact computer contouring was not used.  It was edited, so the computer was used

but it, there is edits to the computer contouring.

MR. NORTON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. HICKS:  Kevin, looking at your Exhibit 21, you show a rapid decrease in oil production

around year seven, I was wondering if you could kind of explain why it comes back to the primary

so quickly.

MR. ZORN:  Well, if you refer to the waterflood plot and if you look at the water curve which is

shown in blue, you can see that's about the point in time when the model predicts it will start

getting water breakthrough.  Once you get water breakthrough the relative perm. to oil around

those wellbores is going to quickly fall and so the field will also start going on the decline.  The

other factor that goes in there is, one of the assumptions that has to be made in modeling is how

you are going to handle artificial lift, both in the waterflooding scenario and in the primary

completion scenario.  These wells are not going to flow throughout their entire life, so you have to

make some assumptions in the modeling on how you are going to handle pumping conditions. 

Unfortunately, there's about five different ways that you can artificially lift the wells and then

there's all kinds of combinations there as well.  We chose a fairly simplistic assumption that we

would install the pumping units on the wells and that we would only be able to lift a maximum of

700 barrels of fluid a day with a beam pumping unit.  There are other forms of artificial lift that
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will be studied when that case comes around.  You know, in order to evaluate every kind of

artificial lift method, at the time we did the study once again, would have taken much, much

longer and that's the other thing that happens at about seven years, we think that when the water

production hits and we get up to about a 15 to 20% water cut we are going to have to put the wells

on artificial lift, when that happens we are not going to be able to pump the wells off because we

physically can't lift at that depth as much water as it would take to pump off the wells at 10,000

feet with a beam pumping unit.  Therefore, the rate from the field is going to drop.  Since the rate

drops the amount of water we have to inject in order to maintain the pressure of 3500 pounds will

also drop.  So, you've got both of those things happening at the same time, in about seven years on

the waterflood case. 

MR. HICKS:  And you're assuming that you will reach your economic limit before you could

produce this well and, before you could cease injection and continue production it would just, be

no longer economic and you'd still be at bubble point then?

MR. ZORN:  I guess I'm a little confused.

MR. HICKS:  According to your charts you're showing that your reservoir pressure is going to still

be around bubble point when . . .

MR. ZORN:  Right.

MR. HICKS:  when it becomes an uneconomic venture?
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MR. ZORN:  Yes, we used an economic limit of 20 barrels of oil per day, per well, for both the

waterflood case and the primary production case, so whenever a well hit 20 barrels of oil per day it

was shut-in, in the model because we believe it would be uneconomical to produce at rates lower

than that.  And that's, that's probably actually a little optimistic on the waterflood case because at

the end of the waterflood these wells are going to make very, very, large volumes of water due to

the high permeability.  So, we did not try to simulate blowing down the reservoir on the

waterflood case, you know, just depending on what the economic conditions are 17 years from

now, you know, that may or may not be a feasible alternative.  There's also the opportunity at the

end of the life of the field to look at tertiary oil recovery and that's something that Conoco plans to

do, you know, when that time arrives.  If you look at Exhibit 15, the residual oil saturation to

water, this is from the relative permeability data from the Kadrmas No. 75, the connate water

saturation is 10.6% so the original oil saturation would be 89.4%.  What the residual oil saturation

to water means is at a oil saturation of 50.5% and a water saturation of 49.5% the relative perm. to

oil is zero in the presence of water.  So that's your waterflood target, you know, from a 90 or

89.4% oil saturation to a 50.5% oil saturation.  That's the target for your waterflood.  You could

still drop this oil saturation to a lower level, possibly, with some form of tertiary oil recovery.  And

it, it becomes more of a function of what, not whether its technically feasible or not but whether

it's economically feasible or not whether you can reduce that saturation any lower than that. 

MR. HICKS:  I may have missed it but the 74 well, are you going to go in and squeeze any of

those perforations?
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MR. ZORN:  Not initially.  Our original plan was to do that, and then after, starting to work on the

plans for conducting those operations, we made the decision that, you know, there's a fair amount

of risk involved in going into a well that makes 2000 barrels of oil per day and pumping cement,

makes me a little nervous to tell you the truth.  And, so rather than trying to fix a problem before it

occurs, we, we think it's probably a better thing to do, to wait until we have a problem with water

coning or water production.  It's going to happen eventually, I mean there's no doubt about that,

and then we'll deal with the problem at that time.  So it doesn't really have an impact on the, on the

predictions, it just affects the timing of when you would do that work.

MR. HICKS:  On your Exhibit 18 is that what you're showing, drastic water production drop,

approximately year 7½ or so you show the water production decreases substantially.

MR. ZORN:  The reason for the water drop has to do again with this artificial lift assumption.  I've

made an assumption that once the, based on the series of studies referred to as flowing well

analysis, trying to predict, at different reservoir pressures and different water cuts, at what point

you have to put a well on artificial lift, it becomes an economic decision, basically.  And because

we've assumed that we can only lift 700 barrels of fluid a day from a single wellbore with a beam

pumping unit at the point that it hits that magic spot where you have to install artificial lift the rate

from the well drops, both the oil and the water rate.  So that, that's the cause of some of that funny

looking spiking around on the water curve and the oil curve there. 

MR. HICKS:  Thank you.
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MR. CARVELL:  Any further questions Mr. Bender?

MR. BENDER:  No further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  No.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  None.

MR. CARVELL:  Any further witnesses for Conoco?

MR. BENDER:  Not at this time.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, you may call your first witness.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. NORTON:  Do you want us to tape it to the wall or anything?

MR. MORRISON:  It might help.  It's, it's, the cross-section's pretty small it's going to get hard, I
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don't know, we thought we'd be in the other room with magnetic boards, but . . .

MR. NORTON:  Do you have any tape with you?

MR. MORRISON:  Are we on?  Oh, we're on, okay.  Thank you Mr. Examiner.  We have one

witness we intend to produce at this time.  Steve would you state your name, spell your last name

and provide your business address for the record, please.

MR. BRESSLER:  My name is Stephen L. Bressler, B-R-E-S-S-L-E-R.  I'm a senior geologist for

Placid Oil Company, address 1601 Elm Street, Suite 3800, Dallas, Texas, 75201. 

MR. MORRISON:  In your capacity as a geologist for Placid have you previously testified before

this Commission as an expert witness and had your qualifications accepted?  Can you then briefly

review your educational, professional background in the field of petroleum geology?

MR. BRESSLER:  I have a Bachelor Degree in geology from Northern Arizona University and a

Masters in Geology from the University of Arizona.  I was employed for five years at the U.S.

Geological Survey and then for the last 12½ I've been employed by Placid Oil Company.

MR. MORRISON:  Now, you said you have a Bachelor's and a Master's in Geology, do you have

any specialized training in geophysics?

MR. BRESSLER:  I've taken several industry seismic interpretation courses from AAPG, 3D
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seismic interpretation course and I did my Master's Degree involved quite a bit of geophysics also.

MR. MORRISON:  And is geophysics one of the matters with which you deal on a regular basis

for Placid?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, I routinely interpret both 2D and 3D seismic data.

MR. MORRISON:  Now, are you familiar with the matters relating to the Dickinson-Lodgepole

Unit?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, sir.  I've been the geologist assigned in Placid since the onset of our

involvement.

MR. MORRISON:  And you've been involved in the various working interest owners meetings

that Conoco described earlier?

MR. NORTON:  John, could you pull the mike closer?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, sir.  I attended all the meetings at which Placid attended, as they stated the

last meeting, March, we just mailed in our vote.  The three previous meetings I was there.

MR. MORRISON:  Have you also prepared certain exhibits you intend to sponsor today?
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MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, I have.

MR. MORRISON:  Those exhibits were all prepared either by yourself or under your control and

supervision?

MR. BRESSLER:  They've all been prepared by me.

MR. MORRISON:  We'll offer the further testimony of this witness as that of an expert.

MR. CARVELL:  Any objection, Mr. Bender?

MR. BENDER:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Motion granted. 

MR. MORRISON:  Steve, I'm going to ask you to turn to the first exhibit that we have in the

packet which we'll ask be marked as Placid's Exhibit 3, since we already have 1 and 2 marked. 

And we have a over sized version of that on the wall behind the hearing examiner, maybe, if it's

okay if you'd like to have him go out to the oversized one and describe the exhibit?
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MR. CARVELL:  Are we going to be able to record that?

MR. HICKS:  You can take one of these.

MR. NORTON:  Maybe you can grab Bruce's mike down on the end.

MR. BRESSLER:  The stratigraphic process ____ every well in and immediately adjacent to the

Lodgepole Pool it is flattened on the top of the Bakken Shale.  So this is not a structural cross-

section, it is a stratigraphic cross-section.  Start from the west with the Walton well down in

Section 6, goes up to the Frenzel straight hole and I've put in here, even though this is a, not a

correct depth log this is the sidetrack Frenzel well, because this was at high angle, this is not true

vertical thickness, this is just a measured depth log, so this does not represent the actual thickness,

but it does represent what the log character looks like on the sidetrack well.  The Kadrmas well,

the 74, the 83 well and the Filipi 76 on the east side.  The first thing we'd like to point out, as has

previously been discussed, in the, both the 84 well on the southwest side of the mound and the 76

well, there is no log evidence whatsoever of any of the carbonate mound.  There is no clean

gamma ray.  As was also mentioned in the straight hole on the Frenzel 79 we have about 17 feet of

clean lime, actually about 15 feet that gets to the ten API unit.  So we, we feel pretty strongly that

is the toe of the mound on the northwest flank of the feature.  In general, on this cross-section we

agreed with the top of the mound that Conoco depicts, the other difference we have with them is

the oil-water contact.  I've depicted on here where, it says Conoco and the oil-water contact, that's

the compromise oil-water contact that was determined at our last joint technical meeting.  The
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higher oil-water contact is one that's depicted at the highest point in the log where you would

assume just oil production.  This would be the top of the transition zone, when the transition zone

is present.  We do agree with Conoco there is a transitional water level in 79 and in the 75, but

especially in the 83 we feel there's a very sharp contact on the water level there and in fact these

numbers essentially agree with the water level that Conoco had mapped at our second to the last

meeting and the compromise resulted in, is the result of them desiring to put a transition zone in

all the wells which would have pushed the oil-water contact, based the transition zone about 19

feet deeper in the 83 well and a compromise, pushing it up, splitting the difference.  So, basically,

gave back ten feet, that the logs do not support. 

MR. NORTON:  And that well is the only one _____.

MR. BRESSLER:  It, it's just because the tilt is down to the northwest, in fact, we have an

additional exhibit, maybe can go to that now.  It would be the second to the last exhibit.

MR. MORRISON:  Why don't we, before we do that let's identify the exhibit. 

MR. BRESSLER:  It would be the one that's labeled oil-water contact.

MR. MORRISON:  And we'll ask that that be marked as Placid Exhibit 8.

MR. BRESSLER:  Now that represents the plane defined by the highest water free log character. 

And basically there's 19 feet of dip with the Frenzel well having a water level 19 feet deeper than
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the, the 83 well.  The oil-water contact being used by Conoco, basically, the compromise that was

agreed on at the time was that they would take the deepest oil-water contact which was the Frenzel

well, make that a flat plane and then the dipping oil-water contact which had 19 feet of relief on it

and basically split the difference between the two.  And that was the compromise that is it was

arrived at that meeting.  So that's the only thing we had the opportunity to compromise on.  I think

that's basically all . . .

MR. MORRISON:  Okay.

MR. BRESSLER:   to talk about on this one. 

MR. MORRISON:  Steve, maybe if you want to return the mike and come back we'll go on to the

remaining exhibits from here.  Now I'll ask you, Steve, to turn to the next exhibit in the packet,

which we'll ask be identified as Placid Exhibit No. 4, and I'll ask you to tell us what this is and

describe what it's relevance or significance at this hearing is. 

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay.  This is a synthetic seismic model based on the sonic logs from three

wells in the area.  The 74, the 79 straight hole, which we're saying is on the edge of the feature and

then a well several miles off the feature, Hunt Energy well.  And what this basically is, if you take

the sonic log and running it through some software, which is standard industry software, you

generate a synthetic seismic response from that, that well log.  And this model basically just takes

those synthetics from each individual wellbore and puts them into a cross-sectional view.  So it, it

is essentially a, a hypothetical seismic line if you had a line through those wells.  So, it's what the
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seismic response should be.  I should point out, one thing I failed to mention on the cross-section

on the wall, the, there was a shale marker in the, in all these wellbores, whether or not the mound

is present.  I've got it colored purple and labeled the lower, the top of the Lodgepole shale marker.

 On the synthetic seismic model I've similarly colored it in purple and you can see in the wellbores

around the field, the Frenzel and the State 74, it follows in a trough.  In other words, they kick in

the curve to the left, which is a negative kick or a trough.  The top of the mound in the State 74

corresponds with approximately the midpoint of that peak, just below that, that trough.  I think you

can . . .

MR. MORRISON:  Below the purple line?

MR. BRESSLER:  Below the purple line.  I think you can clearly see that the character in this

State 74 well is considerably different from the 79 well, which is, again, different from wells

further west.  I should point out also on this seismic model, the Bakken shale is colored brown and

it would represent, basically, the base of the mound, although there is a little intervening 10 to 20

foot section there.  I think you can clearly see that if you just measure the, the thickness and

seismic time between the top of that shale marker to the Bakken there is clearly a thickening in

that interval over the, over the mound as opposed to off the flank of it.  And you can see that on

the cross-section as well that the, that interval in the Filipi or the Walton is considerably thinner

than over the mound proper.  So what we're using this for is evidence that seismic can depict the

mound. 

MR. MORRISON:  In your opinion is seismic geophysical information a valuable tool for use in
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development of a pool such as the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool?

MR. BRESSLER:  Certainly, Placid is involved in several other projects where we're using 3D

seismic for further development and in today's world of high technology there are very few

companies that are not using it.

MR. MORRISON:  And not just for exploration but also for development?

MR. BRESSLER:  Also for development.  In fact, we've, we've shot 3D seismic over virtually all

of our, our production in _____.  We're shooting 3D over numerous properties in west Texas and

in the Williston Basin.

MR. MORRISON:  And have you examined geophysical or seismic information available in this

area?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes I have.

MR. MORRISON:  I'm going to ask you to turn to the next exhibit, which we'll ask be marked

Exhibit 5, and tell us what that is.

MR. BRESSLER:  This is a depiction of the structural configuration of the top of the mound.  The

depths are based on the well control again.  The boundaries of the feature are based on two seismic

lines which were shot in January of 1994 ____ seismic data that Placid was given a copy of as a



Page 177
result of permitting the lines through the N/2 of Section 31.  Basically, and the other thing

depicted on this map is the arched line, would be the outline of Conoco's 75 foot hundred, 7500

foot, Conoco's.  So we're, we're showing the differences between the two maps here.  The biggest

differences that we see, on the east side of the reservoir, the seismic evidence shows, fairly

conclusively we feel that the reservoir does not go as far east as the Filipi well.  It boundaries

approximately at the midpoint of Section 32 and we feel very strongly that the north-south line

depicts reservoir reef mound buildup extending further north than Conoco depicts it.  So we feel

Sections 29 and 30 are being underrepresented in Conoco's plan.

MR. MORRISON:  And, in your opinion, is that supported by both the seismic and by well

control in the area?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, yes, as we previously stated the Frenzel 79 we feel very strongly has the

toe of the reef in it, whereas the Filipi 76 is, is off the reef, so the seismic data is confirmed by the

well control. 

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, let's go to the next exhibit which is labeled Lodgepole Mound Isopach.

MR. BRESSLER:  This is basically . . .

MR. MORRISON:  Excuse me, we'll mark this Exhibit 6, Placid Exhibit 6, and I'll ask you to just

identify and discuss this.
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MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, this is basically just following the shape of the mound on a previous

map, taking the thickness of total clean carbonate in each wellbore and again, here one of the

differences is that we're, we're putting 17 feet of mound in the Frenzel 79 straight hole whereas

Conoco's not putting any in and our boundary is further, further east, excuse me further west than,

Conoco puts it over by the Filipi well.

MR. MORRISON:  The contouring of this exhibit is, is seismic __________?

MR. BRESSLER:  It's, well, the contouring, the boundaries are controlled by the seismic.  The

thicknesses are controlled by the wells, more or less.

MR. MORRISON:  So it's a combination of seismic and well data and _____.

MR. BRESSLER:  Combination, right, which, you know, the only way to, to map this completely

accurately would be with 3D seismic, which we've been unable to acquire.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, let's go on to the next one which is labeled Isochron - Lower Lodgepole

Shale Marker to Bakken.  Can you describe this?  We'll ask this be marked as Exhibit 7.

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, this goes back into the seismic model between the shale marker and the

Bakken and again where that interval is the thickest you have the mound developing and where it's

thinnest, you do not have a mound and basically, you see on the ends of these lines where you

have no mound, approximately 30 milliseconds of time interval between those two markers,
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whereas over the crest of the mound it gets 50 and a little thicker.  In fact, there's, the thicker part

is actually down in the SE/4 of 31, the SW/4 of 32.  Again without 3D coverage the actual shape

of that is, is subject to interpretation, but the boundaries that we depict on those lines, we feel very

confident about.  So we feel we have several independent lines of evidence that Conoco is pushing

the eastern boundaries too far east and not pushing the northern boundary far enough north. 

MR. MORRISON:  You indicated that you've been unable to obtain 3D seismic in this area, can

you tell us about that and why.

MR. BRESSLER:  Following our last meeting at which we were not able to even attempt to

compromise to, on the, on the outline of the mound, our management directed us to attempt to

shoot 3D seismic to be able to bring before the board today.  However, in our attempts to permit it

we were, we were blocked, could not, could not permit the entire reef.

MR. MORRISON:  And with 3D seismic is it important that you have total coverage?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.  You need to have total coverage, that's correct.  And you need

to have data that goes, you can't stop the shooting right at your perceived edge of the feature, you

need to have coverage a half a mile or so beyond that.

MR. MORRISON:  And you said you were blocked, describe how you were blocked.

MR. BRESSLER:  In attempting to, we started at the north and attempting to permit the S/2 of
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Section 29 which is owned jointly by Conoco, Mobil and Phillips, Mobil, I believe, told our

permit agent that they wouldn't approve it unless Conoco did and the Phillips geologist told me

that their management had directed them not to approve it because they were involved in other

negotiations with Conoco on some other rights in the area, that, that Conoco was going to explore.

 So we're basically, no permitted up there and just at the critical part for determining the northern

edge of the feature we, we dropped our efforts after that.

MR. MORRISON:  In your opinion, would the 3D seismic that Conoco has run in the area be a

helpful tool for the Commission in analyzing this structure in determining where the boundaries of

the unit should be?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And we've already covered exhibit, the next exhibit, Exhibit 8, then let's go

the final exhibit, Exhibit 9, which is labeled Lodgepole Mound Net Pay Isopach.

MR. BRESSLER:  This, this is essentially taking the structure map at the top of the mound which

was I guess Exhibit 5, and the oil-water contact, Exhibit 8, and subtracting one from the other and

basically the net pay map.  And again because of the differences on the oil-water contact we're

getting, for instance the State 83 well, 16 feet of net pay whereas I think Conoco's map has 26 feet.

 But otherwise the form of the map is, again, based on our structure map which is influenced by

the seismic data. 
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MR. MORRISON:  And this map, Placid's Exhibit No. 9 corresponds to Conoco's Exhibit No. 8. 

Is that right?

MR. BRESSLER:  It's the same surface.  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And, does the Placid's differing interpretation of the reservoir in the area have

a substantial effect on the portions of the reservoir allocated to the various owners?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, sir, it does.  I should, one thing I should state before I get into that is it's

based on total volumetrics.  Placid has come up with 70,717 acre feet versus Conoco's 70,693, so

that's remarkably close, so we don't disagree on the total volume of the reservoir, it's just the

allocation.  Based, based on the two different maps, for instance, Placid's working interest on the

interpretation  we've presented here, we would have a 6.404% working interest whereas on

Conoco's interpretation it's 3.7.  The difference would be, assuming that 7.8 million barrels

recoverable would be over 200,000 barrels difference, net to Placid based on differing

interpretations. 

MR. NORTON:  And that's the total percent or for individual tracts?

MR. BRESSLER:  No, that is field-wide.  Okay, for individual tracts, for instance, the N/2 of 31

where the Frenzel is located Conoco's would be 11.46%, Placid is 17.02, the S/2 of 30 Conoco has

a 0.07%, Placid has .89%.  So there's considerable difference in Section 30 and 31.
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MR. MORRISON:  But the, the roughly 3% difference in 200,000 barrels, that's unit wide.  Is that

correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct, yes.  That would include both 31 and 30.

MR. MORRISON:  And that results not only from the differing interpretation on the north end in

Sections 29 and 30 but also from honoring the well data from the Filipi and on the eastern

boundaries.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, as previously discussed pushing the eastern boundary of the well clear to

the Filipi well results in, in Conoco having a full column over the large percentage of the W/2 of

32.  By honoring the seismic data, essentially, the eastern part of their standup unit there has the

taper in it, instead of the taper being in the E/2 of 32.

MR. MORRISON:  Steve, does Placid oppose the unitization or waterflooding of the Dickinson

Field?

MR. BRESSLER:  No.  We strongly agree that it is the proper thing to do.  We believe the work

Conoco's done on modeling is excellent and have had no disagreement whatsoever with them on

their plans.  It's the, the boundaries that are in dispute.

MR. MORRISON:  And you agree that unitization and waterflooding is necessary in order to

maximize recovery and prevent waste?
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MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, sir.

MR. MORRISON:  Is it also your opinion that in order to protect correlative rights, it's essential

that all of the owners in the area be allocated their fair, equitable share of production?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Under Conoco's proposal will that occur?

MR. BRESSLER:  Not according to the data we have in our possession, no sir. 

MR. MORRISON:  Would Conoco's revealing the 3D seismic coverage they have over the area

help confirm whether or not correlative rights really would be protected?

MR. BRESSLER:  We believe it is the only way to have any confidence in the interpretations, in

the map.

MR. MORRISON:  If Conoco's proposal is approved by the Commission, is Placid or are you

prepared to recommend to Placid's management the drilling of an additional well in Section 30?

MR. BRESSLER:  We've discussed with our management if we are unsuccessful in getting the

unit boundaries reformed that they are prepared to drill a well to get the acreage in Section 30
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included in the unit.  We feel strongly enough about that north-south seismic line . . .

MR. NORTON:  Where would you, where would you drill at?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, that's the problem.  If you have to go to a 1320-1320, we would be hard

pressed, based, we just have the one north-south line and that would put us perilously close to the

edge.  A 660 location we'd be very confident on.  __ drill a 660 under the proposed . . .

MR. NORTON:  Let's assume that tract weren't included in the unit, would you drill one 660-660?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  And at that would it be Placid's preference, at this point in time, that the 2½

acres allotted by Conoco to the SE/4 of Section 30 be excluded from the unit rather than included

and prevent the drilling of a well on a 660-660 location?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, I think that would be economic waste.  We don't feel a well is necessary

to drain the reservoir, but in order to protect our rights, Placid is prepared to do that.  But that, that

will only solve half the problem, in our mind.  We feel the, the pushing of the boundary on the east

side, too far east is also hurting correlative rights.  And Conoco allocated too much reserve to their

tract in 32, so, so drilling of that well in 30 is not going to correctly depict the reservoir, totally, in

our minds.  We feel 3D seismic is the only way that we'll be confident we have a properly depicted

reservoir. 
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MR. MORRISON:  Just to clarify, why don't you identify for the Commission where Placid owns

interest in the proposed area.

MR. BRESSLER:  We, we own 32, plus percent interest in the S/2 of Section 30 and the N/2 of

Section 31.

MR. HICKS:  Can you say that again, please.  I didn't catch all that.

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, we own 32 point something in the S/2 of Section 30 and the N/2 of

Section 31.

MR. NORTON:  Is the ownership different in the SE/4 of 30 versus the, is it common throughout

the S/2, or is it different between the two quarters?

MR. BRESSLER:  I don't know.

MR. MORRISON:  Jimmy, maybe just identify yourself by name.

MR. CAMPBELL:  My name is Jimmy Campbell, I'm a landman with Placid Oil.  I think . . .

MR. CARVELL:  Well, just a minute, take the oath if you are going to testify.
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MR. MORRISON:  Just to respond to a question, you take the oath.

MR. CARVELL:  Please raise your right hand. 

MR. HICKS:  Could please speak, come up to the mike?

MR. CARVELL:  Promise to tell the truth in this hearing?

MR. CAMPBELL:  What?

MR. CARVELL:  Do you promise to tell the truth in this hearing?

MR. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay, go ahead.

MR. CAMPBELL:  Okay, the mineral interest is different in the SW/4 than the SE/4 of Section

30.  But our interest ______ whole 640 acres to be in the S/2 of _________.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, I don't have any further questions of this witness at this time.  We'd

offer Placid's Exhibits 1 through 8 or 9?

MR. WEFALD:  Nine.
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MR. MORRISON:  Nine.  Thank you. 

MR. ?:  Got any objection?

MR. BENDER:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Placid's Exhibits 1 through 9 are received.  Cross-examination?

MR. WEFALD:  Well, since I'm essentially on the same side, may I just do a little further direct?

MR. CARVELL:  Well, that's fine.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay, then you can . . .

MR. CARVELL:  Are you going to conduct direct or cross?

MR. WEFALD:  I'm going to follow-up some of the points he made.  I believe that, I suppose

technically we have some opposite points of view, so I suppose I'm a cross examiner as Lawrence

is, but I know that the perception is we're on the same side.  However you want to do it is fine with

me.  I can wait or do it now, makes no difference.

MR. CARVELL:  Why don't you go now then you get everything out on the table that this witness
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has and then Mr. Bender you can, you'll have everything that you want to know.

MR. WEFALD:  Mr. Bressler, did I understand you to say that 3D seismic is common in industry

for accurately mapping structures?

MR. BRESSLER:  It is becoming the standard method of both exploration and development,

lowers the risk substantially.

MR. WEFALD:  In fact, to your knowledge it is being widely used to develop structures as well as

locate them in the first instance?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, sir.

MR. WEFALD:  In terms of 3D data, once it's collected, how difficult, in your experience, is it to

put that data in a form where it can be interpreted and put into the, put into the form of a map?

MR. BRESSLER:  The processing of the data is the first step and that's usually done by, by third

party contractors, do that.  And depending on the size of the survey that can take anywhere from

three weeks to two to three months.  Placid has, for instance, been involved in, in about 120 square

miles of 3D acquisition in the last year in the Williston Basin.  And those surveys have taken,

typically about six to eight weeks, on average, to get processed and then they are brought in to our

office for interpretation where the data is loaded on the 3D workstation.  So you are not

interpreting the, the old paper prints.  And again, depending on the area, how, how highly faulted
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it is, for instance, the interpretation can take anywhere from a few days to a few weeks to a month,

again depending on the size.  We've shot several features, including the ____________ in the

Williston for an exploration program and each of those were about ten square miles, and the

average interpretation time for mapping seven or eight horizons and making isochrons that you

make, it's on the order of ten days to two weeks. 

MR. WEFALD:  When, did I understand that Placid's dispute with Conoco's proposal relates to

the boundaries, and do I understand that with the boundaries proposed by Conoco, that Placid

believes that this unit would not be fair, would not be equitable or not be reasonable to the royalty

owners and working interest owners?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.

MR. WEFALD:  I have no further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Bender?

MR. BENDER:  Mr. Examiner, we, this is the first time we've seen some of these exhibits and the

opposition has had our exhibits in their possession for probably 45 days, could we just take a short

recess so I could discuss with my clients some of the cross-examination that I may want to

conduct on these matters?

MR. CARVELL:  Ten minutes okay?
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MR. BENDER:  Ten to 15 should cover it.

MR. WEFALD:  We, we would like to give them our exhibits too, so you'll have those at the same

time.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  What time is it now?  Okay, we'll reconvene in 15 minutes.  We'll

reconvene the hearing.  Mr. Bender you may cross-examine the witness.

MR. BENDER:  Steve, I want to first direct your attention to Exhibit No. 5.  The, I believe that

was a structure, top of the Lodgepole mound.  Did you prepare this map by yourself?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, I did.

MR. NORTON:  Say Lawrence, the exhibits aren't numbered.  What is Exhibit 5?

MR. BENDER:  Structure of the Top of the Lodgepole Mound is what I have. 

MR. NORTON:  Okay.

MR. BENDER:  What went into drafting this map?

MR. BRESSLER:  As I previously testified I used the subsea tops from all the wells which had
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penetrated the mound and used the seismic data to depict the boundaries on the north, south, east

and west.

MR. BENDER:  So the only well control on this particular map would be the wells that are on the

map?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, you didn't use any well control from the Fryburg wells?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct, although as you will see, there is a, a westward, yes, westward

bulge at the Kadrmas well.  That does honor the, the north, northeast dip and that dipmeter and the

Kadrmas well, so I am essentially honoring that, that shallow data somewhat, although it did not

directly go into this map.

MR. BENDER:  Which Kadrmas well are you referring to?

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, well you see there is a westward bulge at the Kadrmas well?

MR. BENDER:  Uh huh.

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, so there is, as you go to the northeast of that, basically pulling the

contours that direction which support the north dip, northeast dip in that, that Kadrmas well. 
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MR. BENDER:  So, so to the extent that you used the Fryburg wells was only to use your regional

dip.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, essentially.  But, as I said, this is a map on the top of the mound, it's not a

map of the Fryburg.

MR. BENDER:  So you don't subscribe to the theory of the Conoco witnesses that you can use the

Fryburg to predict where the mound is?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's an indirect indicator, not a direct indicator.

MR. BENDER:  You don't subscribe to that theory?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  When was the seismic shot?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe it was shot in January of 94.

MR. BENDER:  Let me finish my questions first.

MR. BRESSLER:  Oh.
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MR. BENDER:  There is two seismic shot lines.  There's a seismic shot line that runs north and

south and would that have been shot at the same time that the seismic . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe, I believe so.  Again, we, we were not the company which shot this

data, we were given a copy as part of an agreement to give them a permit.  So we were not

involved in the acquisition of this data and I really can't talk specifically about the acquisition. 

MR. BENDER:  I don't mean to be rude, but let me finish my question before you answer.

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay.

MR. BENDER:  So, when did you get the data, from the, after the seismic was shot?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe we received it sometime in March, I believe.

MR. BENDER:  In March of 1994?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  And who shot the line?

MR. BRESSLER:  It was West Bay Exploration.
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MR. BENDER:  Steve are you familiar with a map that you presented to the working interest

owners at a, at a meeting in Casper, it was also a structure map of the top of the Lodgepole, it was

dated 2/14 of 1994?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe so.

MR.  BENDER:  I'll show you what has been marked as Exhibit 29.  Is that the map that you were

presented at the working interest owners meetings?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe so.  I may have had my dates wrong because we . . .

MR. BENDER:  _____

MR. BRESSLER:  I stated March, I believe we actually received that just a week or so prior to

that meeting.  I was mistaken, I guess it was in February not March that we received it.

MR. BENDER:  The seismic data that you have on your Exhibit No. 5, is, is the data that's also on

Exhibit No. 29.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Is Exhibit No. 29, your map that was drafted in February or has a February 1994
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date on it, is this identical to Exhibit No. 5?

MR. BRESSLER:  Essentially it is.  I've modified the, some of the annotations a bit, and added,

added the outline of Conoco's 7500 foot contour, but essentially the outline, and as I depicted it is

essentially the same between the two maps.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, but the contours are the same.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, essentially. 

MR. BENDER:  Now, Steve did you, did you also attend a working interest owner meeting in

Casper regarding this Lodgepole Unit on January 6 of 1993?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, I did.

MR. BENDER:  And did you also present a structure map at that meeting?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, I did.

MR. BENDER:  Now I'll show you what's been marked as Exhibit No. 30.  Could you tell me if

that's the map that you presented at that meeting?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, sir, that is the map.  This was made prior to having made the seismic data.
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 It was based on well control and I should also mention it was based on a map Conoco had, had

submitted to the Commission prior to drilling the 74 well.  They, the Winnipeg time structure

map, which depicted the deep structure, so I attempted to honor Conoco's general structural shape

at the deep level, with this well control.  So that's what went into this map.

MR. BENDER:  And I believe you indicated that you received the seismic from West Bay, what

in February?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, it must have been in February.

MR. BENDER:  So, this map was drafted without the benefit of seismic?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct, that is correct.  Well, I mean, put it this way, ___ seismic, it

was based on a seismic map of a deeper horizon that Conoco had submitted to the Commission. 

So indirectly you could say the shape was based on a seismic interpretation Conoco had made.

MR. BENDER:  So, basically what you're saying this is an interpretation based on Conoco's map?

MR. BRESSLER:  It's using the deeper structure they had presented to the, to the Commission,

with the well control that we had at the Lodgepole and tried to make a map to fit both pieces of

data.

MR. BENDER:  Well did Conoco actually present seismic information at, at that previous
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hearing?

MR. BRESSLER:  They had, they had presented a map that was based on seismic data.  They did

not depict the seismic itself.

MR. BENDER:  You didn't look at any raw data?

MR. BRESSLER:  No, Conoco did not reveal any data.

MR. BENDER:  Steve, I'm now going to show you what I also have labeled as Exhibit No. 29,

which is a overlay.  It's identical to the previous Exhibit 29 only it's a transparent.  Can you lay that

over the top of the Exhibit 30 that you have represented to be as identical to Exhibit No. 5? 

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, that's good.

MR. BENDER:  Do you have it laid over?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  Can you tell me how your interpretations changed from December of

1993 to February of 1990?  Was there any change in your interpretation to the north?

MR. BRESSLER:  Very little.  But again I should mention that that previous interpretation was
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based on a deeper seismic map.  So, I'm not surprised that the new seismic data didn't severely

disagree with the earlier map Conoco had made at a deeper level.

MR. BENDER:  What horizon was that earlier seismic?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe it was at the Winnipeg.

MR. BENDER:  Does your interpretation change from December to February to the east?

MR. BRESSLER:  Not significantly, no.

MR. BENDER:  Does it change to the south?

MR. BRESSLER:  A very minor amount.

MR. BENDER:  Where does it change?

MR. BRESSLER:  The west side, there's a slight amount of change.  And that was in part due to

the fact at the previous, the first map Placid did not have access to that dipmeter data.  Once we

were given the dipmeter data from the Kadrmas that caused us to pull that contour further out to

the west.

MR. BENDER:  Now, also, between the times that you prepared your first map, Exhibit No. 30
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and then you prepared your second map, Exhibit No. 29, which is identical to Exhibit No. 5,

another well was drilled.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  And that would, is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  And that's the Walton No. 5.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  And what did you do with your contour to the west in your second exhibit,

Exhibit No.?

MR. BRESSLER:  It pulled it out further to the west in Section 31, but it did not materially affect

the position relative to the Walton 84 location.  And that map was presented prior to the drilling of

that well and as we've discussed with Conoco personnel at that time, that we were predicting a dry

hole.

MR. BENDER:  I, I guess I don't understand what you're saying.  In, just let me finish.  Let's go

back again to Exhibit No. 29.
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MR. BRESSLER:  Okay.

MR. BENDER:  In Exhibit No. 29 you have your 7500 foot contour line running nearly down the

center of Section 31 in the north-south direction.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  Section, Exhibit 30, that's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Then, after you have a dry hole, the Walton No. 84 drilled, you pull your contour

line further to the west?

MR. BRESSLER:  That was due to the dipmeter data we then got access to.  If you look at the two

maps when you overlay them the distance I have from the Walton 84 to the 7500 foot contour is

virtually identical on two maps.  The changes in Section 31 were based on the dipmeter we got

access to.  I agreed that it must push off further west because you have a northeast dip on that

dipmeter.  That was why that change was made.

MR. BENDER:  Let's talk a little bit more about your zero line on Exhibit No. 30, as depicted on

the eastern edge, okay?  You pick it in the center of Section 32 right on the midsection line.  Is that

correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.
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MR. BENDER:  Now, overlay it again on your Exhibit No. 5 and where is it picked after you have

your seismic information?

MR. BRESSLER:  In the same position.  But I mentioned that the previous map was based on a

Conoco deeper map which showed structures very similar to what I've depicted on my early maps.

MR. BENDER:  How does the deep structure define the zero edge of the mound?

MR. BRESSLER:  You make the assumption that the, the mound grew on a positive topographic

feature.  You can't directly say it's going to match the structure exactly.  But we know from the

well control that there is a four way closure at the Bakken, so presumably the, the four-way

closure map seismically at the Winnipeg would also reflect the structure.  We certainly, it does not

agree with it in every detail.  As I said I based my overall shape on my early map before we had

the two seismic lines _____ of Conoco's map ___ and making changes where the new well control

was provided by the, by the drilling.

MR. BENDER:  What makes you think that there was deep structure that went into that previous

map that you were utilizing?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, the map depicts a deep __ structure.  That is what Conoco drilled the 74

well on.
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MR. BENDER:  And you got that information from . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  It was . . .

MR. BENDER:   . . . that was presented to the Industrial Commission?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, that is correct.  It was presented, made public record.

MR. BENDER:  Did you look at the, the log of the State 74 after the well was drilled to determine

whether there was structure?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, you didn't have that, any deep well control through the Winnipeg level

other than that well so you could not with that one well determine that there was structure there.

MR. BENDER:  But wasn't the State 74 drilled that deep?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct, but a single well does not draw your structure map.

MR. BENDER:  Do you know whether the well was wet or not?

MR. BRESSLER:  It was wet.

MR. BENDER:  So was there a structure?
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MR. BRESSLER:  Whether or not it's wet or not doesn't tell you whether there's a structure.  We

know from the well control there is structure at the Bakken level below this mound, so that, that

supports the evidence that you have an underlying structure. 

MR. NORTON:  I was having a hard time following what you're saying.  You have the _______. 

MR. BENDER:  Let's go to your cross-section, Steve.

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay.

MR. BENDER:  Could you point out for me on the State 74 where the Bakken structure is?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well this map is a stratigraphic cross-section which is flattened on the Bakken

so you're not going to depict structural reversal on this map, on this cross-section.

MR. BENDER:  Could, can you give me a subsea top?

MR. BRESSLER:  I would have to calculate those, I don't have those in front of me.  In fact,

Conoco had made the statement at the technical meeting that there was reversal of the Bakken. 

Actually, you had presented a map which shows structure at the Bakken.  Introduce one of

Conoco's maps if you would like which is mapped on the top Bakken. 
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MR. MORRISON:  Your question goes to the top of the Bakken shale in any particular wellbore,

is that what you are asking for _____________?

MR. ?:  Well, the State 74.

MR. MORRISON:  Just give them a data point for the top of Bakken Shale in the State. 

MR. ?:  State __________.

MR. MORRISON:  The State 74? 

MR. BRESSLER:  There's a intervening highly tied gamma ray shale at the top or at the base of

the mound in both the 74 and the 75 and depending on how you pick the Bakken, you would, I

have it picked at the top, extremely high gamma ray, which is approximately 20 feet below the top

of the mound, I can't read my numbers.

MR. MORRISON:  Can you refer to the oversized one?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.  In the 74 we picked the top of the Bakken at a measured depth of 10,054

feet, excuse me 52 feet.

MR. BENDER:  Steve, I'm going to refer you to Exhibit No. 12 that Conoco presented.  Have you

had a chance to look at Exhibit 12?
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MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  You see on Exhibit 12 that Conoco has depicted a saddle or a low in between the

State 74 and the Kadrmas 75.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Now, let's refer to your Exhibit No. 5.  You don't show a saddle.  Is that right?

MR. BRESSLER:  I show a slight reentrance there northeast of the Kadrmas 75, that's not as

exaggerated as Conoco's saddle, that is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Did you, did you honor the dipmeter data when you constructed your Exhibit No.

5?

MR. BRESSLER:  The dipmeter within the mound, shows steep northeast dips, the dipmeter

above them at the top of the mound shows more gentle north, northeast dips.

MR. BENDER:  Do you know of any other geologists who were part of the working interest

owner group who did depict a saddle in between the Kadrmas 74 and the . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe the Aviva group did, yes.  Let me point out that these maps were
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prepared at that meeting fully intending to make adjustments to accommodate all working interest

owners.  These were the maps which . . .

MR. BENDER:  Well, let's talk about that for a moment.  You've prepared maps and took them to

a working interest owner meeting to make adjustments to them are you saying that these aren't

your own interpretation?  Let me finish the question.  Are you saying these aren't . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  These are interpretations.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, then, but if you took them to a working interest owner meeting with the

intent to make adjustments then, what are you saying?

MR. BRESSLER:  I'm saying that there is not enough well control to have high confidence in the

western boundary of the mound and we were prepared to, to adjust the western boundary further

west in a compromise mode if we got adjustments on Conoco's position on the northeast.  We

were not given the opportunity to make those adjustments.

MR. BENDER:  Well . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  We do not have enough data to accurately depict the exact limits on the

western boundary.

MR. BENDER:  How about the exhibits that you've presented here today?  Are those exhibits also
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meant to allow for compromise and adjusting down the road?

MR. BRESSLER:  They are accurate at the positions of the seismic lines and the wellbores. 

Everything else in between is interpretation.  That's why we feel 3D seismic would be the best

means of adjusting those differences in interpretation.

MR. BENDER:  Why wouldn't you go into a working interest owner meeting presenting your

most accurate interpretation?

MR. BRESSLER:  This is, this is, but, it's an interpretation based on the knowledge that there is

no data on the west side of the feature to depict that boundary.

MR. BENDER:  But you just told me a few moments ago that you went in and you drafted these

maps with every intention of adjusting . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  We, we expected a compromise would be the result of that meeting.

MR. BENDER:  Mr. Examiner I'm going to ask that you admonish the witness to not answer the

questions until I'm finished.

MR. CARVELL:  Well, I'm not going to use the word admonish, but, just make sure that he

finishes his question before you answer.
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MR. MORRISON:  It goes two ways,  Mr. Bender might sometimes let him finish his answer

before he comes in with another question.

MR. BENDER:  _____ Exhibit ______ do you recognize that map?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe that was the map that Phillips presented.

MR. BENDER:  Does this show a saddle between the State 74 and the Kadrmas No. 75?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, it does.

MR. BENDER:  Do you know if they took into consideration the dipmeter when they prepared

this map?

MR. BRESSLER:  Apparently they did, yes, sir.

MR. BENDER:  I've now shown you what's been marked as Exhibit No. 31.  Do you identify that?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, that was a map that Aviva presented.

MR. BENDER:  And what does it show, does it show a saddle between the State 74 and the

Kadrmas 75?
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MR. BRESSLER:  Yes, it does.

MR. BENDER:  So we have a geologist from Aviva and we have a geologist from Phillips who

both show a saddle between those two wells, but you do not.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  I show a slight ___, I just do not exaggerate it to the extent that the other

parties did.

MR. BENDER:  Steve, what happens to the equity if you have a saddle in between the State 74

and the Kadrmas 75?

MR. BRESSLER:  I, I haven't calculated it based on these other two company's maps.

MR. BENDER:  Do you have a thinning of the pay?

MR. BRESSLER:  Over that you would have thinning over the east, northeast part of the S/2 of 31

if you put a low in there.

MR. BENDER:  Steve, I now want to refer your attention to your Exhibit No. 7.  That's the

isochron map.  Okay, everyone found it?  You show on this map, as I read it, 50 milliseconds of

thickness at the Conoco Dickinson State 74 well.  Is that right?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.
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MR. BENDER:  And you show 304 feet of mound at that thickness.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  Now, let's move to the north, to shotpoint 155 on the north south shotput

line.  Do you see that shotpoint?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes sir.

MR. BENDER:  You show 51 milliseconds of thickness at that point.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  How many feet of mound thickness do you show on your isopach map at that

level?  It's Exhibit No. 6.

MR. BRESSLER:  Somewhere between 200 and 300.  Let me point out that the isopach map was

based, the contouring was based on the well control.  The zero lines were based on the seismic.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, then let's go to the east west shotline.  You with me?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.
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MR. BENDER:  Shotpoint 130.  How many milliseconds of thickness do you show at that point?

MR. BRESSLER:  245 so that supports the low there, the saddle.

MR. BENDER:  So your map is incorrect, isn't it?

MR. BRESSLER:  I only had a single point so I couldn't put a full 45 contour, but there would be

a saddle there, that's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Did you look at the, the Fryburg well that was drilled very near to shotpoint 140?

MR. BRESSLER:  Again, that, that does not bear on the Lodgepole.

MR. BENDER:  In your opinion, it doesn't bear?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  But your seismic does show it but you just refuse to honor it, is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  I didn't refuse to honor it.  I posted it on the map.  It is there.

MR. BENDER:  Well, let's take a look at the contouring that you did.  You have your 50
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millisecond contour going through the sidetrack of the Frenzel well.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay and then as you move to the east and to the south at shotpoint 130 you have

45 milliseconds of thickness.  Did you honor that shotpoint in your contouring?

MR. BRESSLER:  If I was to put a single point contour I wouldn't know how to orient it.

MR. BENDER:  Couldn't you loop your contour down through there to honor that 45 millisecond

data and show the saddle that has been . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  You can do that but it would make a very strange looking map.

MR. BENDER:  It would honor the saddle though if you drew your contour on that approach,

wouldn't it?

MR. BRESSLER:  It would, it would honor that that thinner interval there but the map would look

geologically unreasonable.

MR. BENDER:  So, in other words what you did, Steve, is you used some of your seismic for this

map but you ignored other parts of the seismic of the map, didn't you.
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MR. BRESSLER:  No, that's not correct.

MR. BENDER:  Well, how did you honor the 45 millisecond thickness in, on your shotpoint line,

going east and west on the 130 shotpoint line?

MR. BRESSLER:  There is a thin there but it's within an area of thicker fifty, to be more accurate I

probably should have put a very small closed bow centered around that shotpoint.  That was the

only single point that I had that would fit below the 50 contour and again given just two points I

can't accurately depict two lines I cannot accurately depict the total shape of that feature.  Given

3D there may well be a low that you could contour in there.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, you said that was the only point that you didn't honor.  Let's go to the north

in section, the S/2 of Section 30 and the S/2 of Section 29, shotpoint 155.  What's the, what's the

value you placed on that shotpoint?

MR. BRESSLER:  51.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, and so you, what's the contour line you have to the north?

MR. BRESSLER:  Fifty which would be.

MR. BENDER:  And as you go to the south, you have what at shotpoint number 150?
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MR. BRESSLER:  Fifty-three.

MR. BENDER:  So you didn't really honor that ________________ point either.

MR. BRESSLER:  The 50 contour goes between the 51 and the 41.  Everything greater than 50 is

south of that contour point, everything less is north, so that's directly honoring the data.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, let's go further to the south, the 145 shotpoint.  Did you honor that point?

MR. BRESSLER:  With a ten foot or a ten millisecond contour interval, yes.  If I had mapped it at

one millisecond contour interval I would have shown a contour coming in there.

MR BENDER:  How did you determine the zero edge, particularly to the east with the shotpoint?

MR. BRESSLER:  There is a very marked character change on the seismic data which honors

synthetic seismograms made on the Filipi well and 74 well and that zero point corresponds with a

point of which that seismic character change from the non-______ bearing section as in 76 to

where the character change is to depict coming up onto the mound.

MR. BENDER:  Can you show us that information?

MR. BRESSLER:  I cannot.  Unfortunately, we have not been given permission to make that

seismic data a public record today.
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MR. BENDER:  So although you want Conoco to show their 3D information, you won't show

your 2D information?

MR. BRESSLER:  If it was ours and we owned it, I would be glad to.  Unfortunately, we do not

own the data, and we were specifically requested not to make it a public record.

MR. BENDER:  And why is that?  Why were you requested to not make it a public record?

MR. BRESSLER:  Because, because it would then lose it's market value to the owners of the data

who are actively selling the data as I understand.

MR. BENDER:  Couldn't that also be the case with Conoco's 3D seismic?

MR. BRESSLER:  If it was, if it was, if the actual data was presented at the hearing, that's correct.

 But we think maps based on the data would not jeopardize Conoco's position.

MR. BENDER:  But isn't it subject to a great deal of interpretation that what you might see on a

seismic line and what the Conoco people might see in a seismic line might interpret, might differ

widely.

MR. BRESSLER:  I think the differences would be far less than the difference based on the

widely spaced wells.
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MR. BENDER:  Steve, early on you mentioned that you've done a lot of interpreting of 3D data in

all parts of the country and in the Williston Basin as well.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay.  Have you ever drilled any dry holes using 3D data?

MR. BRESSLER:  Certainly.

MR. BENDER:  So, it is interpretive and it can happen.  You can drill a dry hole.

MR. BRESSLER:  The dry holes that I've been involved in based on 3D were structurally right

where predicted.  We were involved in plays for the reservoir, quality changed and we drilled tight

wells, but our structural depiction of our objective came in accurate based on a 3D mapping. 

MR. BENDER:  So, you're saying that you drilled some dry holes on 3D data because the

reservoir has changed and you couldn't find the reservoir with the 3D data.

MR. BRESSLER:  That's right, we were involved in in exploration plays where the reservoir was

discontinuous.  We could map the structure in that case but not not the porosity.

MR. BENDER:  How can you represent here today that on 2D data that you can draw the zero line
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of this reservoir if you can't even pick reservoir with 3D data?

MR. BRESSLER:  I can pick structure on the top of a reservoir horizon.  I cannot predict that

you're going to have 5% porosity in one location versus 10% porosity in the other, but I can in the

seismic model I presented so that you can depict where the mound is present on seismic.  I am not

determining the reservoir qualities of that mound.  I am determining where that mound is located.

MR. BENDER:  So you really can't pick mound porosity with the 3D seismic, can you?

MR. BRESSLER:  I can pick the mound from the well control we have to date the mound has a

fairly uniform from well to well overall reservoir properties and we've all agreed to that.

MR. BENDER:  You can pick the mound directly from the seismic?

MR. BRESSLER:  I can, yes sir.  The model I presented shows that you can determine where the

mound is present.

MR. BENDER:  I tried to ask this question earlier and probably didn't do a very good job.  Let's

look again at your Exhibit No. 5.  You're drawing the structure, the edge of the structure, the 7500

foot contour somewhere between the 150 shotput, excuse me, shot line and the 155 on an east

west line.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.
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MR. BENDER:  Can you actually give me the exact shotpoint for that particular 7500 foot

contour?

MR. BRESSLER:  It appears to be that 152 to 153.

MR. BENDER:  That would be the mound edge.  Is that right?

MR. BRESSLER:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And you're saying with the 2D data you can define it that  closely.

MR. BRESSLER:  We can define it to within a couple of seismic traces which is within a couple

hundred feet.

MR. BENDER:  The seismic traces, how much?

MR. BRESSLER:  It depends on the acquisition of the data, typically about 110 feet per trace.

MR. BENDER:  How about in this particular trace, excuse me, this particular line?

MR. BRESSLER:  The character changed over a space of 2 about 2 traces.
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MR. BENDER:  Do you know what the _______________.

MR. BRESSLER:  No, I can't predict it to the exact foot but within 200 feet I can.

MR. BENDER:  So you're saying you can predict it within 200 feet on the eastern edge of this

structure.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  How about to the north?

MR. BRESSLER:  The same here.

MR. BENDER:  What shotpoint do you pick it there?

MR. BRESSLER:  Approximately 162, 63.

MR. BENDER:  And once again you'd be able to pick it 100, 200 feet either side of a line?  Is that

correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  Yeah, that's correct.

MR. BENDER:  How about to the south?
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MR. BRESSLER:  About 107 to 108.

MR. BENDER:  Once again you can pick it 100, 200 feet either side of that line?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. BENDER:  How about to the west?

MR. BRESSLER:  I have it picked at about 115, I'll point out on the west side that we cannot pick

it as accurately as on the other side, and we believe that's because the you have that pull out that

bulge to the west there and the seismic line is running subparallel to the edge of the reef.  And

because it's just 2D data as opposed to 3D data you're not properly imaging the edge of the reef

because you're getting reflections from both north and south of the line.  The other three

boundaries are running perpendicular to the boundary of the reef so we're getting much more

defined edges to it.  Again, that's something where 3D would solve that problem because the data

would be properly imaged in three dimensions.  And again that's why I said we have the least

certainty on the west side. 

MR. BENDER:  And once again if you if you do the overlay, you take Exhibit No. 30 and you

overlay Exhibit No. 29.

MR. NORTON:  You want 30 on top of 29?
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MR. BENDER:  Yeah, that's correct.  You were able to pick the northern edge, the eastern edge

and the southern edge without the benefit of your seismic that you just acquired in January of

1994.

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct, but with the benefit of Conoco's deeper structure map.

MR. BENDER:  If in fact there was such a map and there was seismic done to that deeper horizon.

MR. MORRISON:  I'm going to object.  That is argumentative, that suggests lying on the part of

the witness.  Mr. Bender knows very well that there is such a map.  I believe you represented

Conoco at the hearing for the exception location that generated the map.

MR. CARVELL:  Sustained.

MR. BENDER:  Can I just have a minute to confer with my client?

MR. CARVELL:  Lawrence, you might want to say that again, the tape wasn't on.

MR. BENDER:  You want me to say it again.  That's all the questions I have at this time.

MR. CARVELL:  Redirect, John?
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MR. MORRISON:  Staff questions?

MR. CARVELL:  Bruce or Wes?

MR. NORTON:  Pardon.

MR. CARVELL:  Do you have any questions, Wes?

MR. NORTON:  What I'm going have to do is listen to the tape and go over these exhibits again. 

Now, the first exhibit you handed over to the witness was Exhibit 29.

MR. BENDER:  That's correct.

MR. HICKS:  The only question I had is I was wondering if you had some comment on.  Were

you present when Conoco gave their testimony and went through all their exhibits?  Were you

present at the hearing?

MR. BRESSLER:  For the original . . .

MR. HICKS:  Yes.

MR. BRESSLER:  Spacing, no, I was not.
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MR. MORRISON:  Do you mean this morning, Bruce?

MR. HICKS:  No, I'm talking about just when they went over their presentation this morning.

MR. BRESSLER:  Oh, I was there this morning, yes.

MR. HICKS:  Under Exhibit No. 9 you're showing the top of the Fryburg structure draping over

the mound and when they went through their explanation of how you can determine the edge of

the mound according to the thickness.  I was curious on your comment on if you do or do not

believe that using Exhibit 9 and 10 that you can project whether you're not whether you're close to

the edge of the mound or not.

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, if you believe their premise but you believe that the 79 straight hole did

encounter 15 feet of mound, the line that they have drawn is no longer valid and ______ show that

the 76 well is clearly further off the mound than the 79.  I don't agree with their premise that this is

the way to do it.

MR. HICKS:  I should ask you another question then.  Do you believe that the straight hole is

productive?

MR. BRESSLER:  No, it is not definitely below the water level so it would not be productive and

it we don't have a neutron density log to compare porosity to the other logs and as Conoco did

state it does appear to have _____________ porosity.  But as also was stated there are intervals in
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the productive wells which have bow porosity.

MR. HICKS:  And the Filipi well, you're showing it considerably further away from the mound

than Conoco does if you look at your Exhibit No. 5.

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. HICKS:  And I was curious after you listened to Conoco's testimony if you would draw that

closer to the Filipi well or not?

MR. BRESSLER:  No, I wouldn't.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, so you don't agree with their interpretation . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  No, I don't.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, thank you.

MR. NORTON:  I have one more question.  The contouring on Exhibits 6 and 7, is that hand

drawn or was that . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  These were hand interpretation but transferred to a computer software program

for the actual drafting, but the actual . . .
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MR. NORTON:  You didn't put the data points into a computer and have it contoured?

MR. BRESSLER:  No sir, these are my own interpretation of the contouring.

MR. HICKS:  I do have one more question, Steve.  We've had numerous exhibits on seismic and

it's been shown to us on many different occasions that seismic is a tool to find, to explore for oil

and gas and it's not a true exact science, therefore, when somebody wants to come in for an

exception location they say they want to have a window to drill on.  And what type of resolution

are your claiming to have on yours.

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, 3D seismic provides much greater resolution.  I would agree that 2D

historically because you don't have full coverage of the feature you cannot accurately depict the

structure.  With 3D we feel that risk is substantially reduced.  All that 2D gives you is one point. 

It's either there or not on the case of the edge of the mound.  And you also have the added problem

with 3D . . . 2D when you have a mound like this that if the lines aren't positioned right

perpendicular to the boundary you get what's called side swipe and that again is something 3D will

eliminate a 3D migration.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, I don't think that answered my questions, but what type of resolution are you

claiming to have on your 2D?

MR. BRESSLER:  Okay, on the 2D as I stated during my testimony several traces which is 220
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feet approximately you can pick the character change.

MR. HICKS:  So you're saying we could move your zero line or the edge of the mound 220 feet

one way or the other . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  Approximately that, yes.

MR. HICKS:  And what are you claiming to be the edge of the mound.  You're showing the

Frenzel well to be productive if you're claiming the 7500 foot contour line as the edge of the

mound.

MR. BRESSLER:  No, that is not the productive limit.  That the limit of the actual mound

irrespective of the water level.  My Exhibit No. 9 is the actual productive net pay isopach and as

you see there the Frenzel 79 straight hole is not depicted in the productive reservoir, but the that

productive reservoir map is  made using the structure map and the oil/water contact.  So it is

critical to coming up with that net pay isopach map.

MR. HICKS:  Okay, thank you.

MR. NORTON:  I have a couple follow-up questions, I'm confused now.  These lines that you got

from West Bay are 3D lines?

MR. BRESSLER:  No, they are 2D lines.
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MR. NORTON:  2D lines.   The, it was done with the thumper?

MR. BRESSLER:  I'm not positive.  I'd have to look, I'm not sure if it was vibrator or dynamite so

we did not acquire them ourselves. 

MR. NORTON:  That's okay.  Disregarding that.  The point I'm getting to is is these data points

here really don't represent where a shot gets placed, I'm not a seismic expert but I have seen many

presentations and I know they aren't there many other values that go into this other than this

straight line when you have 2D and 3D?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, with 3D you have a great number of lines essentially.

MR. NORTON:  Right.

MR. BRESSLER:  You have a total grid.  With 2D you just have the single lines with shot and

receivers laid out on that line.

MR NORTON:  So there are no more data points in this on the 2D.

MR. BRESSLER:  No sir.

MR. NORTON:  Okay, thank you.
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MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison.

MR. MORRISON:  A few questions.  Steve, is it correct that or let's put it this way, is it your

understanding that the seismic data you relied on the West Bay lines, the north south and the east

west lines have both been made available to Conoco in the past?

MR. BRESSLER:  We showed them to them at that meeting and I believe they're on the market.  I

don't know if Conoco's purchased them or not.

MR. MORRISON:  But you virtually showed it to Conoco at one of the working interest owner

meetings. 

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And it's also correct that you'd be willing to allow Conoco to see the lines

again today but the prohibition is that you cannot make them part of the public record.

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And you'd be willing to show the examiner or any of the staff the same lines,

is that right?

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.
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MR. MORRISON:  You were asked some questions about the discrepancies in maps between

Aviva's geologist; this is Conoco's Exhibit 31, Phillips geologist, Conoco Exhibit 32, your own

map which is Placid Exhibit 9 and Conoco's depiction which I believe is Conoco's Exhibit 13.  In

your opinion would the information available from 3D seismic in Conoco's possession resolve the

questions as to which of these four interpretations is most accurate?

MR. BRESSLER:  I believe they would result in the map that most clearly, most accurately

depicts the mound's geometry.

MR. MORRISON:  Would you be willing to agree to some sort of review of Conoco's 3D seismic

under appropriate conditions to protect the proprietary and trade secret nature of that.  For

example, a review of the data either at Conoco's office or at some third party's office without

copying the data itself.

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  Would you even be willing to resolve this issue through the interpretation of

that 3D seismic data by some sort of third party perhaps appointed by the Commission itself.

MR. BRESSLER:  Yes.

MR. MORRISON:  I don't have any further questions.
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MR. WEFALD:  I have none.

MR. NORTON:  Now, the interpretation that you have presented is based very heavily on seismic

information.

MR. BRESSLER:  It's both the seismic where we have the lines and well control.

MR. NORTON:  And you show two lines on Exhibit 9 I believe it is.

MR. BRESSLER:  That's correct.

MR. NORTON:  Were there any other seismic lines that you used in this . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  Those are the only lines that we had in there.  Again the other point I should

keep going back to is the some of the general shape was based on earlier Conoco deeper structure

map which was based on seismic.

MR. NORTON:  Just to re-ask the question you didn't look at any other . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  That was the only two lines I looked at.  Yes sir.

MR. BENDER:  Just a couple questions.  Mr. Bressler, I believe it's your testimony that you agree
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with the structural interpretation of the Winnipeg that Conoco presented?

MR. BRESSLER:  I don't have enough seismic data to confirm it or deny.  I just assume that

Conoco made a accurate representation of the seismic data they had in their possession.

MR. BENDER:  But you utilized that information as an analog for the Lodgepole.  Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  I used it to generally shape the contours based based using the well control

based on the deeper shape that they had depicted.

MR. BENDER:  But you didn't use the structural instructural interpretation of the Fryburg that

Conoco presented, did you?

MR. BRESSLER:  Well, again that's above the mounds.

MR. BENDER:  But you didn't use it, right?

MR. BRESSLER:  Not directly, no.

MR. BENDER:  What's the distance in feet between the Winnipeg and the Lodgepole in this area?

MR. BRESSLER:  Probably 2500 feet approximately.  I don't have that exact.
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MR. BENDER:  Twenty-five hundred to 3000?

MR. BRESSLER:  Something in that. 

MR. BENDER:  And, what's the distance between the Fryburg and the Lodgepole. 

MR. BRESSLER:  About 1000 feet.

MR. BENDER:  But you still believe that the Winnipeg is a better indicator what you're going to

find at the Lodgepole than the . . .

MR. BRESSLER:  It just depicts the deep structure the mound grew on, but I certainly don't

necessarily agree that it's going to be shaped exactly like the deep structure.  I just used it for form

line purposes. 

MR. BENDER:  Just the east side. 

MR. BRESSLER:  No, basically I used it wherever we didn't have any other data.  Where we had

well control data at the Lodgepole that data preempted the deep structure.  The only place there

was any deviation really in that shape was the 75 well.  The other boundaries all honored the well

control.

MR. BENDER:  Is is true that Placid is involved in a 3D seismic shoot north of this property . . .
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MR. BRESSLER:  We're involved in one in Dunn County.

MR. BENDER:  Is the Lodgepole the primary objective?

MR. BRESSLER:  We've got multiple objectives there.

MR. BENDER:  Would a 3D analog of this Lodgepole mound be helpful to Placid in its

exploration activities in that area?

MR. BRESSLER:  We don't necessarily feel we need it.  In fact, we've it's been, I'm sure we'd be

willing to have a third party work Conoco's 3D data to make a map and we wouldn't see the 3D.

MR. BENDER:  Was that their ___________ to have a third party review the seismic presented

previously to Conoco?

MR. BRESSLER:  No.

MR. BENDER:  Is is true that geoscientists many times use analogs to pick drilling locations?

MR. BRESSLER:  They use it to determine the seismic character.  You don't use it to pick a

drilling location.
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MR. BENDER:  So it would be helpful in your exploration activities to the north, wouldn't it?

MR. BRESSLER:  It could be but we're preparing locations to drill right now without having this

analog so it's not going to affect our planning to the north.

MR. BENDER:  Is the Lodgepole play in North Dakota a competitive play?

MR. BRESSLER:  I guess it is.  I haven't been involved in any lease acquisitions so I don't know

that for a fact.

MR. BENDER:  Would it give you a competitive advantage if Conoco were to show you their 3D

seismic?

MR. BRESSLER:  Not necessarily.  We wouldn't expect the character on that 3D to look different

than the  character on these 2D line.

MR. BENDER:  But you mentioned earlier it's common practice to use analogs to pick locations. 

Is that correct?

MR. BRESSLER:  To pick the character that you would then use to identify a prospect to drill.

MR. BENDER:  So in that respect it would be helpful?
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MR. BRESSLER:  It could be.

MR. BENDER:  Could it lower the risk of your picking locations?

MR. BRESSLER:  It might, but as I stated we're not stating that we would necessarily need to see

that 3D data.  We would just like to see a map based on 3D data.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have.

MR. CARVELL:  Anything further from the staff?  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  Nothing further at this time.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  We'll call Ernest Gomez.

MR. CARVELL:  Well, Mr. Morrison, do you have any more witnesses?

MR. MORRISON:  No, we have no further _______________________. 

MR. CARVELL:  Okay Mr. Wefald.
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MR. WEFALD:  We'll call Ernie Gomez.  Would you state your name please?

MR. GOMEZ:  My name is Ernest Gomez G-O-M-E-Z.

MR. WEFALD:  State your address for the record please.

MR. GOMEZ:  My business address is 3609 South Wadsworth, Suite 500, Denver, Colorado.

MR. WEFALD:  I have just handed to the front, Exhibit No. 1 which is your resume.  Could you

briefly explain to the record your qualifications and your background.

MR. GOMEZ:  I have a bachelors degree in geology from the State University in New York at

New Paul and a masters in geology from Northern Arizona University.  I have years of

professional geologic experience, 16 of those in the oil and gas industry and I'm currently

employed by Interra which is a petroleum consulting company that has been retained by Singer

Trust to provide a geologic review of this field.

MR. WEFALD:  Have your ever testified before this Commission before?

MR. GOMEZ:  Not in the State of North Dakota, no.

MR. WEFALD:  You've testified before other Commissions in other states?
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MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, in the states of Oklahoma and Texas.

MR. WEFALD:  And have you testified about matters of geology in those other states?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, I have.

MR. WEFALD:  And that's your area of expertise?

MR. GOMEZ:  It is.

MR. WEFALD:  I would offer the testimony of Ernie Gomez as an expert.

MR. CARVELL:  Any objection?

MR. BENDER:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Any objection?

MR. MORRISON:  No objection.

MR. CARVELL:  Motion granted.

MR. WEFALD:  You have prepared a series of exhibits.  The first one is cross section AA and we
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will mark that as Exhibit 2.

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, I have.  This is a . . .

MR. WEFALD:  Just a minute.  Does everybody got that?  All right, what is Exhibit 2 the cross

section purport to show?

MR. GOMEZ:  It's a cross section from the southwest and northeast across the field running from

the Walton 84 well through the Kadrmas 74 then the State 74 and ending in the Filipi 76.

MR. WEFALD:  And this is just the well logs, is it not?

MR. GOMEZ:  Just the well logs, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Does it show your oil/water contact line?

MR. GOMEZ:  There is an oil/water contact line on here, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  What about the next exhibit, the cross section of _____________.  We will mark

that Exhibit 4.  _______________. 

MR. GOMEZ:  This once again is a cross section only this time running from northwest to

southeast through the field.   As the previous cross section its hung on the Bakken shale.  It runs
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from the Frenzel 79 straight hole.  It does include the sidetrack well, the Frenzel 79 sidetrack and

once again this is a measured log not a true vertical depth ______ true vertical depth log.  Ties into

the A-A prime cross section at the State 74 and finishes at the State A-83.

MR. WEFALD:  These exhibits 2 and 3 and the logs listed in the GL's was this data used by you

in making an analysis that you're about to present here today.

MR. GOMEZ:  It's one of the parts that I could use, yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Let's take a look at Exhibit No. 4, the document that states at the Bottom Gross

Isopach Lodgepole Mound.  What does Exhibit No. 4 purport to show?

MR. GOMEZ:  It's showing just a gross thickness of the mound based on various pieces of

information.  The actual well control that I do have in places are depicted on here with the

exception of the sidetrack well in which case I sort of do an estimate of what the thickness of that

well should be.  In addition I used the seismic data, I constructed an isochron from the base of the

Bakken to the top of the mound.  We did have access to Placid's data and we did work the data in

their offices.  So we incorporated not only the well control but also the isochron from the Bakken

to the top of the mound in this map.

MR. WEFALD:  And so these, the seismic shown here would be similar or identical to the

seismics shown by Placid.
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MR. GOMEZ:  It's identical.

MR. WEFALD:  Though some discussion on the cross examination of the Placid witness about a

saddle.  Does that show in this Exhibit No. 4?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, there is a saddle that does show on the swell to the northeast of the Kadrmas

well and to the southwest of the State 74 which is supported by the the Fryburg map that Conoco

has presented.  It's also supported by the Kadrmas No. 75 dipmeter and lastly it's supported by the

seismic isochron.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.  Let's take a look at the next exhibit we'll marked as number 5.  That

would be the top, the Structure Top Lodgepole Mound.  What does Exhibit 5 purport to show?

MR. GOMEZ:  Exhibit 5 shows the structural top of the mound.  Once again this map was

constructed using the subsurface control that existed.  It also uses the isochron. I made a Bakken

structure map based on primarily the well control, very closely it looks very much like the Bakken

structure map that Conoco presented in their field study, and then I added the gross mound

thickness to that Bakken structure and came up with a structure map on top of the mound.

MR. WEFALD:  Let's take a look at the next exhibit called structure Oil/Water Contact and we'll

mark that Exhibit No. 6.  What is the Exhibit No. 6 purport to show?

MR. GOMEZ:  Exhibit No. 6 is the oil/water contact structure.  The points that are used here are



Page 241
solely subsurface.  These are the points that were agreed to or came up with by the technical

committee for the unitization.  It does not show what Aviva might think the actual oil/water

contacts are in these wells.  It's what's agreed upon by the unit operators or the unit working

interest owners.

MR. WEFALD:  There's been some discussion today about Aviva and Singer Trust.  Just so the

record is clear, I believe that the actual client here or the actual working interest owner is the Trust.

 Aviva is basically sort of the holding company that manages a series of assets in the same

company structure.  Let's go on to Exhibit No. 7 which is called the Lodgepole Net Pay.  Let's

direct your attention to Exhibit No. 7.  Is this exhibit been prepared on the basis as an analysis of

Exhibits 2 through 6?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, it has been.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay and where does this exhibit purport to show?

MR. GOMEZ:  This exhibit is our interpretation, being Singer Trust's interpretation of what the

net pay is infield using the previous maps.  It is a subtraction.  How this map was derived was that

the structure the gross map or the structure top of the Lodgepole mound which is Exhibit No. 5

was subtracted from the oil/water contact which is Exhibit No. 6 and the residual map what was

left is the net pay.

MR. WEFALD:  And this net pay shows that saddle in it, does it not, that was discussed earlier
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today?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, it does show a thinning to the northeast of the Kadrmas into the southwest of

the State No. 74.

MR. WEFALD:  And this net pay map is based on seismic data and the log data.  Is it not?

MR. GOMEZ:  It is indirectly, yes.  It's a complication of the previous maps which were based on

those two items.

MR. WEFALD:  Let me direct your attention to the Conoco Exhibit No. 13.  As you compare that

to the Trust Exhibit No. 7, perhaps you can just generally explain on the record, what's the

principle difference you see between the pays as exhibited on 13 for Conoco and the net pay as

exhibited on 7 for the Trust?

MR. GOMEZ:  I think the biggest difference is the eastern boundary.  The Trust agrees more with

Placid's interpretation boundary, the eastern boundary, that's based once again primarily on the

seismic data.  Conoco does give the Trust more acreage in the S/2 of Section 31.  They swing

theirs out a little bit further to the west than I have on this map.  Relatively the other is the north

end we're fairly close agreement.  We might have given a little bit more to Placid but the biggest

difference is on the east end.

MR. WEFALD:  You've heard some discussion here today about 3D seismic.  Have you not?
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MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, I have.

MR. WEFALD:  Based on your knowledge and your professional experience, would you expect

that a 3D seismic of this location would yield a more accurate net pay map?

MR. GOMEZ:  I believe it would.  If the 3D seismic is indeed tied into the well control and the

other control that you have in the area you should have a very complete picture of what this reef or

mound should look like.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay, let's take a look at the document Exhibit No. 8 Summary of Original Oil in

Place.  Can you tell us what that purports to show?

MR. GOMEZ:  This was a planimetering of the net pay map done by one of Interra's engineers

and coming up with a various oil in place or the various tracts within the unit.

MR. WEFALD:  This is Exhibit No. 8 again I believe.  We would offer into evidence Exhibits 1

through 8.

MR. CARVELL:  What was Exhibit No. 1.

MR. WEFALD:  That was the bio., the, his curriculum vita. 
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MR. CARVELL:  Any objection to the exhibits?

MR. BENDER:  No objection.

MR. MORRISON:  No objection.

MR. WEFALD:  We have no further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Those exhibits are received.  Cross examination?

MR. BENDER:  Just a few questions.  Mr. Gomez I'm going to refer your attention to what you

have marked as Exhibit No. 7.  I'd also like to refer your attention at the same time to Placid's

Exhibit No. 9, Placid's Exhibit No. 9. 

MR. NORTON:  Which one is nine.

MR. MORRISON:  Lodgepole Mound Net Pay Isopach.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.

MR. BENDER:  Your interpretation of the net pay in the southwest quarter of Section 29 and the

southeast quarter of Section 30 is significantly different from the interpretation of Placid's.   Is that

correct?
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MR. GOMEZ:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  And you used the same data, is that correct, to draw these maps?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, I did. I used the same seismic data.

MR. BENDER:  Can you tell me from the section line of the S/2 of Section 29 what the distance

is to the zero edge on your map?

MR. GOMEZ:  On my map I would say it's roughly 600, 700 feet.

MR. BENDER:  Now go to Placid's Exhibit No. 9.  Can you tell me what the distance is from the

S/2 section line of 29 or 30 to the zero edge?

MR. GOMEZ:  I would say on their map its about 800-900 feet.  If I can go back to mine, please,

I'd say you're probably looking at about 550 to 600 feet.

MR. BENDER:  So, what's the difference?

MR. GOMEZ:  When I prepared my map, I cannot speak to Placid, but when I prepared my map

one of things I did use was the isochron thickness and shotpoints 150 and 155 had a thicker

isochron thickness in the mound which appeared to be pushing the mound a little bit up to the
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north.  Then when I also looked at the seismic line the edge of the mound the way that I'm picking

it, it was very, very abrupt and from that last control point that I had at about 155 to where I picked

the edge it came off very sharply, very steeply.

MR. BENDER:  Thank you.  What's the footage difference though between where you picked the

zero edge on your Exhibit No. 7 and where Placid picked the zero edge on their Exhibit No. 9?

MR. GOMEZ:  If we can just use the shotpoint numbers, their shotpoint, their zero is at shotpoint

160.  On mine it's about 157 1/2 using 110 foot.  That going to be somewhere in the neighborhood

of 300 feet plus or minus.

MR. BENDER:  About 350 feet?

MR. GOMEZ:  Something like that.

MR. BENDER:  Now I'd like to refer you to Conoco's Exhibit No. 13.  How does your Exhibit

No. 7 compare to Conoco's Exhibit No. 13 in the S/2 of Section 29 and the S/2 of Section 30?  Is

it very similar?

MR. GOMEZ:  Well not really having a scale here I would say that just eyeballing it the zero edge

is fairly close along the section line. 

MR. BENDER:  Also on your Exhibit No. 7, you depict a saddle, do you not, between the State 74
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and the Kadrmas No. 75?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. BENDER:  In referring your attention to Placid's Exhibit No. 9, do they depict a saddle?

MR. GOMEZ:  Not as abrupt or as pronounced as I have.

MR. BENDER:  And once again, you were looking at the same seismic data as Placid was?

MR. GOMEZ:  I was using the seismic, the well control, the dipmeter control and the Fryburg

map at this point.

MR. BENDER:  Let's go to your Exhibit.  What number is your oil/water contact, what exhibit?

MR. GOMEZ:  That would be Exhibit 6.

MR. BENDER:  Is it the same as the map that Conoco used in its determination of the oil/water

contact?

MR. GOMEZ:  The values are the same.  It might be slightly different because I contoured it

myself, but the values are identical.
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MR. BENDER:  So you agree with Conoco's interpretation of the oil/water contact and not

Placid's interpretation?

MR. GOMEZ:  No sir, that's not what I said.  What my charged here in this project was to

compare Conoco's interpretation to what Aviva thought they had.  In that case to be consistent, to

be consistent to come up with a map that I can compare to Conoco's net pay I had to use a net pay

map that Conoco used.

MR. BENDER:  Your interpretation is more similar to the Conoco interpretation than the Placid

interpretation?

MR. GOMEZ:  As far as using this, yes, because I had to use this net pay.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison.

MR. MORRISON:  You're not saying you agree with Conoco's oil and water contact.  Is that

right?

MR. GOMEZ:  I am not saying that, no sir.

MR. MORRISON:  Just an assumption you used in your other mapping?
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MR. GOMEZ:  Yes Sir.

MR. MORRISON:  No more questions for this witness.

MR. CARVELL:  Wes?

MR. NORTON:  We're kind of at an impasse on interpretations and, of course, I know where your

values are and I know where Placid's values are and their values.  If, let's say, the Commission did

not approve this unit and new unit came through with a Placid's interpretation, would you be here

opposing that?

MR. GOMEZ:  With Placid's interpretation?  _______________ trouble here (laughter).

MR. NORTON:  You see where I'm going?

MR. GOMEZ:  Yes, I see where you're coming from.  I guess what I would like to say is that

based on what I've seen from all the work that's been done that I would be more akin to agree with

Placid on the east side of this field.  I think their interpretation there is much closer to reality. 

Mostly because they have used the seismic; they've also used some well control along those lines. 

If Conoco is going only with subsurface control, they're missing part of the equation.  There's other

evidence out there that can be used.  So from the east end I would have to tend to agree more with

Placid.  On the other sides, on the other edges I am a little bit more conservative than Placid is on
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the north end.  I'm more in agreement with Conoco.  On west end, I think we agree almost

perfectly on that and on the south end I'm also more conservative.  But I think without

incorporating seismic and the existing well control you cannot have a realistic picture.

MR. NORTON:  What is your percentage interest in the State 74 well?

MR. GOMEZ:  Aviva or Singer Trust has no interest at all in the 74 well.

MR. NORTON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald, any redirect.

MR. WEFALD:  No.

MR. CARVELL:  Any recross?

MR. BENDER:  No recross.

MR. CARVELL:  Next witness.

MR. WEFALD:  Call Kevin Preston.  Could you state your name please.

MR. PRESTON:  Kevin Preston P-R-E-S-T-O-N.
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MR. WEFALD:  Where are you employed, sir?

MR. PRESTON:  I employed by Aviva Inc. which is as you described kind of the umbrella

company for among other companies the Andrea Singer Pollack Revocable Trust.

MR. WEFALD:  What's your general background?

MR. PRESTON:  I'm a petroleum engineer.

MR. WEFALD:  And have you handled the negotiations on behalf of the Trust?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I have.

MR. WEFALD:  Did you attend all four of these meetings that were referred to?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I did.

MR. WEFALD:  There was some discussion about how the oil/water contact was unanimously

arrived at, agreed upon.  Can you just briefly tell the Commission how that unanimous agreements

resulted?

MR. PRESTON:  Well, I think that the parties that were at that particular meeting all came in with
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different oil/water contacts.  There was pretty much general agreement, I think, as to where on the

logs you would go from oil to water, but there was a disagreement on how to map it.  And as I

remember it, Conoco ___________ everybody there thought there was evidence of the tilted

oil/water contact yet they couldn't explain why there would be a tilted oil/water contact.  Because

Conoco could never get comfortable with the tilted oil/water contact, they proposed a flat oil/water

contact with a tilted top to a transition zone.  Basically flat at the 100% water point and a wedge

shape transition zone.  We couldn't, there was no evidence of transition zones in some of the wells

so we couldn't get comfortable with that.  On some of the logs the exact point from water going

from high oil saturations, high water saturations were hard to pick.  The Kadrmas and the State

was not real definitive.  On the other hand in the State 83 it's a very sharp break, there's very little

doubt?  I don't think anybody that did log analysis on that well would pick the water contact

anywhere else than where Placid had picked it. Yet, because we were trying to reach a

compromise, trying to move on with the process, we agreed to compromise, not use a tilted

transition zone but a use a tilted oil/water contact and average the differences between a flat and

the top of the transition and the 100% water line.  And that's where we ended up.

MR. WEFALD:  Would you explain to the Commission how in this one meeting, has been some

testimony this morning that the maps that Conoco has submitted with the unit plan were approved

under the voting formula  by 75%.  What role did the Trust have in arriving at that decision.  What

discussion took place.

MR. PRESTON:  Each company presented a map and votes were taken.   Basically everyone

voted for their own map and against everyone else's map with a few exceptions.  When Conoco's
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map was presented and voted on they did because they have 73-75% depending on which factors

you use of the unit they already achieved the 70% necessary to get the map approved.  They only

needed two additional votes to carry it out of the committee.  They had proxy from one company

the Lewis Hill Trust that had never attended any meetings.  I don't know if they looked at any of

the data that had been mailed or not so that, Conoco could vote that Lewis Hill interest any way. 

And then they wanted and then they also received an affirmative vote from Wiser Oil Company

who is represented by a consultant at that meeting and it was the first time that they had had a

representative at any of the meetings, and he had never seen any of the data.  It had arrived to his

office too late so it just, his information was just based on what he saw in the hour's worth of

presentation before.  At that meeting Placid presented the 2D seismic lines to the group. 

Unfortunately, you know, Lewis Hill was not there and I believe Phillips was not there at that

meeting so you know it really didn't get discussed.  As soon as the vote was taken and Conoco

along with the proxy and Wiser's vote it was over.  No discussion, no compromise, no exchange of

ideas.  My experience on technical committees that are working together to form a unit has been

that their company supply their technical experts and there is discussion that takes place.  I mean

all this data is interpretive and I guarantee all of these maps that have been presented are wrong

and the effort of the technical committee, and this is what we thought was going to happen at that

meeting, would have been to reach some kind of a compromise, consensus opinion as to the

probable shape and thickness of the reservoir.  And that's not what happened at all.  Conoco's

support from Wiser and Lewis Hill represented, I believe, less than 1 1/2% of the total working

interest.  Twenty-four percent of the 25 or 26% that's not owned by Conoco voted against that map

so it's far from a consensus.
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MR. WEFALD:  Let me ask you a couple other follow-up  questions.  The Trust opposes the unit

as is.  Is that correct

MR. PRESTON:  We do just because of the equity formula.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay and does the Trust believe that the proposal is not fair, equitable and

reasonable to all the unit production owners?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes.

MR. WEFALD:  And for that reason you would like to have the unit rejected.  Is that correct?

MR. PRESTON:  That's correct.

MR. WEFALD:  There's been some discussion about 3D seismic data.  Mr. Morrison, I believe,

suggested a possibility with the Trust, go along with a third party analysis of the 3D seismic data

that Conoco has a map that is based on that by a third party.

MR. PRESTON:  I would make that recommendation to management.  I don't know that they

would go for it but we had agreed to help Placid shoot 3D seismic over the field where we had

ownership and we're hoping that they would but then they go no permit by Conoco, Phillips and

that group so they couldn't shoot it.  So at that time we made that decision to allow Placid to 3D

shoot, we were pretty much convinced ourselves that the way Conoco had mapped this reservoir
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was absolutely as small as you could map it honoring all the data across our tract which is the S/2

of 31.  We felt like that there was even though we didn't know what the 3D was going to show we

felt like that there was very little chance that the 3D data would show it the reservoir any smaller

on our tract than it was already mapped.  We felt like we had everything to gain that, I feel like

that the reservoir extends even farther to the west than any of the maps show.

MR. WEFALD:  Do you believe in the industry that 3D is gaining some significant level of

confidence?

MR. PRESTON:  I do.  I have not been using it, but based on reading the publications, it appears

and announcements of discoveries, almost all new discoveries are based on 3D these days and

many development wells are based on 3D.

MR. WEFALD:  Would you believe that, were there an analysis of 3D data the well logs,

structures, that the information that's presently available that you'd have a higher probability of

getting an accurate map of the net pay.

MR. PRESTON:  Based on what I've read and been told, I think it would the most exact way to do

it.  Given the fact that we've got wellbores that we can general synthetic seismograms in the field I

think that we could have a very high degree of confidence in the 3D interpretation.

MR. WEFALD:  Would you have any objection to the Commission continuing this hearing for the

purpose of allowing Conoco to have its 3D data analyzed by a third party and a map prepared so



Page 256
that so the record could be complete on all the data that is available but not yet before the

Commission?

MR. PRESTON:  I would have no objection to that.

MR. WEFALD:  I have no further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Bender.

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, were you present at the first working interest owner meeting?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Did you vote in favor of the voting procedure that was established by the

working interest owners.

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I did.

MR. BENDER:  You've changed your mind today, though, haven't you.  You didn't like the voting

procedure?

MR. PRESTON:  Well, I don't know if there was another way to do it.  The outcome of it, is

unfortunate because it was far from a consensus.



Page 257

MR. BENDER:  Well, how do you define a consensus?  Did you want 100% agreement.

MR. PRESTON:  Well, I think that more than 1 1/2% should support ______ proposal when they

already have 75% interest.

MR. BENDER:  Have you every worked on a working interest owner committee where you've

reach 100% consensus on every issue that came before the committee.

MR. PRESTON:  No.

MR. BENDER:  Have you, I believe you made a statement, correct me if I'm wrong.  You said

every map that was presented here today is wrong.

MR. PRESTON:  Um hum.

MR. BENDER:  Including Aviva's maps.

MR. PRESTON:  Um hum.

MR. BENDER:  How do you know Conoco's maps are wrong?

MR. PRESTON:  ___________________ data.
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MR. BENDER:  Are you a geologist?

MR. PRESTON:  No.

MR. BENDER:  Then how can you say that the geologic maps that Conoco presented are wrong?

MR. PRESTON:  Well, I'll say this that every well that was drilled when every well was drilled

the Conoco map changed.  And Conoco has continued to drill dry holes, and its continued to

change the shape of the reservoir and there's no doubt in my mind that if additional wells were

drilled their maps would change again.

MR. BENDER:  Well, what geologic data do you have to present here just today that would show

that Conoco's maps are wrong?

MR. PRESTON:  None.

MR. BENDER:  It's just something you pulled out of thin air.  Say its wrong because you say its

wrong.

MR. PRESTON:  No no.

MR. BENDER:  No evidence to support it?
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MR. PRESTON:  Are you telling me that they're right?

MR. BENDER:  Witnesses have testified that that's their interpretation.

MR. PRESTON:  That's their interpretation.  I'm just saying that none of these maps are exactly

right, and I think we all know that and the Commission does too.  It's everybody's best guess.

MR. BENDER:  Are you familiar with the statutes and rules of the Commission for establishing a

unit in the state of North Dakota?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I am.

MR. BENDER:  Does the Commission require consensus or do they require 70% vote by the

working interest owners and the royalty owners to form a unit?

MR. PRESTON:  They require 70% but the Commission has the ultimate say.  It only took 70%

why you'd have a technical committee.  Conoco has this whole thing.  That's just, form the unit in

Section 32 and go with it so.  Yeah, I'm familiar with the rules.

MR. BENDER:  How many, how many royalty owners support your position that you've taken

here today and the maps that you've exhibited?
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MR. PRESTON:  Haven't shown it to any of them.

MR. BENDER:  Do you know how many royalty owners support Conoco's plan?

MR. PRESTON:  Wasn't it six you said?

MR. BENDER:  Pardon me.

MR. PRESTON:  Six?

MR. BENDER:  Eight-six, 86%. 

MR. PRESTON:  Oh, that's working interest, that's right. 

MR. BENDER:  Do you know how many of the royalty owners support Conoco's plan for

unitization?

MR. PRESTON:  No I don't.  I heard it this morning and I took notes on it.  I don't remember the

number.

MR. WEFALD:  Well, there's an exhibit, isn't there?

MR. BENDER:  Yes.
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MR. WEFALD:  Yeah, okay well the exhibit speaks for itself . . . I don't __________. 

MR. PRESTON:  I believe 48 of 102 was the number, Mr. Bender.

MR. BENDER:  I believe you stated earlier that Conoco's map that was presented at the working

interest owners meeting honored all the data.  Is that correct?  Is that correct?

MR. PRESTON:  In my opinion it honors the data?

MR. BENDER:  Does Placid's map, in your opinion, honor the data?

MR. PRESTON:  No, it does not.

MR. BENDER:  That's all the questions I have.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  I don't have any questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Wes, Bruce?

MR. NORTON:  I missed, are you an engineer?
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MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I am.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.  Now, referring to your Exhibit No. 7.  The thickest part of the reservoir

appears to be in the W/2 of 32.

MR. PRESTON:  Yes.

MR. NORTON:  And by moving the zero, zero line westwardly from Filipi well you are

eliminating quite a bit of the reservoir.

MR. PRESTON:  That's correct.

MR. NORTON:  So the reservoir volume would be considerably less?

MR. PRESTON:  That's right.

MR. NORTON:  What, have you run a material balance on this reservoir?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I have.

MR. NORTON:  And your material balance had a considerably less recoverable for oil in place

than Conoco's?
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MR. PRESTON:  No.

MR. NORTON:  You had 18 point.

MR. PRESTON:  Well, it wasn't that exact.  When I did my material balance calculations it was

early in the stage of the development.  We had pressures on, on the Kadrmas well after the State

had produced, I believe, 180,000 barrels of oil.  At that time I had to make some fairly gross

assumptions about porosity and other factors that went into the material balance equation, but we

have been working off the figure of 15 to 20 million barrels in place, since the beginning, since we

first got that pressure data from the Kadrmas.  Conoco, on the other hand, was, they were in the 25

to 30 million barrel range, based on the way they were doing material balance.  The 18 million

barrels is based on the model and we have confidence in the model.  We think it was done right.

MR. NORTON:  So you agree with the 18.25?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes.

MR. NORTON:  Now, using the net pay they had on their exhibits, they came up with original oil

in place, using the parameters they used, of 19.42 which is approximately 5% in error from the

material balance.

MR. PRESTON:  Right, I think they said six.
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MR. NORTON:  And as I looked at this map I have no numbers to work with, but by moving the

zero core line to the west and eliminating a lot of the thick reservoir you're going to drop the

reserves considerably using that interpretation.

MR. PRESTON:  16.1 million barrels.

MR. NORTON:  16.1?

MR. PRESTON:  And that was one of our exhibits, I believe.

MR. NORTON:  So that would be roughly . . .

MR. PRESTON:  12.

MR. NORTON:  in excess of 10% error from the material balance.

MR. PRESTON:  That's correct.

MR. NORTON:  Okay, thank you. 

MR. CARVELL:  Bruce?
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MR. WEFALD:  Nothing else, sir.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  Any further exhibits Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  None.

MR. CARVELL:  Witnesses?  Do you have anything further, Lawrence?

MR. BENDER:  I have one additional witness.  A rebuttal witness.

MR. CARVELL:  All right.  Has he been sworn?

MR. BENDER:  No, he hasn't.

MR. CARVELL:  Please raise your right hand.  Do you promise to tell the truth in this hearing?

MR. MOHL:  Yes, I do.

MR. CARVELL:  Thank you. 

MR. BENDER:  Greg, state your name for the record please.

MR. MOHL:  Greg, excuse me, Gregory T. Mohl, M-O-H-L. 
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MR. BENDER:  By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

MR. MOHL:  I'm a Senior Geophysicist with Conoco in Casper.

MR. BENDER:  And in that capacity have you had an opportunity on previous occasions to testify

before the North Dakota Industrial Commission and had your qualifications accepted as that of an

expert?

MR. MOHL:  No, I have not.

MR. BENDER:  Could you then briefly highlight for the examiner your educational background

and work experience?

MR. MOHL:  Yes.  I have a Bachelor's of Science, and Master's of Science Degrees in Geology

from Montana State University and Washington University, respectively.  I also hold a PhD in

Geology from Washington State University.  While my advance degrees are in geology, my

graduate work was actually in applied geophysics.  Conoco hired me as a geophysicist and since

that time I have been fully trained in operating within Conoco as a geophysicist.  Professionally, I

have experience in the Rocky Mountains, mid-continent, offshore Gulf of Mexico regions.  While

in the Gulf of Mexico I worked several of Conoco's 3D _____ including one that covered a total of

1300 square miles.
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MR. BENDER:  You are going awfully fast, slow down a little bit.

MR. MOHL:  Okay.  Most of this work, particularly the 3D work, centered upon reservoir

descriptions, delineation and the application of advanced seismic methods to interpretation

problems.  Also, I have compiled and taught several short courses in the seismic stratigraphic

interpretations, seismic waveform analysis, amplitude and analysis, amplitude analysis versus

offset interpretation and the integration of seismic data and geologic interpretation. 

MR. BENDER:  What are your current responsibilities in Casper with Conoco?

MR. MOHL:  Currently my primary responsibility is in regard to our exploration effort in

northwest Colorado.  However, I also serve as a Casper Division mentor and resource in advanced

geophysical applications.  We furnish seismic waveform analysis, synthetic modeling and

amplitude versus  offset work. 

MR. BENDER:  Is it fair to say, Greg, that on a daily basis you are looking at and interpreting

seismic?

MR. MOHL:  Yes, it is.

MR. BENDER:  Now, Greg, do you have an opinion as to the reliability of using

seismic . . . Greg, do you have an opinion as to the reliability of using seismic data as a means of

determining the reservoir boundary for unitization purposes?
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MR. MOHL:  Yes.  Based upon what I've heard today, I'm hearing a lot of, of banter thrown

around with regard to 3D seismic and how much it can help in this kind of situation.  And yet

there has been no discussion about the physical properties of the Lodgepole Reservoir rocks

themselves, whether or not they support direct seismic identification and how the synthetic

modeling actually applies.  Second of all, I've got a strong concern with regard to seismic wave

theory and its ability to support this level of interpretation, as it defines the edges of the mounds. 

And finally, even if we could get over the physical properties concerns and the wave theory

concerns, from my experience, this type of interpretation is highly interpretive and the

interpretations are new, unique.  Just from that standpoint I consider the seismic method to be

totally inappropriate for an equity type of determination.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Greg, let's talk about your first concern, the physical properties of the

Lodgepole and your concern in that area.  Do you have an exhibit that will help you demonstrate

those concerns?

MR. MOHL:  Yes, I have an exhibit.

MR. BENDER:  I'll show you what has been marked, for purposes of identification as Exhibit No.

26.  Can you tell us what that is and then briefly discuss it?

MR. MOHL:  Yes, this is the sonic log from the Kadrmas well.  It has been discussed several

times today.
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MR. BENDER:  It's actually a portion of the log.

MR. MOHL:  A portion of the log.  It basically covers the Lodgepole portion and then down to

TD so its, you can see the scales that were applied in the sonic log.  The Lodgepole section,

reservoir section, runs from about 9720 down to just over or just under 10,000 feet.  The reason

for showing this log, as well as the companion Exhibit No. 27, is to discuss the velocity contrast

between the actual reservoir itself and the surrounding country rock.  The seismic method requires

there must be either a velocity or a density contrast, fundamental physical properties of the rock in

order to set up the conditions to be able to reflect seismic data.

MR. BENDER:  You are talking about the difference between the clean limestone and the

argillaceous zone, the impermeable barrier that we talked about earlier?

MR. MOHL:  That is correct.

MR. BENDER:  Okay, continue.

MR. MOHL:  The a, there are two ways by which to calculate interval velocity off, off the logs. 

One way is to accept the interval transit time as shown on the right hand side of the depth track

and essentially calculate, allow the log itself to calculate what the interval velocity would be for

that zone.  If I do that, the interval velocity for the Kadrmas well is 18,200 feet per second.  The

other method would be to apply an averaging over it, that averaging that, I have chosen is 55
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microseconds per foot.  Depending upon which camp you're following may or may not be a more

accurate way to look at things.  In any event, the interval velocity chosen by this method is 18,500

feet per second.

MR. NORTON:  What was that number again?

MR. MOHL:  18,500.

MR. NORTON:  Okay.

MR. MOHL:  The importance here is that this sets up what physical properties we can realistically

expect for the reservoir facies.  If we move to, to Exhibit No. 27 . . .

MR. BENDER:  Tell us what that exhibit is.

MR. MOHL:  This is the Frenzel 79, it's an example of a well in which we did not encounter the

Lodgepole mound reservoir. 

MR. BENDER:  It's a portion of a log from that well.

MR. MOHL:  It's a portion of the log from that well.  The same two techniques were applied in

order to establish an interval velocity for this zone, that being using the interval transit time and

using a averaged time taken off, visually picking on the log.  In this case the, the interval transit
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time gives a calculation of 19,000 feet per second and the visual estimation gives us a transit time

of 18,700 feet per second.  In comparing the reservoir to a nonreservoir, this gives us a velocity

difference of only 500 feet per second.  Now, when you think about the model that was shown

previously, the top of the reservoir was a relatively weak reflection and it was tied to the _____

Lodgepole lime marker.  On Exhibit No. 27 that would be the feature that's shown from about

9790 to 9806, that's in the Frenzel 79.  In the Kardamas . . .

MR. BENDER:  Kadrmas.

MR. MOHL:  Kadrmas, this same feature is from about 9628 to 9645.  The interval velocity

calculated by the same methods for these zones is about 16,000 feet per second.  So you have

2500 foot per second difference in there, and that results in a weak reflection.  It's my concern that

when it really comes down to it, 500 feet per second, laterally, between these two zones is

seismically invisible.  When you look at it from the standpoint of their synthetic model that, that

they submitted, the synthetic model is based upon these sonic logs.  Some people may choose to

put density into it, it does not appear as though density was put into that model and based upon the

log response of the wells that have been penetrated in the Lodgepole area the density does not

appear to be a significant contributor.  The important thing to bring out, with regard to that

synthetic model, is that is data that is manufactured from the sonic logs.  It has no noise in it.  It

has none of the complicating factors the, actual field geophysics has in it.  And so to look at a very

subtle waveform anomaly shown on a synthetic model and extrapolate that to, to the interpretation

of actual seismic data is, is a stretch.  Let alone, when you have such a minor velocity. 
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MR. BENDER:  Okay, Greg, I believe in the first part of your testimony you indicated that you

had three concerns.  You've just briefly discussed first your first concern, which was the velocity

contrast, can you, do you have an exhibit that demonstrates your second concern, the wave theory?

MR. MOHL:  Yes, I do.  I believe it's Exhibit No. 28. 

MR. BENDER:  Greg, identify Exhibit No. 28 and tell us what it depicts.

MR. MOHL:  Exhibit No. 28 has to do with seismic theory and what you can realistically expect

for lateral resolution of seismic data.  It brings to bear a lot of the discussion of 2D versus 3D

seismic data and how it can realistically be applied in this example.  To briefly go into it, it is not

my intention to, to do this in detail, seismic energy itself travels to through the earth with a wave,

as such it is subject to the laws of physics associated with wave theory.  That includes the

attenuation and transmission effects of waves passing through a semiviscous medium.  It also, it

also has to do with how a wave interacts with a physical surface.  The top part of the exhibit

graphically demonstrates how a seismic wave front would interact with a boundary zone, say the

top of the Lodge, or the middle Lodgepole marker.  The point to get across is that the seismic itself

is not interacting with a single point, it's interacting with a zone, in effect, a seismic blind spot. 

This is termed the Fresnel Zone.  The mathematical representation of it is indicated in the middle

of the exhibit.  The radius of the Fresnel Zone is what we are calculating, and that would just be

the, the radius of the feature, in a 3D sense it's circular, in a 2D sense it showed up as a line.  ____

velocity is the velocity that the wave had, that the wave was able to travel from the surface down

to the target.  The two way time in seconds relates to the depth of target as does when, when
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coupled with the velocity field, and then the dominant frequency of the data in hertz.  When we

talk about good seismic data versus bad seismic data  and how it relates to this kind of a, of a

calculation, these velocity fields and the two-way time are things that are reflecting the physical

parameters, we have to deal with.  The only thing that really is encapsulated in the quality of the

data has to do with the dominant frequency.  We chose not to press the, the other parties on what

they thought the dominant frequency of their data might be.  However, if we look at their exhibit,

the seismic model, if we look at their Exhibit No. 4, up in the upper right hand corner, if you can

see a seismic wavelet represented.  It was chosen to be a _____ wavelet for the frequency content

from 12 to 72 hertz, then tapers on to 24 at 24 and 60 hertz.  Okay, visually estimating the

dominant frequency that they would have in their data, it compares very favorably to a seismic

data that we have in Conoco's possession of the Lodgepole feature and that being that there's a

dominant frequency on the order of 40 hertz.

MR. BENDER:  You are talking about the 2D seismic that was obtained in 1990?

MR. MOHL:  I'm talking about the, about the 2D seismic that was obtained in 1991.  The, if you

applied this formula, utilizing the seismic information that Conoco does have over the fields, our

average velocity is 9700 feet per second, our two-way time to the top of the feature is 1.85 seconds

and our dominant frequency in hertz is 40 hertz.  What this translates to if you do the map is a

radius of 1043 feet, or a diameter of 2086 feet.  Now the Fresnel Zone in and of itself has to do

with stacked seismic data.  There's been a lot of discussion with regard to migration, 2D migration

versus 3D migration.  Migration will improve the accuracy of the data, it will _____ the Fresnel

Zone somewhat.  However, it needs to be stressed that migration is a physical movement of the
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data based upon assumptions.  These assumptions include the velocity field that we're going to

migrate the data with.  It also assumes within the programs that the computer is using there are

several different ways you can migrate data with totally different results.  When we think about 2D

versus 3D, 2D data will migrate correctly only if the feature is oriented perpendicular to the line of

section, perpendicular to the seismic line.  Whereas 3D data has a volume we can more correctly

place it in its correct spot, that being not only in the line of section but also in its position

perpendicular with the section.  The reason why I bring all this up is that even with migration on 3

dimensional data, we still are limited to what the resolution of the seismic method can hope to, to

achieve.  And that's shown on the bottom of the, of the exhibit.  And that . . .

MR. BENDER:  28?

MR. MOHL:  Exhibit 28.  And that'd be, that lateral resolution from migrated seismic data can be

approximated by the wavelength, which is the interval velocity over the dominant frequency.  In

the earlier part of my testimony we calculated the interval velocity for the Lodgepole Reservoir to

be 18,500 feet per second.  The dominant frequency in the Conoco data is 40 hertz.  And that

means that the best that we could possibly hope to do from a seismic wave theory standpoint is

462 feet and that's 462 feet for a single trace that's shown on the seismic data.  If there is any error

in the interpretation, that being any ability to move the interpretation one trace or another this error

is compounded on top of that.  As I indicated this calculation is sensitive to the earth properties,

the property of the rocks that we're dealing with, and the data quality, but the data quality itself is

tempered by the log properties.  There are limits to which the highest frequency seismic data we

can possibly obtain would be, as all parties concerned have spent considerable effort trying to
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acquire the best quality seismic data they could get.  It's reasonable to assume that we have

acquired the highest quality data we can acquire at this point in time. 

MR. BENDER:  Okay, Greg you've spent some time now discussing the problems you have in

this area with velocity contrast, you've discussed some, the problems you have with the wave

theory, even if you didn't have problems with those two areas, would you have problems using

seismic data to interpret the zero line on a reservoir?

MR. MOHL:  Yes and this is, this goes back to my experience within Conoco, in doing reservoir

kind of work.  I've spent the majority of my career looking at wave form type of anomalies and

trying to work at or below the effective resolution of the seismic data.  This has been primarily

exploration work.  Without exception this has been highly interpretive.  It's very sensitive to the

individual rock properties.  It's also sensitive to the acquisition parameters of the seismic data and

the processing of the seismic data.  In the, in these steps there are interpretation steps that are taken

in order to try to optimize your data, the data for whatever feature you are trying to, to highlight. 

Choosing the wrong parameter, even if you think you are doing so at the time, can totally

invalidate the data.  This waveform work is particularly sensitive to this and as the model shows,

this is a waveform anomaly that we, we are truly looking at.  Then finally, there's the post

processing in the things and the things that we do with the data to make it so it is more visually

interpretable.  The bottom line is that work of this nature is very good for exploration.  It can give

you a general shape  for, for what you're looking at and point you in the right directions.  From the

standpoint of, of trying to atone an equity, or basis, or, or exactly the fine amount, that is not going

to change.  The solution is not unique and it's an inappropriate use of the tool.
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MR. BENDER:  Greg how long have you been involved in interpreting seismic data?

MR. MOHL:  Approximately seven years.

MR. BENDER:  And in those seven years have you ever been asked to utilize seismic data to

predict the reservoir boundary on unitization purposes?

MR. MOHL:  I have been asked to predict reservoir boundaries in an exploration sense, to decide

whether or not we want to be thinking about a play, from the standpoint of a unitization sense, no I

have never been.

MR. BENDER:  So, it's an exploration tool, in your opinion?

MR. MOHL:  It's an exploration tool.  It has some development applications but never as far as

defining a limit that you're going to stick with.

MR. BENDER:  You indicated that you have never utilized seismic, either 2D or 3D to depict a

reservoir boundary for unitization purposes.  Are you aware of any other, any geoscientist who

may have used seismic to depict a reservoir boundary for unitization purposes?

MR. MOHL:  No, I am not.
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MR. BENDER:  I believe that's all the questions I have for this witness at this time.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  Sir, are you familiar with Conoco's 3D seismic program over the area in

question today?

MR. MOHL:  I am somewhat familiar.

MR. MORRISON:  What's the status of interpretation of that data?

MR. MOHL:  That data is currently being looked at with regard to exploration.

MR. MORRISON:  Has it been looked at with regards to confirming or disproving Conoco's

interpretation of the Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool as presented today?

MR. MOHL:  I do not know that for sure.

MR. MORRISON:  You have not done it?

MR. MOHL:  I have not done that, no.

MR. MORRISON:  Who else might have done it?
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MR. MOHL:  The individual responsible for doing that work is Ian Gordon.

MR. MORRISON:  Who?

MR. MOHL:  Ian Gordon.

MR. MORRISON:  Has Ian Gordon had access to that 3D?

MR. MOHL:  He has been looking at the, the whole volume.

MR. MORRISON:  Now, Ian Gordon was responsible for all the geologic data that was presented

today, wasn't he?

MR. MOHL:  That is correct. 

MR. BENDER:  No. 

MR. MOHL:  No, that is not correct.  He was the geoscientist primarily involved.

MR. MORRISON:  Primarily involved, okay.  Do you agree that seismic data at least gives you

additional information, additional points of information to be considered, to be considered when

making an interpretation of the reservoir boundaries?
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MR. MOHL:  If it is correctly acquired and processed and interpreted, and that is the big if.

MR. MORRISON:  And there are interpretive differences whether you are talking about seismic

or subsurface well control.  Isn't that right?

MR. MOHL:  The danger with interpretive differences in seismic is that you can make decisions

early on the process that totally invalidate the data, and to the untrained eye you will never see

them.

MR. MORRISON:  Have you made a synthetic seismograms of the two logs that you have marked

as Conoco's Exhibits 1 through 6 and 27?

MR. MOHL:  I have not.  I have looked at the ones that Ian has made, helped him with that. 

MR. MORRISON:  And looking at those synthetic seismograms have you seen events that

correspond to the Lodgepole shale marker?

MR. MOHL:  I have seen an event that corresponds to Lodgepole shale marker.

MR. MORRISON:  You've seen events that correspond to the Bakken shale?

MR. MOHL:  I have seen events that correspond to the Bakken shale.
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MR. MORRISON:  Is there a difference in the thickness between those two events, on the two

different seismograms?

MR. MOHL:  Between those two events, however, I'd like to state that the Lodgepole shale

marker does not necessarily define the top of the reservoir. 

MR. MORRISON:  No further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  Am I to understand from your testimony that you would advise the Commission

to completely disregard the seismic data here today?

MR. MOHL:  I would advise the Commission to disregard seismic data as a method by which to

determine equity.

MR. WEFALD:  And you would think it would be better just to take that top of the Fryburg and

project it down and use the well logs and that would be the best way to do it.  Is that right?

MR. MOHL:  Knowing the inaccuracies that can be involved in 2 dimensional or 3 dimensional

data, to use the seismic data _____________ interpretation is not necessary, that is not necessary.
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MR. WEFALD:  Not necessary from Conoco's standpoint, because Conoco has a definition that

says we're way out here to the east.  Is that correct?

MR. MOHL:  I am really not considering Conoco's standpoint in that regard _______________.

MR. WEFALD:  You work for Conoco, don't you?

MR. MOHL:  I do work for Conoco.

MR. WEFALD:  Thank you.  With respect to seismic, why is Conoco spending the money

shooting 3D seismic over this area?

MR. MOHL:  We are primarily looking at it from the standpoint of exploration, we consider it to

be a very useful and viable tool in an exploration sense. 

MR. WEFALD:  And is Conoco willing to put that data in the hands of a third person for the

purpose of making out a map?

MR. MOHL:  That would not solve the problems associated with using seismic data in equity

determinations and that being that fundamentally the seismic is not appropriate for that.

MR. WEFALD:  Of course, there's an equity problem when we use just the Fryburg and the, the

well logs, isn't it?  If, if the equity is cut both ways don't they?
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MR. MOHL:  Could you rephrase the question or?

MR. WEFALD:  You're talking about equity, you're a scientist, right?

MR. MOHL:  Yes.

MR. WEFALD:  Geologist?

MR. MOHL:  Yes. 

MR. WEFALD:  Equity is fairness we're talking about, right?

MR. MOHL:  Yes.

MR. WEFALD:  And that's from someone's point of view.  What's fair to you may not be fair to

me, is that right?

MR. MOHL:  It can be viewed that way.

MR. WEFALD:  What's that?

MR. MOHL:  It could be viewed that way.
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MR. WEFALD:  Of course that's why we are here, it is being viewed that way, isn't it?

MR. MOHL:  All of those maps have been approved by the overall group.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.  You understand that there's a dispute here today about the equity, do you

not?

MR. MOHL:  Yes, I do.

MR. WEFALD:  All right.  That's all I'm asking.  And yet what you're telling us is that that dispute

should be resolved by completely throwing out the seismic.  Is that right?

MR. MOHL:  What I'm telling you is that dispute should be resolved by the data of which has

gotten the least amount of interpretation associated with it.

MR. WEFALD:  But, in fact, seismic is data that this Commission can use along with the well

logs, the Fryburg, just the way our witness, Mr. Gomez, put it together.  It's all data that's relevant

to the analysis.  Is it not?

MR. MOHL:  If correctly used.

MR. WEFALD:  Did Mr. Gomez incorrectly use the data here today?
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MR. MOHL:  I did not . . .

MR. WEFALD:  Let the witness answer his own questions, please.

MR. MOHL:  I did not . . .

MR. WEFALD:  Just a minute, I don't want anybody coaching him.  You heard the witness, did he

incorrectly testify today?

MR. BENDER:  Mr. Wefald, I don't think you have to yell at the witness.  Ask your question, but

you don't have to yell.

MR. WEFALD:  All right, I apologize, I don't mean to yell.  But, please, when I ask you question,

don't consult someone else, just answer the question, will you please?

MR. MOHL:  All right.

MR. WEFALD:  Then, I'll rephrase the question again.  Did Mr. Gomez incorrectly interpret the

data here today?

MR. MOHL:  I did not have the opportunity to fully evaluate Mr. Gomez's interpretation.  I have

not seen how he has picked the edge of the mound.  He has represented it from the standpoint that
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he feels he is accurate in defining the reservoir edge at a single shotpoint.  I believe that is below

the resolution of the tool and in that regard I believe that is an incorrect representation of the

mound, if you are planning on using it in equity determination.

MR. WEFALD:  Is that a yes or a no?

MR. MOHL:  That is a no. 

MR. WEFALD:  Okay.  So, no, he did not incorrectly interpret the data.

MR. MOHL:  Yes, he correctly, he did not correctly interpret the data.  He's trying to apply it

beyond its resolutions.

MR. WEFALD:  Okay, so Mr. Gomez's testimony is incorrect today?

MR. MOHL:  In that sense I would say yes.

MR. WEFALD:  And all the people that testified here today, they've got absolute, precise data that

tells them exactly what the answer is for this underground structure that's 10,000 feet

underground, right?

MR. MOHL:  We have the well information, of which we can go a point on the earth and say, at

this point this information exists.
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MR. WEFALD:  And all the rest of it between the points is interpretation, is it not?

MR. MOHL:  It is.

MR. WEFALD:  All right.  I have no further questions. 

MR. CARVELL:  Wes?

MR. NORTON:  I don't have any questions of this witness.

MR. CARVELL:  Any redirect?

MR. BENDER:  No redirect.

MR. CARVELL:  Any further witnesses?

MR. BENDER:  No further witnesses.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, any witnesses?

MR. MORRISON:  No.
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MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  Done.

MR. NORTON:  I have a, if I can I'd like to clear up a question I have on Exhibit 7, Aviva Exhibit

7 versus the Placid Exhibit 9.

MR. CARVELL:  Exhibit 7 is, which one?

MR. NORTON:  The Aviva.  Now you use the same data and you came up with two different

interpretations.  But the question I have is, whether it, I, I assume that the lines are plotted on these

exhibits to scale because both of them go on the east side of the section line through most of 32,

then they go on the west side of the section line through exhibit, or Section No. 6.  However, the

section line between 29 and 30, the Aviva exhibit has the, the data points right on the section line

and the Placid exhibit has the data points, and I scaled it out here, at roughly 200 foot west of the

section line.  Now, my question is, was this just a drafting error on one part or the other or was that

the point that the data was interpreted from?

MR. CARVELL:  Who is your question addressed to, Wes?

MR. NORTON:  Well, I don't know.

MR. GOMEZ:  Sir, I would tend to think it's probably a drafting error.  I can't explain it to you
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why, how it happened, but I would think that's what happened.

MR. NORTON:  So, you don't know for sure.

MR. GOMEZ:  I don't know for sure, but just because there is a discrepancy I would tend to agree

with you that it's a drafting error, on who's part I don't know.

MR. NORTON:  Thank you.

MR. CARVELL:  Was there anything, any more witnesses or exhibits or any questions, Mr.

Bender?

MR. BENDER:  No more witnesses, no more exhibits.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  No.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  We got one more exhibit and I want to question Mr. Preston on the models, the

Conoco's model prediction verses the ultimate recovery.  This would be Exhibit No. 9.  Kevin,

you're still under oath, can you tell us what this is?
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MR. BENDER:  Is this a rebuttal testimony or . . .

MR. CARVELL:  Well, I like to . . .

MR. BENDER:  I'm going to object if it's not rebuttal testimony _____.

MR. CARVELL:  Objection overruled.  Go ahead and see what it is here.

MR. WEFALD:  What is this Kevin?

MR. PRESTON:  Well, this shows a comparison between primary recovery predicted by Conoco's

model versus primary recovery that was used in the equity determination.  And before I go into

that I'd like to point out that several times during today's testimony it's been stated that the map,

the oil in place map was used to derive one half of the Phase I factor and all of the Phase II factor,

and actually that's incorrect.  The oil in place map was directly used for both parts of Phase I and

all of Phase II, because primary, remaining primary, the way that Conoco went through the

formula was based on oil in place which was based on the map, so both, in that Phase I part of the

formula 50% remaining primary, 50% original oil in place figures are derived from the oil in place

map.  Conoco, Conoco's model predicted recoveries from each of the four producing wells.  And

they're shown in that first column under millions of barrels.  The model predicted that the State 74

would make 1.86 million barrels.  The Kadrmas 2.02; the Frenzel .81; the State 83 .37.  You add

all those up, you get a little over 5 million barrels.  Conoco took the model's ultimate recovery
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prediction, it's material balance, I mean it's the model's material balance oil in place, numbers 18

point something million barrels and divided that by the 5 million barrels that the model predicted

to come up with a recovery factor of 27.7%.  They then took that 27.7% and applied it to the map's

volumes by tract to come up with primary recovery by tract, disregarding the primary recovery that

had been predicted by the model.  So, they were, they were willing to use the model for primary

recovery predictions for the field as a whole but not for individual tracts.  And, if you'll notice the

State 74 well, the model predicted would produce 37% of the oil in place, I mean 37% of the

primary oil, yet the number that was used for equity determination was over 50% of the primary. 

Conversely, the Kadrmas 75 and the other remaining wells, their recovery under the equity

formula goes way down compared to what the model predicted. 

MR. WEFALD:  We'd offer Exhibit 9.

MR. CARVELL:  Any objections to the exhibit, Mr. Bender?

MR. BENDER:  I, may I ask a couple questions before I?

MR. CARVELL:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Mr. Preston, your earlier testimony was that all the exhibits here today were

wrong.  Is this exhibit wrong?

MR. PRESTON:  I, I don't think I said all the exhibits were wrong.  We could check the record, I
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believe I said the maps were.

MR. BENDER:  Is this exhibit correct?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, it is.

MR. BENDER:  Then I have no objection to the exhibit.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, any objections to the exhibit?

MR. MORRISON:  No.

MR. CARVELL:  Exhibit 9 is received.

MR. WEFALD:  Nothing further.

MR. CARVELL:  Cross-examination?

MR. BENDER:  Kevin, are you a reservoir engineer?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, I am.

MR. BENDER:  Are you a, consider yourself an export, expert reservoir modeler?



Page 292

MR. PRESTON:  No, I wouldn't.

MR. BENDER:  What, what is your experience in modeling?

MR. PRESTON:  Very limited.

MR. BENDER:  Tell me about it.

MR. PRESTON:  I've been involved in unitizations, field development, offshore, offshore

California, offshore Gulf, where the modeling was done by other majors like Shell and Exxon.

MR. BENDER:  Have you ever run a reservoir model yourself?

MR. PRESTON:  Never.

MR. BENDER:  Don't have the software program in your office?

MR. PRESTON:  No.  I was relying on Conoco's abilities to run the models.

MR. BENDER:  So you're not testifying today as an expert reservoir modeler?

MR. PRESTON:  No, not at all.  This is, these are Conoco's numbers, these aren't mine. 
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MR. BENDER:  Were you at the working interest owner meeting when the, a decision was made

that reservoir modeling would not be utilized for equity purposes?

MR. PRESTON:  I don't believe that was ever decided on.  Conoco just stated it many times.

MR. BENDER:  You don't recall that ever coming up and you agreeing to it?

MR. PRESTON:  I don't even know if it was voted on or not, but it is being used anyway.  The

27.7% came from the model. 

MR. BENDER:  But, every tract was treated the same, was it not? 

MR. PRESTON:  That's right, but when you start subtracting out cums and looking at oil in place

in comes into play.

MR. BENDER:  So the reservoir model was never used as, for equity purposes, was it?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, it was, the 27.7% that's used in the calculation.

MR. BENDER:  For the original oil in place, but it wasn't used to allocate oil to the various tracts?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes, it was, indirectly.  Because it comes into play in that remaining primary
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part of the formula.  If you remember Phase I it's 50% remaining primary, 50% remaining oil in

place.  Remaining primary is based on 27.7% times the original oil in place less the cum

production, then they allocated some of the oil _____ in tracts that didn't have wells.

MR. BENDER:  Did you receive copies of the minutes from each one of the working interest

owner meetings that have taken place?

MR. PRESTON:  Yes.

MR. BENDER:  Do you recall seeing in one of the minutes from those meetings that the reservoir

model would not be utilized for equity purposes?

MR. PRESTON:  I don't remember that.  I remember it being said many times by Conoco.  I don't

know if they voted on it, but if you've got minutes and it says it was voted on I'll believe it.

MR. BENDER:  Just give me a minute.  So you would agree, it maybe was voted on, or do I need

to show you in the minutes?

MR. PRESTON:  If the minutes say it, I'll agree.

MR. BENDER:  Well, if it was voted on and Aviva agreed not to use the reservoir model, why are

you changing your mind now, why . . .
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MR. PRESTON:  Because they are using it.  They are using it.  They are using that 27.7% to come

up with an estimate of primary recovery by tract.  That number came straight from the model. 

Now, in normal unitizations, or in most unitizations that I've been involved in you are lengthening

the life of the field, you've got production history on each well and you can go through more

classical reserve determination on producing wells to come up with what remaining primary is. 

Maybe it's just straight decline curve analysis.  In this case because it's so new you can't do that. 

So you, you have to come up with some other method for determining primary recovery in each

well.

MR. BENDER:  If it was utilized in the equity formula in this particular case why would have

there been discussions not to use it at the working interest owner meetings and if it's in the minutes

why would there have been a vote not to use if it was utilized anyway?

MR. PRESTON:  Can't, I can't answer that.

MR. BENDER:  I would like some time, can we take a short break so we can try to find this?

MR. CARVELL:  What time is it?  Break for ten minutes.  We'll reconvene the hearing.  Do you

have questions?

MR. BENDER:  I have no further questions of Mr. Preston. 

MR. PRESTON:  Was that in the minutes?
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MR. CARVELL:  Well, just a minute.  You have no further questions?

MR. BENDER:  I have no further questions of Mr. Preston.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison, any questions?

MR. MORRISON:  No.

MR. CARVELL:  Any redirect?

MR. WEFALD:  Can we assume from that silence that it's not in the minutes?

MR. BENDER:  We were unable to find it.

MR. WEFALD:  All right. 

MR. NORTON:  I have a question on Exhibit 9.

MR. CARVELL:  Go ahead.

MR. NORTON:  I'm not clear on Exhibit 9, whether the model attributes the oil that the wells

would produce ultimately on a rule of capture basis or whether it was allocated on the basis of the
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spacing unit?

MR. PRESTON:  It was the rule of capture. 

MR. NORTON:  Okay.  So it has no, no regard for lease lines or spacing unit lines?  Okay.

MR. PRESTON:  And I guess the reason I thought that was important was because in the

regulations it says that one of the, one of the things that they are looking for as far as having a fair

and equitable unit is that they have to take into account the probable productivity of oil and gas in

the absence of unit operations.  In the absence of unit operations we are going to be on primary

basis, just like that rule.

MR. NORTON:  Thank you.

MR. PRESTON:  The model was applicable.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Bender, I understand you have a witness that's going to respond to Exhibit

9?

MR. BENDER:  Yes.  I want to recall Kevin Zorn, please.  Kevin, you've testified previously in

this hearing?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, I have.



Page 298

MR. BENDER:  And you are still under oath.  Kevin, were you in the room when Mr. Preston just

recently testified concerning the reservoir modeling?

MR. ZORN:  Yes, I was.

MR. BENDER:  Can you tell me Kevin, why the cumulative production numbers that were

generated by the model were not included in the equity formula?

MR. ZORN:  Well, the reservoir modeling study was not conducted in order to calculate

remaining recovery by wellbores.  As a matter of fact, at the second working interest owners

meeting there was considerable discussion around the use of a reservoir model for that purpose. 

There were a couple of individuals, I believe, and my recollection is with Placid, who raised some

objections to doing a modeling study because of their fear that it was going to be used for this

purpose.  It was never Conoco's intent to use the modeling study for equity calculations.  The

model parameters were not designed for that purpose.  The purpose of the reservoir model was to

make technical decisions on how to optimize the recovery from the field.  The model is very

useful in predicting approximately how much oil will be recovered from the entire field.  Since all

the wells in the field are in pressure communication and any production rate changes in one well

are going to change the cumulative oil recoveries of all the other wells, it is very difficult to

predict with any degree of accuracy how much oil will come out of individual wells.  Two of the

wells in the field, the State No. 74 and the Kadrmas No. 75 are capable, individually, by

themselves, of draining the entire reservoir, all 753 acres.  Due to the high permeability in the
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reservoir all four wells are like straws in one big glass of oil.  Depending on the way the wells are

produced, when they begin to cut water, when they are put on artificial lift, what type of artificial

lift method is chosen, you are going to get a different calculation of oil in place.  What we know

with reasonable accuracy is that the field will produce a little over 5 million barrels from the

whole field.  Mr. Hicks, I think, was questioning me earlier about some of the points on the

decline curve predicted from the model on the waterflood case.  And I went into just a little bit of

the calculations involved and why we see some of those fluctuations in the decline curve.  As I

mentioned at that time there's probably five, four or five different methods to put on artificial lift

on these wells.  We modeled one case.  There is an unlimited number of scenarios on the way that

they are going to be produced.  And I need to indicate that this is a lot different than what you

would see in a typical reservoir where you're using reservoir modeling for this purpose.  For one

fact we have very little production history on any of these wells.  The only well that we have any

history on to speak of is the State No. 74.  The model prediction of what an individual well is

going make is only as good as the history match.  You can't do a history match on the Frenzel 79. 

You can't to a history match on the State 83 and you can barely do a history match, if you want to

call it that, on the Kadrmas 75 because it was only on line for about three months or two months

before we started artificially controlling the rates.  The same reason that you can't use decline

curve analysis to predict individual well productions is the reason that you can't use a reservoir

model.  Any attempt to use the numbers from the reservoir model to predict individual well

cumulative recoveries is a gross misuse of the tool and had that been Conoco's intent or the

working interest owners intent at the very beginning, the model would have been set up

completely different.  We have a lot of simplifications in the model as I went over, I think, in an

earlier question from Mr. Norton concerning how the aquifer is treated, concerning how the
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permeability distribution in the reservoir is treated, the best way to allocate equity in this field is

based upon where the original oil in place is.  Now, obviously there's some disagreement on where

oil in place is.  We have an interpretation and both of the other parties have interpretations.  That's

where the disagreement lies, is where the oil in place is located.  You cannot use, in this particular

circumstance, this reservoir simulator to try to predict what individual wells are going to make. 

And so this comparison that Mr. Preston has done here is totally irrelevant. 

MR. BENDER:  No further questions.

MR. CARVELL:  Cross, Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  Yes.  Kevin, you agree that the 27.7% recovery factor and the 5.38 MMBO of

primary recovery came from the model, right?

MR. ZORN:  The 5.38 that's correct, yes.  The 27.7% recovery factor came from the model. 

That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, both those two numbers came from the model?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And how was the 5.38 million barrels of oil then allocated to existing wells

for purposes of computing primary recovery under Phase I?
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MR. ZORN:  What I did was I took every tract, oil in place by tract, based upon the map that's in

Conoco's exhibits.  So the first calculation was, on any of the maps using the 5.372% average

porosity, using the 10.6% connate water saturation, using the ____ at original reservoir conditions,

I think it's on Exhibit 15, 1.3 something, you calculate an original oil in place in each well.  Then

we took the 27% recovery factor and applied this same number to every tract.  We could have

used 10%.  We could have used 5%.  We could have used 30%.  We could have used any number,

every tract was treated the same.  The only place where the reservoir model has anything to do

with the equity formula is not in the 27%, it's when you go from Phase I to Phase II.  The timing of

when you go from Phase I to Phase II is based upon cumulative oil recovery predicted by the

model.  That is the only place where it enters the equity calculation. 

MR. MORRISON:  You said if you used, you calculated oil in place for each tract, each producing

tract?  Is that right?

MR. ZORN:  That's right.

MR. MORRISON:  And then you applied a number.  Did you apply 27.7% to it?

MR. ZORN:  That's correct.

MR. MORRISON:  And so the primary recovery from each tract is simply 27.7% of the oil in

place calculated for the spacing unit for any particular existing well?
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MR. ZORN:  That's correct.  And then what, as I discussed I think in the, excuse me, in the direct

testimony, the tracts that did not have producing wells, Tracts 5 through 9 that oil will be

recovered from the four producing wells.  That oil from those nonproducing tracts was then

allocated on a weighted average basis based upon the isopach map to the four producing wells.  So

since Conoco's isopach maps shows that the most acre feet of the reservoir is located on the W/2

of Section 32 it gets the largest chunk of that.  And, in our opinion, the State No. 74 has the most

oil in place and so in order to protect the correlative rights in the W/2 of 32 it should be allocated

the highest equity in the field. 

MR. MORRISON:  Okay, so both parameters in your Phase I calculation depend upon the

accuracy of your isopach of the Lodgepole?

MR. ZORN:  That's exactly correct.

MR. MORRISON:  All right, which I think was Mr. Zorn's point in the first place.  Not Mr. Zorn,

excuse me, Mr. Preston's point.  Okay, no further questions.

MR. WEFALD:  Nothing

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  I don't know if you, the lawyers formally moved all the exhibits but all

the exhibits that we've been talking about, they will be made part of the record unless anyone has

an objection on any particular exhibit. 
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MR. WEFALD:  I think they've all been moved into the record, but if not we'd certainly agree to

that.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay, and then we've got some letters, are they with you?

MR. WEFALD:  No, I brought them up to you, you've got them right there.

MR. CARVELL:  Oh, here they are.  We've got a handful of letters from some of the working

interest owners as well as some of the royalty owners.  These will be made part of the record, if

anybody wants to look at them they can just come up here and have a look.  Is there anyone else

here that's interested in this case and would like to make a statement or otherwise be heard?

MR. MORRISON:  I have one other comment that doesn't have to do with Placid.  It's really

another statement of support and that is that Jeff Herman was here throughout most of the day

with PetroHunt and he had to leave shortly after 3:30 and whispered in my ear that he had to leave,

he did ask that I make a statement for the record that PetroHunt supports Placid's position in this

matter and Placid's interpretation of the isopach.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  My name is Robert Post Johnson.  I'm a consultant for the firm of Harris,

Brown and Klemer Inc., P.O. Box 5006, Bismarck, North Dakota.  Here today making a statement
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on behalf of The Wiser Oil Company, Dallas, Texas, in support of Conoco's application for the

unitization.  I'd also like to go on record, even though Wiser was a very small working interest

owner in the unit, they owned 10.6% of the royalty interest under the unit.  So, I'd like to make

sure that goes on record.  Thank you.

MR. CARVELL:  Anyone else wish to be heard? 

MR. BAUER:  My name is Arthur C. Bauer.  I reside in Bismarck, North Dakota and I have

represented Lewis W. Hill, Jr. as a consultant for approximately 30 years.  Just to let you have a

little background information here, Mr. Hill has been a working interest owner in the Dickinson-

Tyler Unit since prior to unitization and has had many years of experience in dealing with Conoco

and has, would like to state that we've been treated very fairly and all the information we've ever

required has been presented to us and one reason, of course, that we don't attend all of the working

interest owners meetings is that we own a very small working interest in the unit.  We own .55%

of the working interest and when you start adding up all these costs of attending these meetings

and so forth it's been decided that we would not attend all the meetings.  But, we have been

furnished with all the minutes, all the mapping, all, any question that we've ever requested of

Conoco and for this reason, and for the many years of past history that we've had with Conoco and

the experiences all to the best side, we chose to support Conoco by proxy at the various meetings

that have been held.  But today I am here to strongly emphasize the fact that we favor Conoco's

plan of unitization as is and we'll continue to support them.  Thank you very much.

MR. CARVELL:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Any closing remarks, Mr. Bender?
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MR. BENDER:  Thank you Mr. Examiner, I'm not going to try to, in just a brief period of time,

summarize all the testimony that was given here today, but let me try to highlight just a few points.

 If Conoco's application is granted in this matter 2½ million barrels of additional oil is going to be

recovered from Dickinson-Lodgepole Pool.  If the unit is not formed that's oil that will be left in

the ground and will cause waste.  Conoco is in a very unique situation in this particular unit,

unlike Aviva, unlike Placid, unlike any other working interest owner, it owns an interest in every

tract in the unit.  Conoco, therefore, has a obligation to protect the correlative rights of those

royalty owners in each one of those tracts.  You heard the testimony early on today of Mr. Jim

Turner.  Jim testified the painstaking attempts that Conoco went through to keep the working

interest owners involved in this process, the various meetings we held, the more stringent voting

procedure that was adopted at the first meeting.  Jim also testified that more than 85% of the

royalty owners have thus far ratified the unit agreement and support Conoco's plans for unitization

in this field.  You also heard the testimony of Jerry Hyrkas, a geologist who indicated that he

believes that the best information available was used in constructing the various geologic maps

that were presented to the Commission.  You also heard the testimony of Mr. Preston who agreed

that Conoco's maps honored all of the data in the tracts.  Finally you heard the testimony of Mr.

Kevin Zorn and Kevin explained in great detail the benefits of unitization, the additional recovery

of oil and gas that will be received as a result of the unitization, the additional revenue that will be

generated for the working interest owners in the neighborhood of $9,000,000.  And the additional

revenue that will be generated for the royalty interest owners in the neighborhood of 2½ million

dollars.  I said finally, but you also heard from a rebuttal witness, Mr. Greg Mohl, who I believe,

outlined in great detail the inaccuracy or the difficulty in attempting, difficulty in attempting to
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rely on seismic information.  Greg spent a great deal of time explaining that there's problems with

this particular reservoir in particular.  That the resolution in these clean limestones versus the

argillaceous zone outside the clean limestone that encapsulates the reservoir is such that it is very

difficult to conduct seismic work, work in this area.  He also discussed for you briefly the fact that

the wave theory caused some problems and there's a very difficult time interpreting this.  Beyond

that I'll just mention one, one more thing and Mr. Morrison raised this in his opening remarks that

this particular unitization hearing is very different than the Little Knife hearing because in that

situation the royalty owners were vehemently opposed to unitization.  I differ with Mr. Morrison. 

Conoco is here today with sufficient number of ratifications from the working interest owners to

have this unit formed.  Conoco is also here today with 86% of the royalty interest owners who

have ratified the unit agreement and are ready for this field to be unitized.  Well, oil, excuse me,

the wells in this field have been restricted for a great deal of time, I think right now we are at

approximately 600 barrels of oil per day, we were at 200 barrels of oil per day.  We are here now

for unitization.  If this application is denied there's absolutely no assurance that the working

interest owners will ever get together again and be able to come back to this Commission and

submit another application.  And even, even more difficult, I think, is to predict what will happen

to royalty owners.  I don't think there's, there's any guarantee at all that Conoco will be able to go

back to these royalty owners and say well, the Commission denied the application, we've now got

to take a small percentage away from you and give it to your neighbor or vise a versa and expect

that these royalty owners are going to once again approve a ratification.  In that respect I would

urge the Commission to act upon this matter quickly, approve the application of Conoco Inc., so

that Conoco can start it's injection procedure and get this field back up to 2000 barrels of oil per

day in production.  That's all I have, thank you.
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MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  The Commission's obligation is to approve the unit proposal that Conoco has

made if it finds that the unit is for the common good and will result in the general advantage of the

owners of oil and gas rights within the common source of supply and it must do so upon terms that

are fair, reasonable, equitable and which are necessary or proper to protect, safeguard and adjust

the respective rights and obligations of the owners of the oil and gas rights.  This isn't a popular

election.  The fact that Conoco comes in here with its own ratification and with ratifications from

five other owners owning a total of 1.6% of Phase I and less than 2% of Phase II does not mean

that the Commission must approve Conoco's request.  The fact that less than half of the number of

royalty owners representing the 86% or 88%, whatever it is of the royalty owners have ratified,

does not mean that this Commission must approve.  The Commission must approve if it finds it

for the common good and if it's upon terms and conditions and that are fair, reasonable and

equitable.  Conoco's made a great statement throughout this entire case on working interest owners

meetings and actions taken at working interest owners meetings.  Apparently Conoco would like

this Commission to believe that because a company participates in the working interest owners

meeting that somehow it's bound by actions and it forfeits its due process rights guaranteed by the

constitution to come into this Commission and voice its objections.  It's simply not true, it's not the

law and it's not equitable, it's not fair to do that.  I think what has been shown, amply demonstrated

to this Commission, is that Conoco is proposing a unit upon a flawed basis.  It has a net pay map

that Conoco itself has admitted is inaccurate.  If nothing else at least to the feet of net pay given

the State "A" 83 well.  It's got ten, ten feet too many.  That alone is sufficient basis for the
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Commission to turn down the application.  There are other inaccuracies that have been described. 

I think it's also painfully clear to everyone in the room that there is very important data that helps

the Commission, that helps the other parties understand what's going on here, that's been withheld,

that's the seismic data, the 3D seismic.  I think what you heard from Conoco's geophysicist is that

golly we don't want to give you this seismic data because you might misinterpret it.  There's a lot

of problems with it, and Placid might misinterpret it, Aviva might misinterpret it, and the

Commission might misinterpret it.  It's the Commission's job to interpret that evidence.  It's

Conoco's job to present the evidence and Conoco didn't do it.  They simply didn't support their

application.  I think Conoco is also crying wolf when they say that if you don't do what we want

now, it's not going to happen, we'll lose 2½ million barrels of oil.  The Commission has ample

authority to order continued restricted production from the field to prevent waste.  The

Commission's  done it before in the 1960's with the fields in the Nesson Anticline, it has the

authority to do it again.  What the Commission should do is deny Conoco's application.  It should

order that continued production restrictions remain in place in order to prevent waste, in order to

give the working interest owners the encouragement and the incentive to come back with a

reasonable proposal, one that protects all the owners in the field.  An alternative the Commission

may consider is perhaps to continue final decision on Conoco's application until sufficient

evidence has been presented.  That sufficient evidence is the 3D seismic which Conoco has

withheld, which Conoco has refused to give the Commission.  I think the Commission is entitled

to demand access to that data or to interpretation by a neutral, disinterested third party before it

rules on the accuracy of Conoco's interpretation of the net pay.  That would be all the comments I

have at this time. 
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MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Wefald?

MR. WEFALD:  With respect to the last point about the 3D I have put in my brief and response

the adverse inference rule, whereas if a party has information in its control that it doesn't produce

it's to the court or the hearing board is authorized to take an adverse interest, adverse inference

against that party that did not produce data that was in its control.  Conoco comes in here like an

800 pound gorilla, they are the biggest ones, got the most of the control and basically runs around

saying well we're here, this thing has to be done and it really isn't, their maps are not a result of

compromise, their maps are not a result of agreement, they just said take it or leave it, this is the

way we are going to do it.  Now, I suppose the sixty-four dollar question is what happens when the

Commission does what Placid and the Trust want, which is to reject this unit.  I guess, I don't

know, they produce as much as they can when the thing produces, what it can, then shut down and

the 2 point something in barrels oil is not produced, I would believe that Conoco's best interest

would be served by getting that oil produced because they are going to get about 70, 75% of it. 

And I believe it is in their best interest to work with working interest owners that have a

substantial interest in this to see to it that something comes out that's fair and equitable.  The

notion that they don't use seismic for this kind of thing, well, they may not, but there's been

testimony by others that seismic is commonly used in the industry.  And that 3D seismic has been

used to accurately help define the boundaries and we have put ourselves in the position where we

said show us the 3D, have some third party put a map together on it and I guess we're going to

have to live with it.  I just don't think all the evidence is in.  It's in the possession of Conoco and I

believe ___ map the way they've drawn it for their own selfish interest they've taken and put the

eastern boundary right next to a dry hole when they've got another dry hole, the Walton 84, they
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could move it away from this.  I know they've got their reasons for doing that, but in fact, I think

our witnesses, that is Placid and the Trust have used more data than they have, that, by definition

because we are using more data, more information, our maps have higher probability of being

accurate.  And I believe Mr. Preston testified correctly when he said that all of these maps are

inaccurate.  There's no way we can stand up here on the surface and go 10,000 feet down and

figure out what's going on.  We can probably, hardly figure out what's going on in the surface. 

We'd ask that the matter be, the unit be rejected or in the alternative that it be continued contingent

upon Conoco producing the 3D data or producing it into the hands of an agreeable third party who

will map it.

MR. CARVELL:  With regard to this 3D, I'm curious why the Trust and why Placid did not file a

motion prior to the hearing requesting that the Commission order that the seismic information be

produced.  Why didn't the Trust do that?  And after you've answered then I'll ask why Placid didn't

do that.

MR. WEFALD:  I, I believe it was strictly a matter of time.  The exhibits were filed in the last

couple weeks, I believe, see what was there.  We have been making our analysis of it, they've had

that information within their control, we believe that we have a right, short of compelling them, to

expect them to produce evidence that they have.

MR. CARVELL:  Mr. Morrison?

MR. MORRISON:  Our position is that the obligation to support Conoco's depiction lies on
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Conoco.  Conoco has the burden of proof and Conoco has evidence that has not been submitted

and that they haven't supported the burden of proof and so the problem and how to deal with the

problem really is Conoco's.  What we tried to do is offer some solutions for the Commission that

will enable you, some resolution ________ in short term, but nevertheless the burden of proof lies

on Conoco.  There is admittedly 3D seismic out there that's being reviewed by another geologist

within Conoco that's had involvement with this unit and neither we nor the Commission knows

what it is.  They simply haven't met the burden of proof. 

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  Any rebuttal?

MR. BENDER:  I have nothing further.

MR. CARVELL:  Okay, well that will conclude the hearing in Cases 5933 and 5935.  We do have

one other case on the docket. 

MR. NORTON:  I was going to ask Bob, before we do close.

MR. WEFALD:  Yes?

MR. NORTON:  Let's just say the Commission ordered a third party interpret, put a unit plan

together and the 800 pound gorilla doesn't agree with the interpretation?  What happens then?

MR. WEFALD:  I guess the Commission has the ultimate authority to reject the unit in total or I
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would suspect that, I know the Commission wouldn't want to get involved with it, but I would

suspect that the law requires the Commission to come up with a fair, equitable and reasonable

distribution that you could in fact take the data and come up with a _____________ based on

what's fair, equitable and reasonable. 

MR. CARVELL:  Okay.  Okay, that will conclude the hearing on these two cases. 



STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA )
)

COUNTY OF BURLEIGH )

I CERTIFY that the record of this hearing was made under my direction, and that the
foregoing is a true and correct transcript of the original tape recording of said hearing; that no
alterations or additions have been made to the record; and that this transcript thereof is true and
correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

DONE at Bismarck, North Dakota, this 17th day of August, 1994.

/s/  Karlene Fine
Karlene Fine
Secretary to the North Dakota
Industrial Commission

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA )
)

COUNTY OF BURLEIGH )

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of the original tape
recording of said hearing; and a full and complete statement of the testimony and other
proceedings which it purports to contain. 

DONE at Bismarck, North Dakota, this 17th day of August, 1994.

/s/  Tracy Heilman
Tracy Heilman




























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































